

In vitro plantlet regeneration from mature zygotic embryos of *Pinus pinea* L.: overcoming the rooting problems

Carla Aparecida Ragonezi Gomes Lopes

Thesis presented to obtain the PhD degree in Biology by the University of Évora

> Supervisors: Prof. Dr. Maria Amely Zavattieri Prof. Dr. Maria do Rosário Martins Prof. Dr. Ana Teresa Caldeira

> > ÉVORA, MAY 2013



INSTITUTO DE INVESTIGAÇÃO E FORMAÇÃO AVANÇADA



Contactos: Universidade de Évora Instituto de Investigação e Formação Avançada - IIFA Palácio do Vimioso | Largo Marquês de Marialva, Apart. 94 7002-554 Évora | Portugal Tel: (+351) 266 706 581 Fax: (+351) 266 744 677 email: iifa@uevora.pt

Ragonezi, C. (2012): *In vitro* plantlet regeneration from mature zygotic embryos of *Pinus pinea* L.: overcoming the rooting problems. Doctoral Dissertation presented at University of Évora, Portugal.

Keywords: Adventitious rooting, biotization, ectomycorrhiza, *in vitro* mycorrhization, micropropagation, *Pinus pinea* L.

This thesis was financed by the Portuguese Foundation for Science and Technology (FCT) SFRH / BD / 44119 / 2008



I hear and I forget I see and I remember I do and I understand

Confucius (551 A.D. - 479 A.D.)

Agradecimentos

Como nenhuma grande realização da nossa vida é alcançada sozinha, esta parte da minha tese destina-se àquelas pessoas que fizeram com que este sonho longínquo e aparentemente intangível fosse certeza. Foram muitos anos, muito trabalho, muitas pessoas, distintos laboratórios, inúmeros equipamentos, muitas conversas, telefonemas e favores, por isso espero que aqueles que são citados tenham paciência de ler, e peço desculpas adiantadas para aqueles que me esqueci (não foi por mal, mas estava na fase crítica da entrega da tese).

Primeiro, gostaria de agradecer às instituições que forneceram apoio financeiro, instalações e equipamentos, permitindo que este trabalho fosse possível. Pelo apoio financeiro através da bolsa de doutoramento agradeço à Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia (FCT). Este estudo foi realizado na Universidade de Évora, principalmente no Laboratório de Melhoramento e Biotecnologia Vegetal do ICAAM - Instituto de Ciências Agrárias e Ambientais Mediterrânicas (instituição de acolhimento), no Laboratório de Biotecnologia do Departamento de Química e no Laboratório HERCULES, nos quais eu gostaria de agradecer por fornecerem as condições necessárias de trabalho.

Nada seria possível sem o apoio incondicional da minha querida orientadora e amiga (creio que posso utilizar este termo) Prof. Dr. Amely Zavattieri. Esta tese foi construída com uma receita equilibrada entre orientação, autonomia e muito trabalho. Obrigada pelos grandes momentos vividos e por todo o apoio (dentro e fora do Lab.).

Nada mais importante para cooperar com a orientadora do que uma co-orientadora. No meu caso tive sorte pois consegui duas. Prof. Dr. Maria do Rosário Martins e Prof. Dr. Ana Teresa Caldeira, agradeço imenso por todo o auxílio, todas as horas despendidas no laboratório e todos os conselhos que foram oferecidos. Com vocês as componentes moleculares e bioquímicas ficaram mais divertidas.

Dedico um parágrafo à parte para a conselheira científica do nosso grupo Dr. Krystyna Klimaszewska. Obrigada por ser uma excelente pessoa e investigadora, sempre muito dedicada e disponível para colaborar com conselhos extremamente importantes.

Para complementar todo o trabalho despendido na tese, agradeço a toda equipe de profissionais que trabalhei na Universidade de Évora, que foram cruciais para a conclusão deste trabalho. Principalmente Prof. Dr. Dora Teixeira, Prof. Dr. Luís Dias,

Prof. Dr. Augusto Vieira Peixe, Prof. Dr. Celeste Santos-Silva, Prof. Dr. Paulo Oliveira, Msc. Mário Castro e Lic. Cátia Salvador.

Às técnicas de laboratório que comemoraram comigo nos dias felizes, me ajudaram nos momentos de desespero (como quando o meio de cultura não solidificava, ou quando eu não tinha como repicar meus fungos) e me consolaram nos dias chuvosos, tristes e que tinha saudades do Brasil. Sem vocês nenhuma tese de doutoramento é realizada e agradeço imenso toda a assistência. Aqui cito principalmente as técnicas Virgínia Sobral, Elsa Ganhão, Otília Miralto e as técnicas do Departamento de Química

Á minha família em geral (que estão aqui e os que já não estão), principalmente aos meus pais e minha irmã. Minha mãe e meu pai que recebem comigo os frutos deste árduo trabalho, uma vez que sempre investiram em mim apostando na minha formação académica e como pessoa. Obrigada por não me tirarem da "Cultura Inglesa" ©. Uma gratidão especial vai para a Luana, pois sem ela, não estaria em Portugal finalizando esta etapa tão importante da minha vida. Ao Samuel, meu marido de fé, companheiro incansável que me deu todas as forças para continuar quando a energia já estava acabando (e às vezes a paciência).

A todos os meus amigos e colegas (deste lado do Atlântico e do lado de lá) que me apoiaram, que aguentaram as reclamações e que ouviram com uma tolerância incrível a todos os meus problemas. Obrigada ainda pelos momentos felizes, pelas risadas exageradas e pelos ótimos momentos que tive nestes últimos anos.

Por último, mas não menos importante agradeço a todas as pessoas que de uma forma ou outra, direta ou indiretamente fizeram parte desta fase da minha vida e que contribuíram para a conclusão de um trabalho tão gratificante.

Obrigada a todos!

Acknowledgments

No great accomplishments are made in life without the help of others, and I would like to thank those who have helped bring this seemingly impossible task to fruition. Many years of hard work have gone into this project, involving many people. I apologize in advance to anyone I may have forgotten.

First of all, I would like to thank the institutions that have provided financial support, facilities and equipment, making this work possible. For Ph.D. scholarship funding I thank the Foundation for Science and Technology (FCT). This study was conducted at the University of Évora, mainly at the Laboratory of Breeding and Plant Biotechnology of the ICAAM - Institute for Mediterranean Agricultural and Environmental Sciences (host institution), the Laboratory of Biotechnology at the Chemistry Department and the HERCULES Laboratory, which I would like to thank for providing support for my work.

Nothing would have been possible without the unconditional support of my dear friend (I think I can call her that) and supervisor Prof. Dr. Amely Zavattieri. This thesis was written thanks to a combination of guidance, autonomy and hard work: many thanks for the great moments and for all the support you gave (both inside and outside the lab).

Nothing is more important than cooperating with the supervisor than collaborating with a co-supervisor. In my case I got lucky because I managed to get both: to Prof. Dr. Maria do Rosario Martins and Prof. Dr. Ana Teresa Caldeira, thank you very much for all the help you gave, all the hours spent in the laboratory and all the advice that you provided. You made the molecular and biochemical components more fun.

To the group scientific advisor, Dr. Krystyna Klimaszewska, thanks for being a great person and researcher, extremely dedicated and always willing to help and provide great advice.

In order to complement all the work spent on the thesis, I thank the entire team of researchers who I worked with at the University of Évora, who were crucial to the successful completion of this work, especially Prof. Dr. Dora Teixeira, Prof. Dr. Luís Dias, Prof. Dr. Augusto Vieira Peixe, Prof. Dr. Celeste Santos-Silva, Prof. Dr. Paulo Oliveira, Mário Castro, M.Sc. and Cátia Salvador, B.Sc..

Laboratory technicians that cheered with me the good days, helped me in times of despair (as when the medium is not solidified, or when I had to cultivate my fungi) and comforted me on rainy and sad days that I missed Brazil. Without you no doctoral thesis

is held and I thank all the assistance. Here I quote primarily the techniques Virgínia Sobral, Elsa Ganhão, Otília Miralto and the technicians of the Chemistry Department.

To my family (those who are with us and those who are no longer with us), especially my parents and my sister. My mother and father share with me the fruits of all the hard work I have done, since they have always supported me in my academic training and personal development. Thank you for sending me to the "Cultura Inglesa". My special thanks go to Luana, because without her, I wouldn't now be in Portugal in the last stage of a process which is so important in my life. To Samuel, my husband, a tireless companion who has given me the strength to continue when I was lacking in energy (and sometimes patience), thank you.

To all my friends and colleagues (on both sides of the Atlantic) who have supported me, endured my complaints and listened with incredible tolerance to all my problems. Thank you also for the happy moments, the great laughs and the great moments we've shared throughout all these years.

Last but not least, I would like to thank all those who in one way or another directly or indirectly figures in this stage of my life and who contributed to the completion of such a rewarding piece of work.

Thank you all!

Resumo

Regeneração *in vitro* de plântulas de embriões zigóticos maduros de *Pinus pinea* L.: superando os problemas de enraizamento

Na natureza, as plantas e os microrganismos estabelecem associações de várias ordens. Nas culturas *in vitro* de plantas, mesmo as associações favoráveis com microrganismos foram, durante muitos anos, consideradas como contaminantes. Só mais tarde, as vantagens da inoculação *in vitro* (co-cultura) foram demonstradas e as técnicas de biotização (bacterização ou micorrização) usadas com o objetivo de melhorar as condições de crescimento *in vitro*.

As dificuldades do enraizamento *in vitro* de uma das espécies mais importantes da floresta mediterrânica portuguesa, *Pinus pinea* L., conduziu à escolha deste sistema biológico, como matéria de estudo para a tese. Neste estudo, foram utilizados fungos ectomicorrízicos para otimizar a fase de enraizamento de plantas de *Pinus pinea* L. micropropagadas via organogénese. A introdução de ectomicorrízas no processo de micropropagação reativou o crescimento das raízes e induziu a melhoria dos vários parâmetros do sistema radicular adventício conduzindo a uma menor perda de plantas durante a aclimatização. Com efeito, a micorrização melhorou a funcionalidade das raízes, facilitando a absorção de nutrientes e de água.

Neste trabalho, efetuou-se também uma extensiva caracterização morfológica e molecular das ectomicorrízas associadas a *P. pinea*. Das várias co-culturas testadas, selecionou-se a interação *Pisolithus arhizus/P. pinea* para estudar os sinais bioquímicos pré-simbióticos estabelecidos durante as etapas iniciais da co-cultura *in vitro*. Para possibilitar este estudo foi desenvolvido um novo sistema de co-cultura, o qual já está patenteado. Os resultados indicam que a presença de compostos fenólicos, nomeadamente o ácido *o*-coumarico, poderão ser importantes mediadores na interação fungo/planta.

Abstract

In nature, plants and microorganisms establish symbiotic associations of various orders. However, for many years such associations were deemed unnecessary in *in vitro* cultures because the culture medium provides ample amounts of nutrients and plant growth regulators to a growing plant. Only recently, the benefits of biotization (bacterization or mycorrhization) of plants regenerated *in vitro* were demonstrated by improvements in their growth and vigor.

Pinus pinea L., which is of one of the most important species of Portuguese Mediterranean forests, can be regenerated *in vitro* from embryo cotyledons but the growth of adventitious roots induced in shoots ceases shortly after their formation. Overcoming this particular biological impediment was the study subject of the thesis. In this study, ectomycorrhizal fungi were used to improve adventitious rooting of *Pinus pinea* L. plants micropropagated through organogenesis. The introduction of ectomycorrhizae during the micropropagation process reactivated the root growth and improved several root characteristics leading to a reduced loss of plants during acclimatization. In fact, the mycorrhization enhanced root functionality facilitating the absorption of nutrients and water.

In this work, an extensive characterization of morphological and molecular ectomycorrhizae associated with *P. pinea* was also undertaken. Of the several fungus species tested, the interaction of *Pisolithus arhizus/P. pinea* was selected for studying the pre-symbiotic biochemical signals established during the initial stages of co-culture *in vitro*. To facilitate this study, a novel co-culture system was developed which has been patented. The results indicate that the phenolic compounds, in particular the *o*-coumaric acid ester might be important mediators in the interaction between the fungus and stone pine.

Abbreviations

- AC activated charcoal
- AM arbuscular mycorrhizal
- ARF adventitious root formation
- BAF biotin-aneurin-folic acid agar
- BAP benzylamino purine
- CW cool white light
- DCR medium Gupta and Durzan (1985)
- DM direct measurement;
- DNA deoxyribonucleic acid
- ECM ectomycorrhiza
- GD medium Gresshoff and Doy (1972)
- GL gro-lux
- HEPES buffer N-2 Hydroxyenthyl piperazine-N´-2-ethane sulfonic acid
- HPLC-UV high-performance liquid chromatography
- IAA indole-3-acetic acid
- IM indirect measurement
- ITS internal transcribed spacer
- LC-DAD-MS Liquid chromatography Diode array detector Mass spectrometry
- LP medium Quorin and Lepoivre (1977)
- LSU large subunit
- MMN modified Melin-Norkrans medium (Marx 1969)
- MS medium Murashige and Skoog (1962)
- NAA naphthalene acetic acid
- NCBI National Center for Biotechnology Information
- PBS phosphate buffer saline
- PCR polymerase chain reaction
- PGRs plant growth regulators
- PPF photosynthetic photon flux
- rDNA ribosomal genes
- rRNA ribosomal RNA
- RT- retention time
- RTD root tissue density
- SH medium Schenk and Hildebrandt (1972)
- SRA specific root area
- SRL specific root length

- SS standard solutions
- SSU small subunit
- UC unknown compounds
- UPGMA unweighted pair group method with arithmetic average
- WS work solutions
- WPM woody plant medium Lloyd and McCown (1981)
- WPMRI woody plant medium root induction
- WPMRE woody plant medium root expression
- WPMS woody plant medium solid phase
- WPML woody plant medium liquid phase

List of Figures

Chapter 1 - General introduction

Fig. 1 - A schematic representation of the Pinophyta phylogeny (from Quinn and Price 2003).

Fig. 2 - Taxonomic hierarchy of *Pinus pinea* L. (from Integrated Taxonomic 3 Information System (ITIS), 2012).

Fig. 3 - The distribution map of *Pinus pinea* L. along the Mediterranean Basin 3 and adjacent zones (from Euforgen.org).

Fig. 4 - *Pinus pinea* L. trees in a typical pine stand in Alcácer do Sal district, 4 Portugal.

Fig. 5 - Mature cone of a *P. pinea* tree (a) and seed without the seed-coat (b). 5

Fig. 6 - Morphological changes in roots as they become mycorrhizal and the effects of those changes on the development of a mycorrhizosphere. A - Generalized non-mycorrhizal root with root hairs and indicated sources of organic materials available as substrates for rhizosphere microorganisms. B - Endomycorrhiza with indicated morphological changes such as reduced tissue sloughing, lack of root hairs, presence of external hyphae, thick-walled spores, and associated soil aggregates; no obvious change in surface area. C - Ectomycorrhiza indicating dramatic morphological changes such as development of a fungal mantle plus extensive external hyphae and rhizomorphs and associated soil aggregates, loss of root hairs, and greatly increased branching and surface area (from Linderman 1988).

Fig. 7 - Schematic representation of ectomycorrhizal development. Morphological 14 events taking place during early (left) and late (right) stages of ectomycorrhizal formation are indicated (from Baker et al. 1998).

Fig. 8 - Commonly used primers for amplifying parts or the entirety of the ITS region. a) Relative position of the primers, design of the subsets and number of sequences in each subset. b) Primer sequences, references and position of the primer sequence according to a reference sequence of *Serpula himantioides* (AM946630) stretching the entire nrDNA repeat (from Bellemain 2010).

Fig. 9 - Chemical structures of signalling compounds secreted into the 20 rhizosphere by the plant host. A: Indole-3-acetic acid, B: 6-Benzylaminopurine, C: Coumaric acid and D: Naringenin.

Fig. 10 - The molecular cross-talk taking place in the rhizosphere of *Eucalyptus* 21 globulus colonized by *Pisolithus*. Root exudates alter the morphology of the mycelium of *Pisolithus*. These morphological changes are induced by the flavonol rutin, which stimulates fungal growth, expressed as colony diameter (a). Low concentrations of zeatin modify the hyphae branching angle (b) and the accumulation of the tryptophan betaine, hypaphorine (c). On the other hand,

Pisolithus-secreted hypaphorine and indole-3-acetic (IAA) trigger morphological changes (i.e. arrest of root hair elongation and stimulation of short root formation) in the root system (d). (Béguiristain and Lapeyrie 1997) (from Martin et al. 2001).

Chapter 3 - Influence of light quality and intensity on adventitious root formation in microshoots of *Pinus pinea* L.

Fig. 1 - Spectra of Sylvania Gro-lux lamps (white) and Philips Cool-white lamps (black).

Fig. 2 - Rooting of *P. pinea* microshoots under different light quality and intensity. 67 See significance in the Duncan Range test above.

Fig. 3 - Number of roots produced per week considering all microshoots for each light treatment under Cool-white and Gro-lux lamps at 60 µmol ^{m-2 s-1}.

Chapter 4 - Mycorrhiza-like structures in rooted microshoots of *Pinus pinea* L.

Fig. 1 - (a) After more than one month without transferring to new medium, some 73 genotypes developed coralloid mycorrhizal-like structures. (b) Coralloid structures also appeared as a consequence of NAA in the rooting induction medium. The arrow indicates a normal root type induced by auxin treatment.

Fig. 2 - (a) Differential responses in the *in vitro* adventitious root formation in coculture system. Root with dichotomous branching. (b) Normal *in vitro* growth of the root system. Mycelium could be seen growing on the surface of the culture medium in both culture vessels.

Fig. 3 - Left: Rooted plants in the acclimation phase. Plants after 4 months in the acclimation phase. (a) Inoculated pine plant, identified as DD03, shows a good development of the aerial part and (b) also compact and dichotomous branched root system. (c) Control plant, not inoculated with less aerial part development and a linear root system 23 cm long.

Fig. 4 - (a) Different anatomical structures of the roots in plants derived from coculture after 4 month in the acclimation phase (pine clones/different fungi isolates). Extensively dichotomous branching without hairs, (b) dichotomous short root with hairs and (c) ectomycorrhizal-like structure.

Fig. 5 - (a) Short root covered with mycelia. (b) Longitudinal section shows the 74 intracellular hyphae.

Fig. 6 - Dichotomous branching observed in the liquid axenic root cultures after 75 one month of growth.

Chapter 5 - Molecular approach to characterize ectomycorrhizae fungi from Mediterranean pine stands in Portugal

Fig. 1 - *Pisolithus arhizus* sporocarp collected in a stone pine stand selected for *Pinus pinea*-ECM associations study (a). The mycelia cultured in Hagen medium (b). Secondary mycelia. Each interval 2.5 μm (c).

Fig. 2 - *Lactarius deliciosus* sporocarps collected in a pine stand selected for *Pinus pinea*-ECM associations study (a). The mycelia cultured in Hagen medium (b). Secondary mycelia. Each interval 2.5 µm (c).

Fig. 3 - In vitro co-culture of Pinus pinea and P. arhizus mycelia (arrows). 83

Fig. 4 - Cryostat transversal root section colonized by *P. arhizus* pine root showing the mantle hyphae (M) (100x); Scale bar 20 μ m (a). Details of the transversal section showing well-differentiated Hartig-net (HN) in cortical cells (1250x); Scale bar 7.5 μ m (b).

Fig. 5 - Phylogeny tree based on the ITS sequence.

84

Fig. 6 - Fingerprinting patterns obtained by amplification of genomic DNA. Lanes: 1 and 11 DNA molecular ladder 100 bp plus (Fermentas[®]), 2: *Pisolithus arhizus* culture, 3: *Pisolithus arhizus* sporocarps, 4: *Lactarius deliciosus* sporocarps, 5: *Rhizopogon roseolus* sporocarps, 6: *Penicillium brevicompactum* sporocarps, 7: *Aspergillus niger* sporocarps 8: *Cladosporium* sp., 9: *Fusarium oxysporum* sporocarps, 10: Control.

Fig. 7 - Phylogenetic tree analysis based on the PCR fingerprinting patterns for different species of Basidiomycetes and Ascomycetes. To evaluate the reproducibility of the assay, each sample has been analyzed in at least three independent PCR reactions. The distance values between branches are reported as percentage of similarity (0-100%).

Chapter 6 - *Pisolithus arhizus* (Scop.) Rauschert improves growth of adventitious roots and acclimatization on *in vitro* regenerated plantlets of *Pinus pinea* L.

Fig.1 - *In vitro* co-culture of *Pinus pinea* and the mycelium of *Pisolithus arhizus*. A) 96 in a double layer WPM medium. Arrow indicates place of inoculation with the mycelium, B) Bottom of a culture vessel showing colour mark (arrow) made to measure the weekly root growth with a ruler, C) Details of a dichotomous ectomycorrhizal structure covered with yellowish-brown mycelium collected from a plant 30 days after inoculation, D and E) Cryostat transversal root section colonized by *P. arhizus* showing the mantle (M) developed at the root apex of a short root and internal Hartig-net hyphae (HN) (200 x) (Scale bar 20 μ m), D). Details of the transversal section showing well-differentiated Hartig-net (HN) in cortical cells (2000 x) (Scale bar 7.5 μ m) (E).

Chapter 7 - O-coumaric acid ester, a potential signaling molecule detected during early *in vitro* co-culture between *Pinus pinea* L. plantlets and the ectomycorrhizal fungus *Pisolithus arhizus* (Scop.) Rauschert

Fig. 1 - Illustration of double-phase medium preparation and plant culture; a, 1 - 107 cover; 2 – flask; 3 and 4 - WPMS medium with perlite at the top. b and c, 3 and 4 – WPMS medium with perlite facing down, 5 - WPML, 6 - plantlet; 7 – root (Patent approved by INPI N° 105239).

Fig. 2 - Negative controls: pine plantlet without fungus (a) and fungal mycelium 107 without pine plantlet (b). *In vitro* co-culture of *Pinus pinea* and *Pisolithus arhizus* mycelia in double-phase medium (c).

Fig. 3 - HPLC-UV chromatograms of the medium sample collected from coculture of *P. pinea* plantlet and *P. arhizus* on the 2^{nd} day (a) and *P. pinea* microshoot without fungal inoculation collected on the 2^{nd} day (b). Peak at RT 11.50 min corresponds to the unknown compound (UC).

Fig. 4 - HPLC-UV chromatograms of samples from the co-culture of *P. pinea* 110 plantlet and *P. arhizus* collected on the 2nd day and doped with IAA (a), Rutin (b) and IBA (c). Peaks at RT 11.84, 11.44 and 11.58 min correspond to the unknown compound (UC).

Fig. 5 - DAD total scan (a, c, e, g, i) and total ion current (b, d, f, h, j) 111 chromatograms of the *P. pinea/P. arhizus* co-culture medium samples collected at different time intervals. Letters a and b correspond to the 1^{st} day, c and d to the 2^{nd} day, e and f to the 3^{rd} day, g and h to the 5^{th} day, and I and j to the 10^{th} day.

Fig. 6 - UV (a) and mass spectra (b) of the unknown compound (UC) in the *P*. $_{113}$ *pinea/P. arhizus* co-culture sample collected on the 2nd day.

Fig. 7 - Chemical structure of *o*-coumaric acid.

113

Fig. 8 - DAD total scan (a, c) and total ion current (b, d) chromatograms of liquid 113 medium phase samples of the two negative controls. Letters a and b corresponds to the culture of *P. arhizus* mycelia, c and d to the culture of *P. pinea* plantlets.

Chapter 8 - Patent - System and method for *in vitro* culture of plants for analysis of metabolites released by the root system

Fig. 1 - A - Illustrative scheme of the final appearance of the solid phase system preparation in a culture flask of *in vitro* plants. B: Schematic illustration of the final aspect of the method with inclusion of rooted plants. Figures numbers legend: 1 - cover; 2 - flask; 3 - solid phase; 4 - floating substrate; 5 - gelled culture medium; 6 - liquid phase; 7 - shoot; 8 - stem; 9 – roots.

List of Tables

Chapter 2 - Adventitious rooting of conifers: influence of physical and chemical factors

Table 1 - Treatments and growth conditions applied in two phases of rooting of47conifer cuttings.

Table 2 - Treatments and growth conditions applied in two phases of rooting of51conifer microshoots *in vitro*.

Chapter 3 - Influence of light quality and intensity on adventitious root formation in microshoots of *Pinus pinea* L.

Table 1 - Duncan test for variable rooting percentage.

66

Chapter 5 - Molecular approach to characterize ectomycorrhizae fungi from Mediterranean pine stands in Portugal

Table 1 - ITS rDNA homology from fungal strains used in the phylogenetic tree84construction. The nucleotide sequences of the ITS region were aligned with those6of related fungal species retrieved from the NCBI databases84(www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov).84

Chapter 6 - *Pisolithus arhizus* (Scop.) Rauschert improves growth of adventitious roots and acclimatization on *in vitro* regenerated plantlets of *Pinus pinea* L.

Table 1 - Means ± standard errors of variables in plants assigned to control and98to inoculation at the onset of the experiment.

Table 2 - Means ± standard errors of variables with significant differences98between control and inoculated plants.98

Thesis Publications

<u>Ragonezi</u> C, Klimaszewska K, Castro MR, Lima M, Oliveira P, Zavattieri A (2010) Adventitious rooting of conifers: Influence of physical and chemical factors. Trees -Structure and Function 24(6):975-992 doi:10.1007/s00468-010-0488-8.

<u>Ragonezi</u> C, Castro MR, Klimaszewska K, Lima M, Zavattieri A (2010) Influence of light quality and intensity on adventitious root formation in microshoots of *Pinus pinea* L. Acta Hort. (ISHS) 865:287-291 http://www.actahort.org/books/865/865_38.htm.

Castro MR, <u>Ragonezi</u> C, Klimaszewska K, Lima M, Oliveira P, Zavattieri A (2010) Mycorrhiza-like structures in rooted microshoots of *Pinus pinea* L. Acta Hort. (ISHS) 865:179-185 http://www.actahort.org/books/865/865_22.htm.

<u>Ragonezi</u> C, Caldeira AT, Martins MR, Salvador C, Santos-Silva C, Ganhão E, Klimaszewska K, Zavattieri A (2012) Molecular approach to characterize ectomycorrhizae fungi from Mediterranean pine stands in Portugal. Manuscript accepted for publication at the Brazilian Journal of Microbiology. ISSN 1517-8382.

<u>Ragonezi</u> C, Caldeira AT, Martins MR, Dias LS, Santos-Silva C, Ganhão E, Miralto O, Pereira I, Louro R, Klimaszewska K, Zavattieri A (2012) *Pisolithus arhizus* (Scop.) Rauschert improves growth of adventitious roots and acclimatization on *in vitro* regenerated plantlets of *Pinus pinea* L. Propagation of Ornamental Plants 12:139-147.

<u>Ragonezi</u> C, Teixeira D, Caldeira AT, Martins MR, Santos-Silva C, Ganhão E, Klimaszewska K, Zavattieri A (2012) *O*-coumaric acid ester, a potential signaling molecule detected during early *in vitro* co-culture between *Pinus pinea* L. plantlets and the ectomycorrhizal fungus *Pisolithus arhizus* (Scop.) Rauschert. Manuscript submitted.

Patent

Castro MR, <u>Ragonezi</u> C, Oliveira P, Zavattieri A (2010) Patent - System and method for *in vitro* culture of plants for analysis of metabolites released by the root system N^o 105239. Patent approved by the National Institute of Industrial Property (INPI).

Other publications related with the thesis are in the annexes.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| AGRADECIMENTOS | VI |
|---|-------|
| ACKNOWLEDGMENTS | VIII |
| RESUMO | Х |
| ABSTRACT | XI |
| ABBREVIATIONS | XII |
| LIST OF FIGURES | XIV |
| LIST OF TABLES | XVIII |
| THESIS PUBLICATIONS | XIX |
| Chapter 1 - General introduction | 1 |
| 1. Plant material (<i>Pinus pinea</i> L.) | 2 |
| 2. In vitro propagation | 7 |
| 3. In vitro propagation in conifers | 8 |
| 4. In vitro rooting | 9 |
| 5. Adventitious root formation | 9 |
| 6. Mycorrhizae | 11 |
| 6.1 Ectomycorrhizae | 12 |
| 6.2 Ectomycorrhiza like-structures | 13 |
| 6.3 Molecular characterization of mycorrhizal fungi | 15 |
| 7. Biotization | 17 |
| 8. Signaling | 19 |
| 9. Background of the Doctoral Dissertation and Aims | 23 |
| 10. Outline of the Doctoral Dissertation | 27 |
| 11. References | 28 |
| | |

Chapter 2 - Adventitious rooting of conifers: influence of physical and chemical factors 44

| Abstract | 44 |
|-----------------------------|----|
| Introduction | 45 |
| Rooting of conifer cuttings | 46 |
| Plant growth regulators | 46 |
| Auxins | 46 |
| Polyamines | 46 |
| Ethylene | 49 |
| Ethylene inhibitors | 49 |
| Plant growth retardants | 49 |

| Carbohydrates | 50 |
|---|----|
| Light | 50 |
| Temperature | 50 |
| Substrates for rooting | 50 |
| In vitro rooting of conifer microshoots | 55 |
| Rooting medium | 55 |
| Plant growth regulators | 55 |
| Carbohydrates | 55 |
| Light | 56 |
| Photoperiod | 56 |
| Temperature | 56 |
| Conclusions | 57 |
| References | 57 |

Chapter 3 - Influence of light quality and intensity on adventitious root formation in microshoots of *Pinus pinea* L. 63

| Abstract | 63 |
|---|----|
| Introduction | 63 |
| Material and Methods | 63 |
| Plant Material | 63 |
| Microshoot Induction from Embryo Cotyledons | 64 |
| Rooting of Microshoots | 64 |
| Light Sources Spectra | 64 |
| Evaluated Parameters and Statistical Analyses | 64 |
| Results | 64 |
| Discussion | 65 |
| Literature Cited | 65 |
| | |

Chapter 4 - Mycorrhiza-like structures in rooted microshoots of Pinus pinea L. 69

| Abstract | 69 |
|-----------------------|----|
| Introduction | 69 |
| Materials and Methods | 70 |
| Plant Material | 70 |
| Shoot Organogenesis | 70 |
| Root Organogenesis | 70 |
| Fungi | 70 |
| In vitro Co-Culture | 70 |

| Acclimation | 70 |
|------------------------|----|
| Rhizotron | 70 |
| Axenic Root Cultures | 70 |
| Root Microscopy | 71 |
| Results and Discussion | 71 |
| Conclusions | 72 |
| Literature Cited | 72 |

| Chapter | 5 - | Molecular | approach | to | characterize | ectomycorrhizae | fungi | from |
|-----------|------|-------------|-------------|-----|--------------|-----------------|-------|------|
| Mediterra | anea | n pine stan | ds in Portu | gal | | | | 77 |

| Abstract | 77 |
|--|----|
| Introduction | 78 |
| Material and methods | 80 |
| Collection of mushrooms from stone pine (Pinus pinea L.) stand | 80 |
| Mycelia isolation and fungal cultures | 80 |
| DNA extraction | 80 |
| ITS region amplification and sequencing | 81 |
| M13-PCR amplification | 81 |
| Data analysis | 81 |
| Results and discussion | 82 |
| Collection of fruiting bodies from stone pine stand | 82 |
| Species identification of <i>P. arhizus</i> and <i>L. deliciosus</i> . | 83 |
| Intraspecies identification by M13-PCR | 85 |
| Conclusions | 87 |
| References | 87 |

Chapter 6 - *Pisolithus arhizus* (Scop.) Rauschert improves growth of adventitious roots and acclimatization on *in vitro* regenerated plantlets of *Pinus pinea* L. 93

| Abstract | 93 |
|--|----|
| Introduction | 93 |
| Materials and methods | 94 |
| Collection of <i>P. arhizus</i> fruiting bodies from a <i>P. pinea</i> stand | 94 |
| Mycelia isolation and fungal cultures | 94 |
| Identification of the fungal isolates | 94 |
| Plant material | 95 |
| Microshoot induction from embryo cotyledons | 95 |
| | |

| Rooting of microshoots | 95 |
|--|----|
| Co-culture in vitro | 95 |
| The verification of the accuracy of root measurements in vitro | 95 |
| Acclimatization | 95 |
| Vermiculite | 96 |
| Mixed substrate | 96 |
| Anatomical and histological studies | 96 |
| Statistical analyses | 97 |
| Results and discussion | 97 |
| Pisolithus arhizus | 97 |
| Root growth in vitro | 97 |
| Root growth in vermiculite | 98 |
| Root growth in mixed substrate | 99 |
| Mycorrhiza anatomical and histological studies | 99 |
| References | 99 |
| | |

Chapter 7 - *O*-coumaric acid ester, a potential signaling molecule detected during early *in vitro* co-culture between *Pinus pinea* L. plantlets and the ectomycorrhizal fungus *Pisolithus arhizus* (Scop.) Rauschert 103

| Abstract | 103 |
|--|-----|
| Introduction | 104 |
| Material and methods | 105 |
| Reagents | 105 |
| Plant material and micropropagation of <i>P. pinea</i> | 106 |
| Fungi purification and identification | 106 |
| Co-Culture Technique | 106 |
| Preparation of the Double-phase Medium | 106 |
| Co-culture of P. pinea plants with P. arhizus mycelia | 107 |
| Negative controls | 108 |
| Biochemical analysis | 108 |
| Collection of liquid medium samples | 108 |
| Preparation of samples | 108 |
| Analysis of samples by HPLC-UV | 108 |
| Analysis of samples by LC-DAD-MS | 109 |
| Results | 109 |
| HPLC-UV analysis | 109 |
| LC-DAD-MS analysis | 111 |

| Discussion | 114 |
|--|-----------|
| References | 116 |
| Chapter 8 - Patent - System and method for in vitro culture of plants for an | alysis of |
| metabolites released by the root system | 121 |
| Abstract | 122 |
| Claims | 123 |
| Chapter 9 – Final considerations and Future perspectives | 124 |
| Future perspectives | 128 |
| Annexes | 129 |

Chapter 1 General Introduction

The general introduction describes the taxonomy and biology of pines in order to provide the context for stone pine (*Pinus pinea* L.) as the subject of this research project. This is followed by a description of the problems related to *in vitro* adventitious rooting of conifers, as well as stone pine, and the original technique of *in vitro* biotization with ectomycorrhizal fungi. In addition, analysis of molecular and biochemical methods used to characterize the fungal species and to better understand the role of the signaling factors that are involved in the interaction are presented.

1. Plant material (Pinus pinea L.)

Conifers are the largest and most economically important group of Gymnosperms (Whetten 2001). This group is present in all continents (exceptions are the Arctic zone and the Antarctic) and consists of dominant species widely distributed most in boreal forest ecosystems and even in some tropical environments (Gernandt et al. 2011, Neale and Kremer 2011). Within this group there is the world's oldest known tree (*Pinus longaeva*) and the world's tallest tree (*Sequoiadendron giganteum*).

Conifers include six to eight families, with a total of 65-70 genera and 600-630 species (Catalogue of Life: 2007 - Conifer database). The most distinct families are shown in the phylogenetic diagram (Fig. 1). For a classification by linear sequence based on molecular data see the work of Christenhusz et al (2011).



Fig. 1 - A schematic representation of the Pinophyta phylogeny (from Quinn and Price 2003).

The earliest conifer fossils are found in the Upper Carboniferous (Stewart and Rothwell 1993, Farjon 2008) and many of the extant families can be recognized by the late Triassic or early Jurassic (Singh 2006). Major fossil orders of conifers or conifer-like plants include the Cordaitales, Vojnovskyales, Voltziales and in some cases the Czekanowskiales.

Examples of contemporary conifers include: Pines (*Pinus* spp.), Spruces (*Picea* spp.), Cowtail Pine (*Cephalotaxus* spp.), Cypress Pine (*Callitris* spp.), Firs (*Abies* spp.), Larches (*Larix* spp.), Bald Cypresses (*Taxodium* spp.), Yellowwood (*Podocarpus* spp.), Yews (*Taxus* spp.), Arbor vitae (*Thuja* spp.), Junipers (*Juniperus* spp.), Cedars (*Cedrus* spp.), Douglas-firs (Pseudotsuga spp.) and Golden Larch (Pseudolarix spp.), among others. *Pinus* is the largest extant genus of the Pinaceae family (Fig. 2) naturally occurring almost exclusively in the Northern Hemisphere, but introduced and widely naturalized in both hemispheres (Procheş et al. 2012) with over 100 widely recognized species (Richardson 1998, Farjon 2001, Alves-Freitas et al. 2011). Stone pine (*Pinus pinea* L.) is an economically important conifer distributed across the Mediterranean Basin (Fig. 3). In Portugal it is cultivated mainly for the production of nut seeds (pinion) for the food consumer market.

Taxonomic Hierarchy

| Kingdom | <u>Plantae</u> – Planta, Vegetal, plants, plantes |
|---------------|--|
| Subkingdom | <u>Viridaeplantae</u> – green plants |
| Infrakingdom | <u>Streptophyta</u> – land plants |
| Division | <u>Tracheophyta</u> – vascular plants, Tracheophytes |
| Subdivision | <u>Spermatophytina</u> – Spermatophytes, seed plants, Phanérogames |
| Infradivision | <u>Gymnospermae</u> – Gymnosperms, Gymnospermes, Gimnosperma |
| Class | <u>Pinopsida</u> – conifers |
| Order | <u>Pinales</u> – pines |
| Family | <u>Pinaceae</u> – pines |
| Genus | Pinus L. – pines |
| Genus | <u>Pinus</u> L. – pines |
| Species | <i>Pinus pinea</i> L. – Italian stone pine |
| | |

Fig. 2 - Taxonomic hierarchy of *Pinus pinea* L. (from Integrated Taxonomic Information System (ITIS), 2012).



Fig. 3 - The distribution map of *Pinus pinea* L. throughout the Mediterranean Basin and adjacent zones (from Euforgen.org).

The total area covered by stone pine is around 380,000 ha (Varol and Tel 2010). The Iberian Peninsula accounts for approximately 75% of *Pinus pinea* stands, the largest area occurring in Spain with an area of 464,000 ha (BDN 2008), followed by Portugal with an area of 130,300 ha (IFN5 2010).

Stone pine trees can reach a maximum height of 25 meters, and the trunk is often short and slightly sinuous. The canopy has a horizontal spread and ascending branches that gives their adult crown a characteristic umbrella-like shape (Fig. 4). From this feature is derived one of the most common names in English: umbrella pine. Other common names that occur are: *pinheiro manso* (Portuguese); *pino piñonero*, *pino manso*, *pino doncel*, (Spanish); *pin parasol*, *pin pignon* (French) and *pino domestico* (Italian).



Fig. 4 - Pinus pinea L. trees in a typical pine stand in Alcácer do Sal district, Portugal.

Some *P. pinea* tree characteristics like glabrous twigs and green needles that occur in fascicles of two can be found in typical pine stands. Like other pine species, *P. pinea* is monoecious, although fecundation rarely occurs within the same tree since, in most cases, the male gametes and female cones are formed in different branching systems and maturation is sometimes not coincident on the same tree. Pollen grains are mainly transported by wind (anemophilous pollination) and fecundation takes place 2 years after pollination (Singh 2006). Cones reach maturity after 3 years and are 8-14 cm in length (Fig. 5a). Figure 5b shows a typical *P. pinea* seed without the seed-coat. They are heavy and mostly dispersed by small mammals (Fady et al. 2004). Seed production

commences after 12 to 18 years depending whether tree occurrence is in isolation or in stands (Moussouris and Regalo 1999).



Fig. 5 - Mature cone of a *P. pinea* tree (a) and seed without the seed-coat (b).

P. pinea occurs either in arid inland or coastal areas affected by salinity stress (Correia et al. 2010), but also grows in harsh environments. This species is highly sensitive to climate variants (De Luis et al. 2009b) and faces regeneration problems in many localities.

Prior to the anthropogenic range expansions of the last few thousand years, stone pine was probably confined to the Iberian Peninsula, since is the only area that can be found away from ancient trade routes (Rikli 1943). There still remains a great deal of controversy regarding the natural expansion and origin of this species. Richardson (1998) stated that it is "impossible to determine its natural range". Agrimi and Ciancio (1994) have located in the western Mediterranean zone the origin of *P. pinea*, despite the fact that some theories hold that the species is native not only to the western Mediterranean but also to the eastern Mediterranean Basin (Barbéro et al. 1998). *P. pinea* was extensively planted around the Mediterranean Sea throughout history by the Etruscans, the Greeks, the Romans and the Arabs (Fady et al. 2004, Evaristo et al. 2007).

Although it has been cultivated since the Roman period for timber (for construction and ship-building), the most economically important product derived from the tree is its seed, the pine nut. World production of pine nuts is about 20,000 tons/year (Nergiz and Donmez 2004). The main countries where pine nuts are traditionally produced and consumed are Portugal, Spain, Italy, Tunisia and Turkey.

Concerning seed production, in the case of *P. pinea*, as a nut-producing tree, seed yield is the main clonal selection criterion (Mutke et al. 2005). Due to the rise of traditional agriculture and long-distance trading, this species could have experienced a

further reduction in its genetic diversity, which may be explained by the recent expansion of the species or low mutation rates (Vendramin et al. 2007). Among widely distributed sexually-reproducing trees, stone pine may be considered an exception due to its low level of genetic diversity. Nevertheless, it should be emphasized that whereas some species can survive in harsh environments, they do not represent the norm (Godt and Hamrick 1997). An understanding of the current adaptive diversity of *P. pinea* is a prerequisite for outlining its potential distribution and the consequences that it may face from environmental changes in the future.

The economic exploitation of pine nuts and the existence of great potential for *P. pinea* improvement are some of the reasons for the development of genetic breeding programs, based on the identification of excellent genotypes by establishing clonal banks with different origins (Alonso et al. 2006). The implementation of *in situ* conservation networks, as is the case with many other forest trees around the world, is essential. Despite the fact that the rate of survival of *P. pinea* in forest fires is considerably higher than that of other Mediterranean pines (Rodrigo et al. 2004), wild fires and overgrazing are still the greatest risks faced by stone pine forests. Fire protection and preventive measures to reduce these risks should also be introduced for the conservation of this typical Mediterranean pine (Fady et al. 2004).

According to the US Food and Drug Administration, there is a growing worldwide market for pine nuts, due to the fact that consumption reduces the risk of coronary heart disease, which is attributed to the high linoleic acid content (Nergiz and Donmez 2004). Also, the seeds have a high nutritional content, being particularly rich in proteins and vitamins (Savage 2001), and are thus considered a food supplement. In addition to their nutritional value, stone pine nuts have been considered as an aphrodisiac in ancient times, by Roman poets and Greek physicians (Moussouris and Regalo 1999).

Other products of economic value include resin, bark (for tannin extraction), and pine cone shells (for fuel) (Khaldi et al. 2011). *P. pinea* is also cultivated for environmental protection: ecological restoration (afforestation of coastal areas and dunes), protection of agricultural crops (Fady et al. 2004), can potentially help mitigate desertification problems (Correia et al. 2010), provide food and shelter for local wildlife (Montero et al. 2004), and is currently considered as a viable alternative for use for abandoned farmland (Cortizo et al. 2009). It is also an aesthetically attractive tree which is planted in parks and gardens throughout the world. It has been successfully introduced in North Africa as well as Argentina, Australia, South Africa and the USA.

The great importance of the species derives from its environmental, aesthetic, and soilconservation uses, its high economic value and its ability to survive intense fire damage. Due to its importance and that of applications, interest in the species from forest managers and researchers has increased considerably.

2. In vitro propagation

In vitro propagation, most frequently termed micropropagation, refers to the application of plant-cell and tissue-culture technology in order to improve mainly the performance of important agriculture crop species. The growth of commercial micropropagation as an industry occurred during the 1970s and 1980s (Ahamed et al. 2001) and generated a great deal of excitement among researchers, mostly due to cell totipotency through the regeneration of entire plants from single cells (Metivier 2000, Razdan 2003, Iliev et al. 2010).

Plant tissue culture, also known as *in vitro* culture is the science of growing plant cells, tissue or organs isolated from the mother plant on artificial culture media (George et al. 2008). By manipulating the culture medium composition, the plant cells transferred to the nutrient medium will start to divide and produce cell masses that will eventually produce new plants, often in large numbers (Klimaszewska et al. 2011).

The *in vitro* growth and development of a plant is determined by a number of complex factors: (a) the genetic structure of the plant (b) nutrients: water, sugars, macro- and micro-elements (c) physical growth factors: light, temperature, pH, O_2 and CO_2 concentrations, and (d) certain organic substances: plant growth regulators (PGRs) and vitamins.

Several techniques for *in vitro* plant propagation have been developed, for example, the induction of axillary and adventitious shoots, the culture of isolated meristems and plant regeneration by means of organogenesis and/or somatic embryogenesis. These different plant-tissues culture techniques can present advantages in comparison with traditional methods of agronomic, horticultural and forestry species propagation (Iliev et al. 2010). Some of these benefits include: (1) consistent production of the same genotypes over time, (2) greater genetic gains, (3) flexibility for the rapid deployment of suitable clones given changing breeding goals and/or environmental conditions, and (4) the capability for managing genetic diversity and genetic gain in plantation forestry (Park et al. 1998). Furthermore, the benefits produce plants that require fewer pesticides and which are in some cases pathogen-free (Ahamed et al. 2001).

The propagation of superior mature individuals is an effective way of achieving genetic gain by exploiting genetic variance (dominance, additive and epistatic) within a given generation without the need for proceeding through long breeding cycles (Ahuja 1993). Consequently, the regeneration of mature trees, either singly, or as part of conventional breeding programmes, could provide a powerful instrument for improving forestry management (Cortizo et al. 2009), and it is an increasingly essential tool for all propagation programs.

In the case of trees, conventional breeding is not as straightforward since in some cases they have long life cycles, are self-incompatible and very slow to mature (Merkle and Dean 2000, Campbell et al. 2003). Maturation is an important issue since it induces changes in meristem behavior, thus reducing the propagation potential of forest trees; also, the economic value of a tree is better assessed after it reaches maturity (Greenwood 1995, von Aderkas and Bonga 2000, Mitchell et al. 2004).

3. In vitro propagation in conifers

Conifer cultures are generally initiated from immature or mature zygotic embryos. The uses of germinating embryos cotyledons or primordial shoots excised from seedlings or trees are less frequent (Bonga et al. 2009). In previous, most efforts were focused on propagation by first inducing adventitious shoot formation, primarily from cotyledons, and then roots by means of organogenesis. Success on a commercial scale has been limited to a few species, for example radiata pine (*Pinus radiata*) (Bhowmik and Matsuiz 2001, Bonga et al. 2003). Developed over the last two decades, somatic embryogenesis is considered a more effective method (Bonga et al. 2003), which is different from organogenesis because organs, such as shoots and roots, have one primary pole or growing point, whereas embryos are bipolar structures with both shoot and root meristems (Bhowmik and Matsuiz 2001, Preece 2003).

Distinct steps in organogenesis include: (1) establishment or bud induction, or both; (2) bud and shoot development and multiplication; (3) rooting of developed shoots; and (4) hardening of plantlets (Saborio et al. 1997). In the case of somatic embryogenesis, the method can produce any number of zygotic-like somatic embryos and plants from one seed, thus providing a standard for mass clonal propagation (Klimaszewska et al. 2007). Although somatic embryogenesis technology has worked well with many conifer species using zygotic embryos as starting material, attempts to achieve the same result with adult conifers have failed (Klimaszewska et al. 2011).

Since the genetic potential for features (height growth, branching and crown shape) cannot be evaluated until the tree is fully-grown, it is important to develop methods for propagating conifers in the mature stage (von Aderkas and Bonga 2000). In the last 25 years there have been several reports regarding the *in vitro* culture of conifers (Horgan 1987, Ewald 1998, Chang et al. 2001, Parasharami et al. 2003, Prehn et al. 2003, 2003, Oliveira et al. 2003, Renau-Morata et al. 2005, Alonso et al. 2006, Zavattieri et al. 2009, Salaj et al. 2007, Bonga et al. 2010).

Within the *Pinus* genus, successful micropropagation of *explants is* reported for a number of species such as *P. taeda* (Mott and Amerson 1981), *P. pinaster* (Dumas and Monteuuis 1995), *P. ayacahuite* (Saborio et al. 1997), *P. nigra* (Özkurt et al. 2008), *P. sylvestris* (De Diego et al. 2009), *P. maximartinezii* (Robledo et al. 2009), *P. radiata* (Zhang et al. 2009), *P. massoniana* (Zhu et al. 2010), *P. kesiya* (Choudhury and Kumaria 2010), and *P. peuce* (Stojičić et al. 2012).

Micropropagation of *P. pinea* via organogenesis has been reported during the last few decades. The most common method, it is based on the induction of shoot buds from cotyledonary explants dissected from mature seeds and in most cases, cultured in media supplemented with some varieties of PGRs (see point 9)

4. In vitro rooting

Conifers have a major role to play in reforestation strategies, and despite the studies that have been published, current research on their vegetative propagation has not been satisfactorily investigated. One of the most common problems encountered in the micropropagation of conifers is the reduction in the ability of cuttings to root (Cortizo et al. 2009, Zhang et al. 2010). This problem is mainly related with maturation, which affects reproductive competence, morphology, and growth rate (Greenwood and Hutchison 1993, Libby and Ahuja 1993, Mitchell et al. 2004).

The rate of spontaneous rooting is generally low in micropropagated cuttings in conifers (Burns et al. 1991, Budimir and Vujicic 1992, Normand et al. 1996, Stojičić and Budimir 2004, Ewald 2007a). In most conifer micropropagation protocols, rooting treatment is required in order to increase the rooting rate (Ragonezi et al 2010b).

5. Adventitious root formation

Esau (1953) defined the term "adventitious root" as a root that arises on an already lateralized root axis or at a place on the plant that is not itself a root (e.g. on a shoot).

These roots may occur naturally from stem tissue or may be induced by different conditions: a stressful environment, mechanical damage or the tissue-culture regeneration of shoots (Li et al. 2009). Adventitious root formation (ARF) is essential for plant growth regulation and development since it is a key step in the vegetative propagation of woody or horticultural species (Hess 1994, Sorin et al. 2006). The inability to induce ARF in conventional cuttings or tissue culture is a major limiting factor when cloning plants for genetic improvement and/or commercial applications (Metivier 2000).

ARF is a complex developmental process that consists of three successive but interdependent physiological phases: induction, initiation and expression. Each of these phases has different requirements (Li et al. 2009). The chemical and physical factors that affect rooting include: PGR's, nutrients (mainly the carbohydrate source), temperature and light (Ragonezi et al. 2010b).

An efficient rooting treatment can lead to a high rate of rooting and higher quality of the root system (Ragonezi et al. 2010b). Root number, length, and the absence of callus at the base of the shoot could have an influence on plant behavior in the *ex vitro* phase (De Klerk et al. 1999, Hartmann et al. 2002).

In the past few years a number of studies have been published describing attempts to improve rates of *in vitro* rooting in many species: *Pinus armandii* var. *amamiana* (Ishii et al. 2007); *Larix* sp. (Ewald 2007a); *Taxus baccata* L. (Ewald 2007b); *Juniperus phoenicea* (Loureiro et al. 2007); *Pinus pinea* L. (Zavattieri et al. 2009, Ragonezi et al. 2010a); *Pyrus communis* L. (Sun et al. 2009); *Teucrium fruticans* L. (Frabetti et al. 2009); *Olea europea* L. (Padilla et al. 2009); *Quercus rubra* L. (Vengadesan et al. 2009a); *Citrus sinensis* L. Osbeck × *Poncirus trifoliata* L. Raf. (Montoliu et al. 2010); and *Pistacia vera* L. (Benmahioul et al. 2012).

Also, some efforts using biotization procedures (for definition of this, see point 7 of this chapter) to overcome *in vitro* rooting and improve transplantation survival rates can be cited in different works and for different species: Ragonezi et al. (2012) with *P. pinea* and *P. arhizus*; Normand et al. (1996) used *Hebeloma cylindrosporum* in the rooting and acclimatization phases of *P. sylvestris*; also with this pine species, Niemi et al. (2000) associated with *Pisolithus tinctorius*; Sarmast et al. (2012) evaluated the application of *Agrobacterium rhizogenes* with *Araucaria excelsa* R. Br. var. *glauca*; in Gosal et al. (2008) *Populus deltoides* plantlets were biotized during hardening with *Piriformospora indica* and *Pseudomonas fluorescens*; Chittora et al. (2010) working

with micropropagated *Terminalia bellerica* Roxb plants inoculated with *Piriformospora indica* during *ex vitro* acclimatization; Vettori et al. (2010) analyzed the effect of *Azospirillum brasilense* Sp245 on the micropropagation of three fruit rootstocks: *Prunus cerasifera*×*P. spinosa, Prunus persica* × *P. amigdalus,* and MM 106 apple (Northen Spy×M1); Martins (2008) worked on micropropagated *Castanea sativa* plants and *Pisolithus tinctorius.*

Certain combinations of ectomycorrhizal fungi and proper procedures of co-culture could be exploited for the *in vitro* root development improvement of stone pine or any other target species. Based on taxonomic and ecological extrapolation, an estimated 86% of terrestrial plant species acquire mineral nutrients via mycorrhizal root symbionts (Brundrett 2009). Pinaceae is considered the oldest extant plant family that is associated with ectomycorrhizal fungi (Hibbett and Matheny 2009).

6. Mycorrhizae

Since the term symbiosis was introduced by De Bary in 1879, the importance of associations among the numerous organisms has increased. Mycorrhizae are symbiotic structures formed between plant roots and fungi. Plants provide photosynthetically-fixed carbon and a habitat for the fungi, whereas mycobionts provide dissolved- and organically-bound nutrients (Smith and Read 2008). Fungal activity represents an important element of active biomass in forest ecology, since establishment, survival and decomposition in the forest trees dynamics are largely dependent on these organisms (Rosling 2003).

Seven distinct types of mycorrhizae are recognized, but several of them are very similar (Brundrett 2002). Endomycorrhizae and Vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizae (AM) are the most widespread types. Ectomycorrhizae (ECM) occurs in certain families of Gymnosperms and Dicotyledons and in one Monocotyledon genus (Brundrett 2009). The remaining types of mycorrhizae are restricted to specific plant families. The main differences between a non-mycorrhizal root and a colonized root by either endo- or ectomycorrhizal fungi can be found in Figure 6.

Brundrett (2002) distinguished the various stages in the beginning of the association:

1 Fungi attracted by exudates proliferate on the surface of plants;

2 Fungi develop mechanisms for penetrating living plants without causing harm;

3 The space within living plants becomes an important habitat for these endophytes; providing them with shelter from adverse soil conditions, parasitism and predation;

- 4 Fungi become dependent on the host for energy;
- 5 Absorptive hyphae within plants increase their surface area and permeability.



Fig. 6 - Morphological changes in roots as they become mycorrhizal and the effects of those changes on the development of a mycorrhizosphere. A - Generalized non-mycorrhizal root with root hairs and indicated sources of organic materials available as substrates for rhizosphere microorganisms. B - Endomycorrhiza with indicated morphological changes such as reduced tissue sloughing, lack of root hairs, presence of external hyphae, thick-walled spores, and associated soil aggregates; no obvious change in surface area. C - Ectomycorrhiza indicating dramatic morphological changes such as development of a fungal mantle plus extensive external hyphae and rhizomorphs and associated soil aggregates, loss of root hairs, and greatly increased branching and surface area (from Linderman 1988).

The main role of this association is the acquisition of nutrients by exploring the soil volume around the host with the aid of the hyphae, which are more responsive and more extensive than the roots themselves (Van der Heijden et al. 2006b, Requena et al. 2007, Turk et al. 2008, Smith and Smith 2011, Cairney 2011, Kiers et al. 2011). Mycorrhizal colonization tends to be reduced when nutrient availability is high (Kiers and van der Heijden 2006) and may become inactive or be lost by attrition. Also, they may experience cycles of dormancy and activity, which is a common feature in the perennial root system of trees (Kottke and Oberwinkler 1986).

6.1 Ectomycorrhizae

Within ectomycorrhizal symbioses, the host (plant roots) and the symbiont (ECM fungi) function collectively as an entity. The development of ECM in plants frequently allows them to establish in habitats that neither symbiont may be able to occupy independently (Nehls et al. 2000). ECM fungi include at least 6000 species (Hibbett et al. 2000) and involve economically important woody plant families and many lineages
of fungi that generally belonging to Basidiomycota (agarics, bolets) and Ascomycota (truffles) (Brundrett 2009, Tedersoo et al. 2010a).

ECM symbioses are restricted to <5% of terrestrial plant species (Landeweert et al. 2001) and are ubiquitous in the Pinaceae family (Le Page et al. 1997). This mutualistic relationship among ECM fungi grants conifers an ecological advantage for surviving harsh conditions where climate is strongly seasonal and soils are nutrient-poor (Castro et al. 2010). Other families that are associated with ECM fungi include Fagaceae, Myrtaceae Dipterocarpaceae (Brundrett 2002, Smith and Read 2008, Bonfante and Genre 2010).

For mycorrhizated plants the modifications in both cell organization and physiological and morphological facets are associated with numerous benefits. The fungus improves plant nutrient uptake by means of rhizosphere exploitation and in return it receives carbohydrates that are essential for completion of the fungal life cycle (Bonfante and Anca 2009). The symbiont may also alleviate the environmental stress caused by chemicals, herbivory, pathogens, fire or drought (Smith and Read 2008), and as biofertilizers they may counteract fertilization excess and thus promote sustainable agriculture (Bonfante and Genre 2010).

Ectomycorrhizae are characterized mainly by the presence of a fungal sheath (mantle), which adheres to the root exterior and forms a hyphae structure (Ammarellou and Saremi 2008). The fungus mycelium is connected to the extramatrical hyphae that explore the substrate, and is responsible for nutrition and water uptake (Barker et al. 1998). One of the most striking features of the ECM root is the Hartig net which extends into the root, penetrating between epidermal and cortical cells. The Hartig net forms a crossing point from the inner zone of the mantle through which the symbionts exchange materials (Barker et al. 1998, Bending et al. 2006, Frey-Klett et al. 2007). This is the primary zone for nutrient transfer in the association (Burgess et al. 1994, Dell et al. 1994, Brundrett 2004). In Figure 7 there is a schematic representation of ectomycorrhizal development events.

6.2 Ectomycorrhiza-like structures

As mentioned before, development between the ECM fungi and the host plant involves many changes in root physiology and morphology. Both root elongation and root hair formation are suppressed and short lateral roots go through dichotomous branching that generally culminates in the formation of coralloid structures. In conifers, externally supplied fungal exudates, extracts, or synthetic auxins can partially mimic the effect of mycelium in inducing root proliferation and dichotomous branching of lateral roots (Smith and Read 2008). Normally in the *Pinus* genus, ECM roots are usually dichotomously branched, as described by Agerer (1987-2002), and in some cases extensive dichotomous and coralloid branching of lateral roots can occur without fungal intervention, and this kind of formation is known as an ectomycorrhiza-like structure (Castro et al. 2010).



Fig. 7 - Schematic representation of ectomycorrhizal development. Morphological events taking place during early (left) and late (right) stages of Ectomycorrhizal formation are indicated (from Baker et al. 1998).

Some research has been carried out on the role of the plant hormones and fungal/root exudates in the production of ECM or ECM-like structures in pine (Slankis 1973, Faye et al. 1980, Rupp and Mudge 1985, Gogala 1991, Castro et al. 2010). Faye et al. (1980), studying *P. pinaster*, demonstrated that the host plant genome contains all the genetic information required to form an ECM-like organ. In the work of Castro et al. (2010), ARF regenerated by *P. pinea* microshoots as well as axenic embryo root cultures developed ECM-like structures. It was demonstrated that these structures appeared in all experimental settings tested, with the frequency of dichotomous branching increasing with the reduction of macronutrients in the medium and also in cultures that spent more than one month on the same co-culture medium (which is similar to drought conditions in nature). These findings support those of Kaska et al. (1999), in which nutrient-limiting conditions were required for the formation of both

spontaneous and chemically-induced dichotomous and coralloid branching in three different species of pine: *P. taeda*, *P. halepensis* and *P. muricata*. A combined exogenous application of IAA and ethylene induced root responses equivalent to the presence of truffle mycelium in both host plant (*Cistus incanus*) and the non-host plant (*Arabidopsis thaliana*) (Splivallo et al. 2009)

PGRs supplied by the ECM fungi have an effect on the thickness, extension and branching of roots, and, when applied experimentally, can induce similar root morphologies as in the absence of fungus (Kaska et al. 1999, Barker and Tagu 2000). By analyzing the anatomical aspects of the ECM-like structures, the similarity between extensive dichotomous branching of lateral roots that grow without fungal presence and those roots derived from the fungal inoculation can be observed. Due to this association, it may be difficult to diagnose ECM roots without histological and anatomical studies. Many theories may be developed on the formation of ECM-like structures and the most evident of them are, nutrient limiting, genetic information and chemically induced roots. Nevertheless, this topic has not been sufficiently investigated and needs to be further examined.

6.3 - Molecular characterization of mycorrhizal fungi

The identification of ECM fungi species is a difficult task. Traditionally, ectomycorrhizae have been identified by using colour, shape and other macroscopic features (Agerer 1987-2002). On the other hand, many fungi species have not been described by morphological methods and are rarely identified using only morphological techniques (lotti and Zambonelli 2006). Identification remains largely dependent on initial analysis based on morphotyping, and a high level of skill is required by the analyst (e.g. personal experience, ability, rough analysis) (Rosling 2003).

The most reliable approach to the study of ectomycorrhizal community composition is a combination of morphological and molecular identification techniques (Gamper et al. 2009, Walbert et al. 2010, Bahram et al. 2011, Zambonelli et al. 2012).

In the 1990s, a revolution in molecular tools addressed the cultivability issue and substantially enhanced the identification of ECM fungi *in situ* (Gardes et al. 1991b, Egger 1995, Horton and Bruns 2001, Anderson and Cairney 2004). With the application of these techniques, many common yet unidentified ECM fungi could be taxonomically assigned (Vrålstad et al. 2000, Kõljalg et al. 2002). Since this molecular

revolution, the reliability of the identification of ECM fungi species has been greatly improved through taxonomic analysis, phylogenetic relationships within the major groups of mycorrhizal fungi and the use of deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) sequence databases (Horton and Bruns 2001). In recent years, a variety of DNA-based methods have been developed in order to identify ECM fungi (Landeweert et al. 2003a, Reich et al. 2009, Bonito et al. 2011) and also to verify the genetic variation inside a specific group (Alves et al. 2007, Caldeira et al. 2009).

The most important methodological advance in the study of ECM communities has been the application of polymerase chain reaction (PCR) based techniques (Mullis and Faloona 1987, Gardes et al. 1991b, Lanfranco et al. 1998, Landeweert et al 2003a, Morris et al. 2008). PCR-based techniques targeting ribosomal DNA regions are widely employed because of their specificity and sensitivity (lotti and Zambonelli 2006). These regions combine the advantages of high copy number, highly conserved sequence tracks that may serve as sites for primer design, and variable regions between the priming sites (Horton and Bruns 2001).

Most molecular studies of ECM fungi involve analyses of the internal transcribed spacer (ITS) region. This nuclear region, which is well known in different fields of molecular biology and fungal systematics, lies between the small subunit (SSU) and the large subunit (LSU) ribosomal RNA (rRNA) genes and contains two non-coding spacer regions separated by the 5.8S rRNA gene (Fig. 8a,b). In fungi, it is typically about 650-900 bp in size, including the 5.8S gene. It is usually amplified by either the universal primer pair ITS1 and ITS4 (White et al. 1990, Gardes et al. 1991b, Gardes and Bruns 1993) or even with the pair ITS1 and ITS5 which has a slightly larger fragment.

The similarity of sequence of the ITS region is widely used in taxonomy and molecular phylogeny studies for identifying and distinguishing species, due to the high degree of variation between closely related species (Baldwin et al. 1995, Gomes et al. 2002, Kanchanaprayudh et al. 2003, Mello et al. 2006, Rajaratnam and Thiagarajan 2012). Several studies also use short standardized DNA regions namely "barcodes" for identifying biological material (Chase and Fay 2009). Molecular DNA barcoding of fungi identification has, during the last 15 to 20 years, become an essential part of fungal ecology research and has provided new insights into the diversity and ecology of many different groups of fungi (Horton and Bruns 2001, Anderson and Cairney 2004, Seiffert 2009). At present, metagenomic approaches and pyrosequencing are promising tools in the identification of microbial communities (Uroz et al. 2012, Tedersoo et al. 2010b).



| b | Primer | Author | Primer sequence | Position |
|---|-----------------|----------------------------|-------------------------|-----------|
| | Forward primare | | | |
| | Forward primers | | | |
| | NS7 | White et al. 1990 | GAGGCAATAACAGGTCTGATGC | 1403-1426 |
| | ITS1-F | Gardes and Bruns 1993 | CTTGGTCATTTAGAGGAAGTAA | 1723-1744 |
| | ITS5 | White et al. 1990 | GGAAGTAAAAGTCGTAACAAGG | 1737-1758 |
| | ITS1 | White et al. 1990 | TCCGTAAGGTGAACCTGCGG | 1761-1779 |
| | ITS3 | White et al. 1990 | GCATCGATGAAGAACGCAGC | 2024-2045 |
| | | | | |
| | Reverse primers | | | |
| | ITS2 | White et al. 1990 | GCTGCGTTCTTCATCGATGC | 2024-2043 |
| | ITS4 | White et al. 1990 | TCCTCCGCTTATTCATATGC | 2390-2409 |
| | ITS4-B | Gardes and Bruns 1993 | CAGGAGACTTGTACACGGTCCAG | 2526-2548 |
| | LR3 | Vilgalys and Gonzalez 1990 | CCGTGTTTCAAGACGGG | 3029-3045 |
| | | | | |

Fig. 8 - Commonly used primers used for amplifying parts of the entirety of the ITS region. a) Relative position of the primers, design of the subsets and number of sequences in each subset. b) Primer sequences, references and position of the primer sequence according to a reference sequence of *Serpula himantioides* (AM946630) stretching the entire nrDNA repeat (from Bellemain 2010).

7. Biotization

Biotization could be defined as the use of beneficial microbial inoculants(s) in *in vitro* cultivated plant material for promoting developmental and physiological changes that may: enhance growth, induce plant disease resistance for dealing with biotic or/and abiotic stress, and among other benefits for producing useful compounds.

The *in vitro* culture conditions result in plantlets with altered morphology, anatomy and physiology, which may be susceptible to biotic and abiotic stresses in acclimatization (Vestberg et al. 2004, Chandra et al. 2010); also this phase, this can make the costintensive process higher in plantlet production. The transplantation stage continues to be a major bottleneck in the micropropagation of many plants (Saadat and Heenerty 2001, Hazarika 2003). As a result, significant losses can occur during the acclimatization phase due to the combined effect of nutritional and environmental stress to microplants (Grunewaldt-Stoecker 1997, Swain et al. 2010). In particular, fresh-rooted plants frequently demonstrate a delicate and inefficient root system, stomata with vulnerable closure mechanisms, lower cuticle production and water stress followed by death (Vettori et al. 2010).

During recent years, numerous studies have focused on the application of colonizing microorganisms (e.g. rhizobacteria and mycorrhizal fungi) in rooted plants. They have made it possible to increase the adaptive capacity and consequently the survival rate of micropropagated plants in the acclimatization phase due to their ability to induce plant resistance to different forms of environmental stress (Vettori et al. 2010, Ragonezi et al. 2012).

The following are examples of biotization between several plant species and microbial inoculants: Gay et al. (1992) used ECM fungi as a tool for enhancing the rooting of micropropagated cuttings of Pinus halepensis; Martins et al. (1996) also reported Amanita muscaria, Laccaria laccata, Piloderma croceum and Pisolithus tinctorius as useful in the acclimatization of micropropagated plantlets of Castanea sativa. Grange et al. (1997) studied the effect of different genotypes of Hebeloma cylindrosporum on in vitro rooting of micropropagated cuttings of Prunus avium and P. cerasus. Paxillus involutus with seedlings of Pinus sylvestris was evaluated by Rudawska and Kieliszewska (1997). Reddy and Satyanarayana (1998) screened ECM fungi, Cenococcum geophilum, Laccaria laccata, Paxillus involutus and two isolates of Pisolithus tinctorius, in order to inoculate micropropagated plantlets of Populus deltoids. Also, P. tinctorius was used in Q. suber woods (Diez et al. 2000). In the work of Senthilkumar et al. (2008), Oryza sativa L. was inoculated with rhizobia; Glomus deserticola was used in Prunus avium (Lovato et al. 2006); Glomus etunicatum in the inoculation of Curcuma zedoaria (Miachir et al. 2004); strawberry and banana microplants were inoculated with arbuscular mycorrhizae respectively (Murphy et al. 1997, Mandhare and Suryawanshi 2005).

Nonpathogenic organisms in plant tissue culture in order to improve the micropropagation system can be exploited once the conditions in the co-culture are optimized. Such microorganisms would not only act as inducers of the responses against stress resistance but may also occupy microsites on the host plants, making them unavailable to pathogens (Nowak 1998).

Although the biotization technique is of the greatest importance for the growth, improvement and development of the micropropagated plantlets, some disadvantages in the establishment of the association may be highlighted, such as inoculum contamination and unexpected behavior of the symbiont and the host under *in vitro* conditions.

In many cases, the colonization process among host-microorganism interactions is initiated before actual physical contact (Harrison 2005). The initial stages of mycorrhizal colonization events are dependent both on fungal growth and rhizospheric signals (Martin et al. 2001, Badri et al. 2009), mainly through root exudates that mediate the interactions with neighboring plants and microorganisms (Weir et al. 2004, Bais et al. 2006, Broeckling et al. 2008). Current research into ECM development and functioning is aimed at understanding this plant-microbe interaction and the developmental and physiological processes that underly the colonization and morphogenesis modifications.

8. Signalling

Signaling is a crucial step in any host/symbiont interaction. During all the stages (presymbiotic, physical contact and mycorrhization) the signals exchanged between plant and fungi are fundamental. Some aspects, for example the rhizosphere monitorization, the research of the chemical signals and following the evolution of the interaction are extremely important.

As with many host-microbe interactions, it is possible to describe the beginning of the colonization process with signaling (pre-symbiotic stage) between the two partners progressing to the symbiosis stage. The pre-symbiotic phase of the interaction culminates in a physical encounter between symbionts, by means of the adhesion of the fungus to the root surface (Barker et al. 1998, Pandey 2002, Bonfante and Genre 2010). These signals lead to a complex development of specific structures in both the plant and the fungus, observable by morphological transformations. Signaling is a critical constituent of any symbiosis; nevertheless, very little is known about the nature of these signals and how this process is instigated.

Mycorrhizal fungi are able to achieve an intimate association with their host. The fungus must deal with host protection mechanisms and be able to initiate nutrient transfer across the root-fungus interface (Reis et al. 2011). In this way, intense cell activity occurs both before and after physical contact between partners. Up- and down-regulation of gene expression is a major mechanism for controlling ectomycorrhizal

symbiosis development and functioning (Martin 2007). Signaling evidence of fungal origin may be involved in this process and may be different from the signals involved before the fungus penetration into the root tissue (Podila 2002).

Communication in the rhizosphere is essential for many interactions and their corresponding evolution. Identification of the molecules that participate in this colonization at the developmental and physiological level is extremely important, especially for understanding the host-symbiont interaction (Baptista et al. 2011, Felten et al. 2012). According to Martin et al. (2001), molecules that control the interactions can be classified as follows:

• Tropism of hyphae for host tissues (rhizospheric signals);

• Attachment and invasion of host tissues by hyphae (adhesins, hydrolases);

 Induction of organogenetic programs in both fungal and root cells (hormones and secondary signals);

• Facilitating survival of the mycobiont, despite plant defense responses;

• Coordinating strategies for exchanging carbon and other metabolites for *in planta* colonization and for balancing growth of the soil fungal web with its role in gathering minerals from the soil.

The early plant host signals secreted into the rhizospheric include auxins, flavonoids, cytokinins, alkaloids, strigolactones and other metabolites. Recently, plant phenolic compounds (*p*-coumaric acid, coumarin, naringenin and other flavonoids) have also been cited as potential signalling candidates during mycorrhizal formation (Lynn and Chang 1990, Mandal et al. 2010, Bonfante and Genre 2010, Amalesh et al. 2011, Plett and Martin 2012, Hassan and Mathesius 2012). Some of the chemical structures of these compounds appear in Figures 9 and 10. These substances may be involved in the positive responses between the host and the symbiont.



Fig. 9 - Chemical structures of signalling compounds secreted into the rhizosphere by the plant host. A: Indole-3-acetic acid, B: 6-Benzylaminopurine, C: Coumaric acid and D: Naringenin.



Martin et al. (2001) illustrate some of the responses between partners in the signalling compounds between *Eucalyptus globulus* and *Pisolithus* sp. inoculation in Figure 10.

Fig. 10 - The molecular cross-talk taking place in the rhizosphere of *Eucalyptus globulus* colonized by *Pisolithus*. Root exudates alter the morphology of the mycelium of *Pisolithus*. These morphological changes are induced by the flavonol rutin, which stimulates fungal growth, expressed as colony diameter (a). Low concentrations of zeatin modify the hyphae branching angle (b) and the accumulation of the tryptophan betaine, hypaphorine (c). On the other hand, *Pisolithus*-secreted hypaphorine and indole-3-acetic (IAA) trigger morphological changes (i.e. arrest of root hair elongation and stimulation of short root formation) in the root system (d). (Béguiristain and Lapeyrie 1997) (from Martin et al. 2001).

Like some of the substances shown in Figure 10, the several rhizospheric signals exchanged between the symbionts and the molecular communication are responsible for important morphological changes (Martin et al. 2007, Dahm and Golińska 2011). Auxins serve as extremely potent morphogenetic signals for root systems. At low

concentrations, they increase root growth and stimulate the formation of new meristems and lateral roots (Tagu et al. 2002). Splivallo et al. (2009) reported that IAA and ethylene produced by truffles (*Tuber borchii* and *Tuber melanopsorum*) act together on plant roots inducing changes such as root shortening, increased branching, and root hair elongation. In the case of Pinaceae ECM, dichotomous branching of short roots occurs, sometimes resulting in the formation of coralloid structures made up of the assemblage of numerous root branching (Barker and Tagu 2000). For the arbuscular mycorrhizae host interaction, abundant data are available on the effect of flavonoids on hyphal growth, hyphal differentiation and root colonization (Vierheilig et al. 1998, Scervino 2005a, Steinkellner et al. 2007). Also strigolactones have been identified as the AM fungi hyphal branching factor in root exudates of the AM host plant *Lotus japonicus* (Akiyama et al. 2005).

9. Background to the Doctoral Dissertation and Aims

The stone pine is one of the oldest forest resources used in Portugal. The tree is exploited in multiple ways, and main products are wood, resin and pinions. The first two have diminished in importance nowadays, especially when compared with the great economic value of the fruit, the pinion. In 1988, an outline of a breeding program, was presented whose main objective was to genetically improve the quality and quantity of pinions (Barreira and Alpuim 1988). Since then, various actions have been carried out as part of integrated ID projects, in particular PAMAF 2090 "Improvement of P. pinea L. for the production of edible seeds in Southern Portugal" and PIDDAC 212 "Improvement of *Pinus pinea* L. for pinion production", both under the auspices of the National Forestry Station. At an early stage of the implementation of these breeding programs Provenance Regions were delimited, serving for the purposes of basic identification and selection for the reproductive material in accordance with the rules for the certification of seeds. At the same time, selected stands, good producers of pinion, were subsequently registered in the National Catalog of Basic Materials (CNMB) (http: www.dgrf.min-agricultura.pt). The selection of good pinion-producing trees (plus trees), sited in the above-mentioned zones, was the starting point for the establishment of new areas as well as the installation of clonal orchards producing seeds and grafting material.

Two different approaches for increasing selected material were studied as part of PAMAF 2090: grafting and micropropagation. The vegetative propagation of selected "plus trees" was based on genetic research on the heritability of relevant characters to obtain maximal gains in pinion production, such as cone weight, the number of seeds per cone and seed length. These characteristics are in accordance with Alpuim and Rocha (1994) maternal inheritance (0.81, 0.81 and 0.55, respectively), justifying the use of good mother plant producers as plant material for vegetative propagation to achieve plantations with the greatest commercial value. Nevertheless, clonal propagation by means of grafting and cutting is an arduous task, and therefore not ideal for the large-scale multiplication of elite cultivars. Micropropagation of conifers has been shown to be feasible in other conifers, and for this reason in 1997 micropropagation studies funded by the PAMAF 2090 began at the Breeding and Biotechnology Laboratory of ICAAM (LMBV), University of Évora (a partner in the project) in Portugal.

The first attempts at *P. pinea* L. *in vitro* culture were carried out in the 1990s (Diamantoglou et al. 1990). Due to the economic and ecological interest of this species

in the Mediterranean basin, and as soon as successful protocols for other conifers organogenesis had been established, different groups throughout the region began their own *in vitro* cultivation.

During the 1990s, organogenesis from excised immature cotyledons was initiated in Spain (García-Ferriz et al. 1994). In Florence, in Italy, Capuana and Gianini (1995) established *in vitro* propagation from mature cotyledons collected from open pollinated trees in natural pine stands. Also, at the ENEA Research Center near Rome, complete plants were obtained from adventitious buds induced in isolated cotyledons (González et al. 1998).

These research efforts differed with respect to several culture factors, including basal medium, growth regulator concentration and exposure time, and environmental conditions. As an example, the basal media used in each micropropagation of stone pine was variable (DCR; MS; SH, GD; LP * see medium name in abbreviations). The different research actions differed with regard to many of these factors; however, the use of embryo explants from cotyledons (mature or immature seed source) such as the initial plant material and *N*6-Benzylaminopurine (BAP) in the induction of adventitious shoots were common to all protocols. Generally, in conifers the shoots are produced by direct organogenesis at the surface of cotyledons without callus formation between 6-10 weeks after the beginning of the culture.

In Portugal, in the work of Zavattieri A, Figueira S, Cavaleiro C, Peixe A (unpublished), two different approaches have been tested: axillary bud induction in one year mother plants (different treatments that include foliar cytokinins application and decapitation of terminal apices) and direct organogenesis from complete mature embryos or from excised cotyledons from mature seeds in accordance with Dantas (1995). The best results obtained were between 50-215 shoots per cotyledon (unpublished). Ordás et al. 2007 reported a total of 200 elongated shoots derived from one seed after 22 weeks in culture using modified ¹/₂ LPC (medium modified by Humara et al. 1999). In the works of Medina (1996) and Teles Ameixa (1997), best results were obtained in GD medium supplemented with 1,5 mg/l BAP. On average 6.6 new pine shoots were produced from each shoot after 3 sub-cultures (84 days). González et al. (1998) reported a maximum number of shoots obtained from cotyledons explants in 1/2 LP medium supplemented with 1 mg//I BAP with 44% shoot survival and the shoot elongation in the same medium with 0.5% activated charcoal (AC) (multiplication rate was not shown). In Alonso et al. (2006), the isolated shoots derived from cotyledons were successively subcultured on 1/2 LP with AC (LPC) or BA and IBA for 15 days and transferred back to 1/2 LPC medium for 30 days. An average of 4.64 multiplication rate and 97.4% of shoots higher than 10mm were obtained after 4 subcultures (26 weeks).

Major improvements were carried out from 2000 to 2010 in micropropagation protocols in order to increase the number of shoots produced per cotyledon in the Iberian Peninsula. Two groups were particularly involved in this, led by Prof. Ordás in Spain (Valdés et al. 2001, Moncaleán et al. 2003, Moncalean et al. 2005, Alonso et al. 2006, Cortizo et al. 2009) and Prof. Zavattieri in Portugal, whose focus is mainly on solving problems during the rooting phase (Oliveira et al. 2003, Zavattieri et al. 2009, Ragonezi 2010a). Outside the Iberian Peninsula, Sul and Korban (2004) investigated the effect of salt formulation, carbon source, cytokinins, and auxins in shoot organogenesis from cotyledons.

Acceptable multiplication rates were obtained for *Pinus pinea* L. and the findings published in a number of works mentioned in the bibliography. Continuous research efforts led the team headed by Prof. Zavattieri to select the most suitable protocol for shoots induction from mature cotyledons: WPM media supplemented with 5 mg/l BAP, 2% sucrose, 0.70% Difco-Bacto agar (Difco[®]) and 25/19°C day night temperatures, 16h photoperiod of cool-white fluorescent light at 80 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹. For elongation the medium also consisted of WPM with 100 mg/l of myo-inositol, 2% sucrose 0.65% agaragar (Merk[®]) and 2% AC. In the case of multiplication, the medium was the same as in the elongation protocol, without AC and supplemented with 0.1 mg/L of NAA and 4mg/L of BAP. When microshoots reached at least 2 cm length they were transferred to the rooting medium. This was the protocol in use in the laboratory at the beginning of this thesis.

Even when micropropagation protocols for stone pine culture initiation, maintenance and multiplication had been established, the number of rooted shoots was of low frequency (as frequently observed in other conifers) and had a short growth span. Much effort was made to overcome a bottleneck in the *in vitro* adventitious root formation (ARF). Significant progress was made with different combinations of carbon source, light and temperature during the induction and expression phases of the ARF (Zavattieri et al. 2009).

Even when these results seemed quite promising, the adventitious roots formed stopped growing which complicated the process or made it impossible to transfer pine plants to *ex vitro* conditions. On the other hand, in parallel research, the LMBV group demonstrated that some fungi could help to overcome this difficulty: a co-culture double

phase solid system was devised to rescue halted root growth, with successful transition to acclimatization stages and outplanting. From a random sample of 12 fungi derived from soil samples from the pine stand of Mata de Valverde (Alcácer do Sal) at least 9 had positive effects (Oliveira et al. 2003). These results opened a new interesting field in the study of the beneficial effect of microorganisms in overcoming the rooting phase and improving acclimatization. In 2007 the Foundation for Science and Technology (FCT) funded the PTDC/AGR-CFL/71437/2006 project *"Analysis and mastering* of root growth signalling by ectomycorrhizal fungi in *Pinus pinea* L." coordinated by Prof. Amely Zavattieri (LMBV) for the continuation of biotization research involving stone pine and ectomycorrhizal fungi.

The project included a doctoral thesis with the following aims:

- to improve the rooting phase of Pinus pinea L.;

- to use *in vitro* co-culture (biotization) to solve *in vitro* rooting problems and increase acclimatization survival;

- to characterize the fungus-root interactions that enable the development of roots;

- to evaluate the causal relationships between sustained rooting *in vitro* and the subsequent performance of inoculated plants;

- to properly characterize the different species of ECM fungi collected in pine stands during all stages of biotization;

- to identify the primary factors controlling the development of the symbiosis and signalling mediators between ECM fungi and *Pinus pinea* roots.

This doctoral thesis focuses mainly on overcoming adventitious rooting problems in microshoots of *Pinus pinea* L. In this study, a new insight into the innovative biotization technique used in the micropropagation emphasises the potential for using ECM fungi to promote root growth. The identification of signalling mediators between ECM fungi and stone pine roots was facilitated by a rigorous molecular protocol developed to characterize the inoculated fungi.

10. Outline of the Doctoral Dissertation

This doctoral thesis was designed to be based on a number of papers that have been submitted or accepted for publication, or published, and that will provide an account of the research that underpins this thesis. Firstly, there is a general introduction (Chapter 1) and details of extensive bibliographical research are provided regarding the different subjects of the thesis. All the publications presented (Chapters 2-8) were written to stand alone, therefore, the reader may find some repetition in parts of the manuscripts, especially in the introduction and method sections. This results from the common use of the sample, instruments and procedures in the set of publications. All publications are linked to the rationale of the thesis and there is a logical sequence to them. To conclude, final considerations and future perspectives are presented (Chapter 9), comprising all issues addressed in the thesis. This doctoral thesis was organized on the basis of a clear research rationale; all the articles are linked so that the main aim is achieved.

11. References

- Agerer R (1987-2002) Colour Atlas of Ectomycorrhizae. Schwäbisch Gmünd, Germany: Einhorn-Verlag vol. 1-11.
- Agrimi M, Ciancio O (1994) Le pin pignon (*Pinus pinea* L.) 16^{eme} Session du Comité CFFSA/CEF/CFPO des questions fores-tières méditerranénnes Silva Mediterranea pp. 115.
- Ahmed Z, Akhter F, Haque MS, Banu H, Rahman MM, Faruquzzaman AKM (2001) Novel micropropagation system. Journal of Biological Sciences 11:1106-11.
- Ahuja MR (1993) Biotechnology and clonal forestry. In: Ahuja MR, Libby WJ (eds) Clonal forestry I, Genetics and biotechnology. Springer, Berlin pp.135-144.
- Akiyama K, Matsuzaki K, Hayashi H (2005) Plant sesquiterpenes induce hyphal branching in arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. Nature 435:824-27 doi:10.1038/nature03608.
- Alonso P, Moncaléan P, Fernández B, Rodríguez, A, Centeno, ML, Ordás RJ (2006) An improved micropropagation protocol for stone pine (*Pinus pinea* L.). Annals of Forest Science 63:879-885 doi:10.1051/forest:2006071.
- Alpuim M, Rocha ME (1994) Breve estudo biométrico sobre as características da pinha e semente de *Pinus pinea* L. In: Actas do III Congresso Florestal Nacional, Figueira da Foz, Portugal.
- Alves A, Phillips AJL, Henriques I, Correia A (2007) Rapid differentiation of species of Botryosphaeriaceae by PCR fingerprinting. Research in Microbiology 158(2):112-121 doi:10.1016/j.resmic.2006.10.003.
- Alves-Freitas DMT, Kilian A, Grattapaglia D (2011) Development of DArT (Diversity Arrays Technology) for high-throughput genotyping of *Pinus taeda* and closely related species. BMC Proceedings 5(Suppl. 7):P22 doi:10.1186/1753-6561-5-S7-P22.
- Amalesh S, Gouranga D, Sanjoy KD (2011) Roles of flavonoids in plants. International Journal of Pharmaceutical Science and Technology 6(1):12-35.
- Ammarellou A, Saremi H (2008) Mycorrhiza between *Kobresia bellardii* (All.) Degel and *Terfezia boudieri* Chatin. Turkish Journal of Botany 32:17-23.
- Anderson IC, Cairney JWG (2004) Diversity and ecology of soil fungal communities: increased understanding through the application of molecular techniques. Environmental Microbiology 6:769-779 doi:10.1111/j.1462-2920.2004.00675.
- Badri DV, Weir TL, van der Lelie D, Vivanco JM (2009) Rhizosphere chemical dialogues: plant-microbe interactions. Current Opinion in Biotechnology 20:642-650 doi:10.1016/j.copbio.2009.09.014
- Bahram M, Põlme S, Kõljalg U, Tedersoo L (2011) A single European aspen (*Populus tremula*) tree individual may potentially harbour dozens of *Cenococcum geophilum* ITS genotypes and hundreds of species of ectomycorrhizal fungi. FEMS
 Microbiology Ecology 75: 313-320 doi:10.1111/j.1574-6941.2010.01000.x
- Bais HP, Weir TL, Perry LG, Gilroy S, Vivanco JM (2006) The role of root exudates in rhizosphere interactions with plants and other organisms. Annual Review of Plant Biology 57:233-266 doi:10.1146/annurev.arplant.57.032905.105159
- Baldwin BG, Sanderson MJ, Porter JM, Wojciechowski MF, Campbell CS, Donoghue MJ (1995) The ITS region of nuclear ribosomal DNA: A valuable source of evidence on angiosperm phylogeny. Annals of the Missouri Botanical Garden 82(2):247-277.

- Baptista P, Tavares RM, Lino-Neto T (2011) Signaling in Ectomycorrhizal Symbiosis Establishment. Diversity and Biotechnology of Ectomycorrhizae Soil Biology 25(2): 157-175 doi:10.1007/978-3-642-15196-5_8.
- Barbéro M, Loisel R, Quézel P, Richardson DM, Romane F (1998) Pines of the Mediterranean basin. In: DM Richardson (ed.) Ecology and biogeography of *Pinus*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK. pp. 153-170.
- Barker SJ, Tagu D (2000) The roles of auxins and cytokinins in mycorrhizal symbioses. Journal of Plant Growth Regulation 19(2):144-54 doi:10.1007/s003440000021.
- Barker SJ, Stummer B, Gao L, Dispain I, O'Connor PJ, Smith SE (1998) A mutant in *Lycopersicon esculentum* Mill. with highly reduced VA mycorrhizal colonisation: isolation and preliminary characterisation. Plant Journal 15:791-797 doi:10.1046/j.1365-313X.1998.00252.x.
- Barreira LL, Alpuim M (1988) Contribuição para um programa de melhoramento de pinheiro manso. In: Actas do Encontro sobre Pinheiro manso. SPCF, Alcácer do Sal, Portugal.
- BDN (2008) Anuario de estadística forestal 2008 [Annual forestry statistics], Gobierno de España, Madrid. [online] http://www.marm.es/es/ biodiversidad/temas/montes-y-politica-forestal/estadisticas-forestales/2008/ default.aspx>.
- Béguiristain T, Lapeyrie F (1997) Host plant stimulates hypaphorine accumulation in *Pisolithus tinctorius* hyphae during ectomycorrhizal infection while excreted fungal hypaphorine controls root hair development. New Phytologist 136:525-532 doi:10.1046/j.1469-8137.1997.00753.x.
- Bellemain EP, Carlsen T, Brochmann C, Coissac E, Taberlet P, Kauserud H (2010) ITS as an environmental DNA barcode for fungi: an in silico approach reveals potential PCR biases. BMC Microbiology 10:189 doi:10.1186/1471-2180-10-189.
- Bending GD, Aspray TJ, Whipps JM (2006) Significance of Microbial Interactions in the Mycorrhizosphere. Advances in Applied Microbiology 60:97-132 doi:10.1016/S0065-2164(06)60004-X.
- Benmahioul B, Dorion N, Kaid-Harche M, Daguin F (2012) Micropropagation and *ex vitro* rooting of pistachio. Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture 108:353-358 doi:10.1007/s11240-011-0040-6.
- Bhowmik PK, Matsuiz (2001) Novel micropropagation system: a review. Pakistan Journal of Biological Sciences 4(2):117-120.
- Bonfante P, Genre A (2010) Mechanisms underlying beneficial plant-fungus interactions in mycorrhizal symbiosis. Nature Communications 1:48 doi:10.1038/ncomms1046.
- Bonfante P, Anca IA (2009) Plants, Mycorrhizal Fungi, and Bacteria: A Network of Interactions. Annual review of microbiology 63:363-383 doi:10.1146/annurev.micro.091208.073504.
- Bonga JM, Klimaszewska KK, von Aderkas P (2010) Recalcitrance in clonal propagation, in particular of conifers. Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture 100(3):241-256 doi:10.1007/s11240-009-9647-2.
- Bonga JM, Von Aderkas P, Klimaszewska K (2009) Conifers: Culture and Genetic Engineering. Encyclopedia of Industrial Biotechnology: Bioprocess, Bioseparation, and Cell Technology 1-5 doi:10.1002/9780470054581.eib240.
- Bonga JM, Klimaszewska K, Von Aderkas P (2003) Cell Procedures, Culture of Conifers. Encyclopedia of Cell Technology doi:10.1002/0471250570.spi057.

- Bonito G, Trappe JM, Donovan S, Vilgalys R (2011) The Asian black truffle *Tuber indicum* can form ectomycorrhizas with North American host plants and complete its life cycle in non-native soils. Fungal Ecology 4:83-93 doi:10.1016/j.funeco.2010.08.003.
- Broeckling CD, Broz AK, Bergelson J, Manter DK, Vivanco JM (2008) Root exudates regulate soil fungal community composition and diversity. Applied Environmental Microbiology 74(3):738-744 doi:10.1128/AEM.02188-07.
- Brundrett MC (2009) Mycorrhizal associations and other means of nutrition of vascular plants: understanding global diversity of host plants by resolving conflicting information and developing reliable means of diagnosis. Plant Soil 320:37-77 doi:10.1007/s11104-008-9877-9
- Brundrett MC (2004) Diversity and classification of mycorrhizal associations. Biological Reviews 79(3):473-495 doi:10.1017/S1464793103006316.
- Brundrett MC (2002) Coevolution of roots and mycorrhizas of land plants. New Phytologist 154(2): 275-304 doi:10.1046/j.1469-8137.2002.00397.
- Budimir S, Vujicic R (1992) Benzyladenine induction of buds and somatic embryogenesis in *Picea omorika* (Pancic) Purk. Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture 31(2):89-94 doi:10.1007/BF00037691.
- Burgess T, Dell B, Malajczuk N (1994) Variation in mycorrhizal development and growth stimulation by 20 *Pisolithus* isolates inoculated on to *Eucalyptus grandis* W.
 Hill ex Maiden. New Phytologist 127(4):731-739 doi:10.1111/j.1469-8137.1994.tb02977.x.
- Burns JA, Schwarz OJ, Schlarbaum SE (1991) Multiple shoot production from seedling explants of slash pine (*Pinus elliottii*, Engelm.). Plant Cell Reports 10(9):439-443 doi:10.1007/BF00233810.
- Cairney JWG (2011) Ectomycorrhizal fungi: the symbiotic route to the root for phosphorus in forest soils. Plant and Soil 344:51-71 doi:10.1007/s11104-011-0731-0
- Campbell M, Brunner AM, Jones H, Strauss SH (2003) Forestry's fertile crescent: the application of biotechnology to forest trees. Plant Biotechnology Journal 1:141-154 doi:10.1046/j.1467-7652.2003.00020.x.
- Caldeira AT, Salvador C, Pinto F, Arteiro JM, Martins, MR (2009) MSP-PCR and RAPD molecular biomarkers to characterize *Amanita ponderosa* mushrooms. Annals of Microbiology 59(3):629-634 doi:10.1007/BF03175156.
- Capuana M, Giannini R (1995) *In vitro* plantlet regeneration from embryonic explants of *Pinus pinea* L. In vitro Cellular & Developmental Biology-Plant. 31:202-206 doi:10.1007/BF02632022.
- Castro MR, Ragonezi C, Klimaszewska, K, Lima M, Oliveira P, Zavattieri MA (2010) Mycorrhiza-like structures in rooted microshoots of *Pinus pinea* L. Acta Horticulturae ISHS 865:179-185.
- Chandra S, Bandopadhyay R, Kumar V, Chandra R (2010) Acclimatization of tissue cultured plantlets: from laboratory to land. Biotechnology Letters 32(9):1199-1205 doi:10.1007/s10529-010-0290-0.
- Chang SH, Ho CK, Chen ZZ, Tsay JY (2001) Micropropagation of *Taxus mairei* from mature trees. Plant Cell Reports 20:496-502 doi:10.1007/s002990100362.
- Chase MW, Fay MF (2009) Barcoding of Plants and Fungi. Science 325:682-683 doi:10.1126/science.1176906.
- Chittora M, Suthar RK, Purohit SD (2010) Root Colonization and Improved Growth Performance of Micropropagated *Terminalia bellerica* Roxb. plantlets Inoculated

with *Piriformospora indica* during *ex vitro* acclimatization. Acta Horticulturae ISHS 865:193-198.

- Choudhury H, Kumaria S, Tandon P (2008) Induction and maturation of somatic embryos from intact megagametophyte explants in Khasi pine (*Pinus kesiya* Royle ex. Gord.). Current Science 95(10):1433-1438.
- Christenhusz MJM, Reveal J, Farjon A, Gardner MF, Mill RR, Chase MW (2011) A new classification and linear sequence of extant gymnosperms. Phytotaxa 19:55-70.
- Correia AC, Tomé M, Pacheco CA, Faias S, Dias AC, Freire J, Carvalho PO, Pereira JS (2010) Biomass allometry and carbon factors for a Mediterranean pine (*Pinus pinea* L.) in Portugal. Forest Systems 19(3):418-433.
- Cortizo M, de Diego N, Moncaleán P, Ordás RJ (2009) Micropropagation of adult Stone Pine (*Pinus pinea* L.). Trees - Structure and Function 23(4):835-842 doi:10.1007/s00468-009-0325-0.
- Dahm H, Golińska P (2011) Ectomycorrhiza and Secondary Metabolites. In Diversity and Biotechnology of Ectomycorrhizae Soil Biology, 25 (3) 371-385 doi:10.1007/978-3-642-15196-5_16.
- Dantas LM (1995) Micropropagação do pinheiro manso (*Pinus pinea* L.). Dissertation for the degree in Agricultural Engineering. University of Évora, Portugal.
- De Bary HA (1879) Die Erscheinung der Symbiose. Strassburg, Germany: Karl J Trübner.
- De Diego N, Montalbán IA, Moncaleán P (2009) *In vitro* regeneration of adult *Pinus sylvestris* L. trees. South African Journal of Botany. 76(1):158-162 doi:10.1016/j.sajb.2009.09.007.
- De Klerk GJ, Van der Krieken W, De Jong JC (1999) The formation of adventitious roots: new concepts, new possibilities. In vitro Cellular & Developmental Biology-Plant. 35(3):189-199 doi:10.1007/s11627-999-0076-z.
- Dell B, Malaiczuk N, Bougher NL, Thomson G (1994) Development and function of *Pisolithus* and *Scleroderma* ectomycorrhizas formed *in vivo* with *Allocasuarina*, *Casuarina* and *Eucalyptus*. Mycorrhiza 5(2):129-138 doi:10.1007/BF00202345.
- De Luis M, Novak K, Čufar K, Raventos J (2009b) Size mediated climate-growth relationships in *Pinus halepensis* and *Pinus pinea*. Trees-Structure and Function 23(5):1065-1073 doi: 10.1007/s00468-009-0349-5.
- Diamantoglou S, Panagopoulus I, Muñoz-Ferriz A, Rhizopoulou S (1990) *In vitro* studies of embryo growth, callus formation and multiple bud induction of *Pinus pinea* L. Journal of Plant Physiology 137(1):58-63 doi:10.1016/S0176-1617(11)80012-X.
- Díez J, Manjón JL, Kovács GM, Celestino C, Toribio M (2000) Mycorrhization of vitroplants raised from somatic embryos of cork oak (*Quercus suber* L.) Applied Soil Ecology 15(2):119-123 doi:10.1016/S0929-1393(00)00087-1.
- Dumas E, Monteuuis O (1995) *In vitro* rooting of micropropagated shoots from juvenile and mature *Pinus pinaster* explants: influence of activated charcoal. Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture 40(3):23 1-235 doi:10.1007/BF00048128.
- Egger KN (1995) Molecular analysis of ectomycorrhizal fungal communities. Canadian Journal of Botany 73(1):1415-1422 doi:10.1139/b95-405.
- Esau K (1953) Differentiation in shoot and root axes. In: Growth and Differentiation in Plants (ed.) WE Loomis, Iowa State College Press, pp. 69-100.
- Euforgen (2009) Distribution map of Italian stone pine (*Pinus pinea*) [online] http://www.euforgen.org/fileadmin/www.euforgen.org/Documents/Maps/JPG/Pinus_pinea.jpg.

- Evaristo I, Tenreiro R, Costa R (2007) Caracterização Molecular de Genótipos Seleccionados de Pinheiro Manso para o Controlo da Qualidade do Pinhão. Silva Lusitana, 15(2):139-170 ">http://www.scielo.gpeari.mctes.pt/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S0870-63522007000200001&lng=pt&nrm=iso>">http://www.scielo.gpeari.mctes.pt/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S0870-63522007000200001&lng=pt&nrm=iso>">http://www.scielo.gpeari.mctes.pt/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S0870-63522007000200001&lng=pt&nrm=iso>">http://www.scielo.gpeari.mctes.pt/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S0870-63522007000200001&lng=pt&nrm=iso>">http://www.scielo.gpeari.mctes.pt/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S0870-63522007000200001&lng=pt&nrm=iso>">http://www.scielo.gpeari.mctes.pt/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S0870-63522007000200001&lng=pt&nrm=iso>">http://www.scielo.gpeari.mctes.pt/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S0870-63522007000200001&lng=pt&nrm=iso>">http://www.scielo.gpeari.mctes.pt/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S0870-63522007000200001&lng=pt&nrm=iso>">http://www.scielo.gpeari.mctes.pt/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S0870-63522007000200001&lng=pt&nrm=iso>">http://www.scielo.gpeari.mctes.pt/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S0870-63522007000200001&lng=pt&nrm=iso>">http://www.scielo.gpeari.mctes.pt/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S0870-63522007000200001&lng=pt&nrm=iso>">http://www.scielo.gpeari.mctes.pt/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext@science:arttext@sci
- Ewald D (2007a) Micropropagation of *Larix* species via organogenesis. In: Jain SM, Häggman H (eds) Protocols for micropropagation of woody trees and fruits. Springer, Dordrecht, pp. 125-136 doi: 10.1007/978-1-4020-6352-712.
- Ewald D (2007b) Micropropagation of yew (*Taxus baccata* L.) In: Jain SM, Häggman H (eds), Protocols for micropropagation of woody trees and fruits. Springer, Dordrecht, pp 117-123 doi:10.1007/s002990100362.
- Ewald D (1998) Advances in tissue culture of adult larch. In vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology-Plant. 34:325-330 doi:10.1007/BF02822742.
- Fady B, Fineschi S, Vendramin GG (2004) EUFORGEN Technical Guidelines for genetic conservation and use for Italian stone pine (*Pinus pinea*). International Plant Genetic Resources Institute, Rome, Italy. 6pp.
- Farjon A (2008) A Natural History of Conifers. Timber Press, Portland, Oregon. 304pp.
- Farjon A (2001) World Checklist and Bibliography of Conifers. 2nd edition. Kew: Board of Trustees of the Royal Botanic Gardens, England.
- Faye M, Rancillac M, David A (1980) Determinism of the mycorrhizogenic root formation in *Pinus pinaster.* Sol. New Phytologist 87(3):557-565 doi:10.1111/j.1469-8137.1981.tb03226.x.
- Felten J, Martin F, Legué V (2012) Signalling in Ectomycorrhizal Symbiosis. Signaling and Communication in Plants 10:123-142 doi:10.1007/978-3-642-20966-6_6.
- Frabetti M, Pesce-Gutierrez P, Mendoza-de Gyes E, Rugini E (2009) Micropropagation of *Teucrium fruticans* L., an ornamental and medicinal plant. In vitro Cellular & Developmental Biology-Plant 45(2):129-134 doi: 10.1007/s11627-009-9192-z.
- Frey-Klett P, Garbaye J, Tarkka M (2007) The mycorrhiza helper bacteria revisited. New Phytologist 176(1):22-36 doi:10.1111/j.1469-8137.2007.02191.x.
- Gamper HA, Walker C, Schüßler A (2009) *Diversispora celata* sp. nov: molecular ecology and phylotaxonomy of an inconspicuous arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus. New Phytologist 182(2):495-506 doi:10.1111/j.1469-8137.2008.02750.x.
- Garcia-Ferriz L, Serrano L, Pardos JA (1994) *In vitro* shoot organogenesis from excised immature cotyledons and microcuttings production in Stone Pine. Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture 36(1):135-140 doi:10.1007/BF00048324.
- Gardes M, Bruns T (1993) ITS primers with enhanced specificity for basidiomycetes application to the identification of mycorrhizae and rusts. Molecular Ecology, 2(2):113-118 doi:10.1111/j.1365-294X.1993.tb00005.x.
- Gardes M, White TJ, Fortin JA, Bruns TD, Taylor JW (1991b) Identification of indigenous and introduced symbiotic fungi in ectomycorrhizae by amplification of nuclear and mitochondrial ribosomal DNA. Canadian Journal of Botany 69(1):180-190 doi:10.1139/b91-026.
- Gay G, Bartschi H, Grange O (1992) Ectomycorrhizal fungi as a tool to enhance rooting of micropropagated cuttings. In: Micropropagation, root regeneration, and mycorrhizas. Joint meeting between COST 87 and COST 8.10, Dijon, France; 43.
- George EF, Hall MA, De Klerk G-J (2008) Plant tissue culture procedure background. In: Plant propagation by tissue culture. 3rd (ed.) Dordrecht: Springer, pp. 1-28 doi:10.1007/978-1-4020-5005-3_1.

- Gernandt DS, Willyard A, Syring JV, Liston A (2011) The conifers (Pinophyta). In: Plomion C, Bousquet J, Kole, C (Eds.), Genetics, Genomics, and Breeding of Conifers. Science Publishers, America, pp. 1-39.
- Godt MJW, Hamrick JL (1997) Genetic diversity in the endangered lily *Harperocallis flava* and a close relative, *Tofieldia racemosa*. Conservation Biology 11(2):361-366 doi:10.1046/j.1523-1739.1997.95439.x.
- Gogala N (1991) Regulation of mycorrhizal infection by hormonal factors produced by hosts and fungi. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences 47(4):331-339 doi:10.1007/BF01972074.
- Gomes EA, Kasuya MCM, Barros EG, Borges AC (2002) Polymorphism in the internal transcribed spacer (ITS) of the ribosomal DNA of 26 isolates of ectomycorrhizal fungi. Genetics and Molecular Biology 25(4):477-483.
- González MV, Rey M, Tabaza R, La Malfa S, Cuozzo L, Ancora G (1998) *In vitro* adventitious shoot formation on cotyledons of *Pinus pinea*. HortScience 33(4):749-750.
- Gosal SK, Chandi GK, Gosal SS, Varma A (2008) Role of *Piriformospora indica* and *Pseudomonas fluorescens* as growth promoting agents in biotized micropropagated plants of *Populus deltoides*. Indian Journal of Agroforestry. 10(2):84-90.
- Grange O, Bärtschi H, Gay G (1997) Effect of the ectomycorrhizal fungi *Hebeloma cylindrosporum* on *in vitro* rooting of micropropagated cuttings of arbuscular mycorrhiza-forming *Prunus avium* and *Prunus cerasus*. Trees Structure and Function. 12(1):49-56 doi:10.1007/PL00009696.
- Greenwood MS (1995) Juvenility and maturation in conifers: current concepts. Tree Physiology 15:433-438 doi:10.1093/treephys/15.7-8.433.
- Greenwood MS, Hutchison KW (1993) Maturation as a developmental process. In: Clonal forestry I - Genetics and biotechnology. Ahuja, MR and Libby, WJ (eds). Springer-Verlag, New York, pp 14-33.
- Gresshoff PM, Doy CH (1972) Development and differentiation of haploid *Lycopersicon esculentum* (tomato). Plant 17:161-170 doi:10.1007/BF00387721.
- Grunewaldt-Stoecker G (1997) Problems with the health of *in vitro* propagated *Anthurium* spp. and *Phalaenopsis* hybrids. In: Cassells AC editor. Pathogen and microbial contamination management in micropropagation. Dordrecht NL: Kluwer Academic Publishers, pp. 363-370.
- Gupta PK, Durzan DJ (1985) Shoot multiplication from mature Douglas-fir and sugar pine. Plant Cell Reports 4:177-179.
- Hassan S, Mathesius U (2012) The role of flavonoids in root-rhizosphere signalling: opportunities and challenges for improving plant-microbe interactions. Journal of Experimental Botany 63(9):3429-3444 doi:10.1093/jxb/err430.
- Harrison MJ (2005) Signaling in the arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis. Annual Review of Microbiology 59:19-42 doi:10.1146/annurev.micro.58.030603.123749.
- Hartmann HT, Kester DE, Davis Jr FT, Geneve RL (2002) In: Plant propagation: principles and practices. 7th ed. Prentice-Hall Inc., Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey, pp.896.
- Hazarika BN (2003) Acclimatization of tissue-cultured plants. Current Science 85(12):1704-1712.
- Hess CE (1994) Biology of Adventitious Root Formation. In: Davis TD and Haissig BE (eds.). Plenum Press, New York.

- Hibbett DS, Matheny PB (2009) The relative ages of ectomycorrhizal mushrooms and their plant hosts estimated using Bayesian relaxed molecular clock analyses. BMC Biology 7:1-13 doi:10.1186/1741-7007-7-13.
- Hibbett DS, Gilbert L-B, Donoghue MJ (2000) Evolutionary instability of ectomycorrhizal symbioses in basidiomycetes. Nature 407:506-508
- Horgan K (1987) *Pinus radiata.* In: Cell and Tissue Culture in Forestry. Eds. J.M. Bonga and D.J. Durzan. Martinus Nijhoff Publishers, Dordrecht, pp. 128-145.
- Horton TR, Bruns TD (2001) The molecular evolution in ectomycorrhizal ecology: peeking into the black box. Molecular Ecology 10(8):1855-1871 doi:10.1046/j.0962-1083.2001.01333.x.
- Humara JM, Lopez M, Ordás RJ (1999) *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* mediated transformation of *Pinus pinea* L. cotyledons: an assessment of factors influencing the efficiency of *uidA* gene transfer. Plant Cell Reports 19(1): 51-58 doi:10.1007/s002990050709.
- IFN5 (2010) Inventário Florestal Nacional. IFN5 2005-2006. Portugal Continental. [National Forest Inventory. IFN5 2005-2006. Continental Portugal]. Autoridade Florestal Nacional, Lisboa, Portugal.
- Iliev I, Gaj dosova A, Libiak G, Jain SM (2010) Plant micropropagation. In: Davey M., Anthony P. (Eds). Plant Cell Culture: Essential Methods, John Wiley & Sons Ltd., pp. 1-23.
- Iotti M, Zambonelli A (2006) A quick and precise technique for identifying ectomycorrhizas by PCR. Mycological Research. 110:60-65 doi:10.1016/j.mycres.2005.09.010.
- Ishii K, Hosoi Y, Maruyama E (2007) Micropropagation of *Pinus armandii* var. *amamiana*. In: Jain SM, Häggman H (eds), Protocols for micropropagation of woody trees and fruits. Springer, Dordrecht, pp 41-50 doi:10.1007/978-1-4020-6352-7_5.
- Integrated Taxonomic Information System (ITIS) (2012) On-line database, http://www.itis.gov.
- Kanchanaprayudh J, Zhou Z, Yomyart S, Sihanonth P, Hogetsu T (2003) Molecular phylogeny of ectomycorrhizal *Pisolithus* fungi associated with pine, dipterocarp, and eucalyptus trees in Thailand. Mycoscience 44(4):287-294 doi:10.1007/s10267-003-0110-7.
- Kaska DD, Myllyla R, Cooper JB (1999) Auxin transport inhibitors act through ethylene to regulate dichotomous branching of lateral root meristems in pine. New Phytologist 142(1):49-58 doi:10.1046/j.1469-8137.1999.00379.x
- Khaldi A, Ammar RB, Woo SY, Akrimi N, Zid E (2011) Salinity tolerance of hydroponically grown *Pinus pinea* L. seedlings. Acta Physiologiae Plantarum 33(3): 765-775 doi:10.1007/s11738-010-0601-z.
- Kiers ET, Duhamel M, Beesetty Y, Mensah JA, Franken O, Verbruggen E, Fellbaum CR, Kowalchuk GA, Hart MM, Bago A, Palmer TM, West SA, Vandenkoornhuyse P, Jansa J, Bücking H (2011) Reciprocal rewards stabilize cooperation in the mycorrhizal symbiosis. Science 333:880-882 doi:10.1126/science.1208473.
- Kiers ET, van der Heijden MGA (2006) Mutualistic stability in the arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis: exploring hypotheses of evolutionary cooperation. Ecology 87:1627-1636.
- Klimaszewska K, Park YS, Bonga JM (2011) Tissue culture research at the CFS: Its history, current status and potential benefits. Catalogue Nº: Fo114-11/2011E-PDF

http://publications.gc.ca/collections/collection_2011/rncan-nrcan/Fo114-11-2011eng.pdf ISBN: 978-1-100-18275-9p pp. 32.

- Klimaszewska K, Trontin J-F, Becwar MR, Devillard C, Park Y-S, Lelu-Walter M-A (2007) Recent Progress in somatic embryogenesis of four *Pinus* spp. Tree and Forestry Science and Biotechnology 1(1):11-25. Global Science Books.
- Kõljalg U, Tammi H, Timonen S, Agerer R, Sen R (2002) ITS rDNA nucleotide sequence-based phylogenetic analysis of *Tomentellopsis* species from boreal and temperate forests, and the identification of pink-type ectomycorrhizas. Mycological Progress 1(1):81-92 doi:10.1007/s11557-006-0007-x.
- Kottke I, Oberwinkler F (1986) Mycorrhiza of some forest trees structure and function. Trees - Structure and Function 1:1-24 doi:10.1007/BF00197021.
- Landeweert R, Leeflang P, Kuyper TW, Hoffland E, Rosling A, Wernars K, Smit E (2003a) Molecular identification of ectomycorrhizal mycelium in soil horizons. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 69(1):327-333 doi:10.1128/AEM.69.1.327-333.2003
- Landerweert R, Hoffland E, Finlay RD, Kuyper TW, van Breemen N (2001) Linking plants to rocks: ectomycorrhizal fungi mobilize nutrients from minerals. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 16(5):248-254 doi:10.1016/S0169-5347(01)02122-X.
- Lanfranco L, Perotto S, Bonfante P (1998) Applications of PCR for studying the biodiversity of mycorrhizal fungi. In: Applications of PCR in Mycology (eds) Bridge PD, Arora DK, Reddy CA, Elander RP, CAB International, UK pp. 107-124.
- Le Page BA, Currah RS, Stockey RA, Rothwell GW (1997) Fossil ectomycorrhizae from the middle Eocene. American Journal of Botany 84(3):410-412.
- Li SW, Xue L, Xu S, Feng H, An L (2009) Mediators, genes and signaling in adventitious rooting. The Botanical Review 75(2):230-247 doi:10.1007/s12229-009-9029-9.
- Libby WJ, Ahuja MR (1993) The genetics of clones. In: Clonal Forestry I. Genetics and Biotechnology. (eds.) MR Ahuja and WJ Libby. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, pp. 5-13.
- Linderman RG (1988) Mycorrhizal interactions with the rhizosphere microflora: the mycorrhizosphere effect. Phytopathology 78(3):366-371.
- Loureiro J, Capelo A, Brito G, Rodriguez E, Silva S, Pinto G, Santos C (2007) Micropropagation of *Juniperus phoenicea* from adult plant explants and analysis of ploidy stability using flow cytometry. Biologia Plantarum 51:7-14 doi:10.1007/s10535-007-0003-2.
- Lovato PE, Trouvelot A, Gianinazzi-Pearson V, Gianinazzi S (2006) Enhanced growth of wild cherry using micropropagated plants and mycorrhizal inoculation. Agronomy for Sustainable Development 26(3):209-213 doi:10.1051/agro:2006017.
- Lloyd G, McCown B (1981) Commercially feasible micropropagation of mountain laurel, *Kalmia latifolia*, by the use of shoot tip culture. Proceedings of the International Plant Propagation Society 30:421-427.
- Lynn DG, Chang M (1990) Phenolic signals in cohabitation: implications for plant development. Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology 41:497-526 doi:10.1146/annurev.pp.41.060190.002433.
- Mandal SM, Chakraborty D, Dey S (2010) Phenolic acids act as signaling molecules in plant-microbe symbioses. Plant Signaling & Behavior 5(4):359-368 doi:10.4161/psb.5.4.10871
- Mandhare VK, Suryawanshi AV (2005) Biotization of banana tissue cultured plantlets with VAM fungi. Agricultural Science Digest 25(1):65-67.

- Martin F, Kohler A, Duplessis S (2007) Living in harmony in the wood underground: ectomycorrhizal genomics. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 10(2):204-210 doi:10.1016/j.pbi.2007.01.006,
- Martin F (2007) Fair trade in the underworld: the ectomycorrhizal symbiosis, In Biology of the Fungal Cell: The Mycota VIII (2nd edn) Howard, RJ and Gow, NAR (eds), Springer-Verlag, pp. 291-308.
- Martin F, Duplessis S, Ditengou F, Lagrange H, Voiblet C, Lapeyrie F (2001) Developmental cross talking in the ectomycorrhizal symbiosis: signals and communication genes. New Phytologist 151(1):145-154 doi:10.1046/j.1469-8137.2001.00169.x.
- Martins A (2008) *In vitro* mycorrhization of micropropagated plants: Studies on *Castanea sativa* Mill. ZA Siddiqui et al. (eds.), Mycorrhizae: Sustainable Agriculture and Forestry, Springer, Dordrecht, The Netherlands, pp.321-336.
- Martins A, Barroso J, Pais MS (1996) Effect of ectomycorrhizal fungi on survival and growth of micropropagated plants and seedlings of *Castanea sativa* mill. Mycorrhiza 6(4):265-270 doi:10.1007/s005720050135.
- Marx DH (1969) The influence of ectotrophic fungi on the resistance of pine roots to pathogenic infections. I. Antagonism of mycorrhizal fungi to root pathogenic fungi and soil bacteria. Phytopathology 59:153-163.
- Medina ML (1996) Multiplicação *in vitro* de *Pinus pinea* L., Final dissertation for obtaining the degree in Agricultural Engineering. University of Évora.
- Merkle SA, Dean JF (2000) Forest tree biotechnology. Current Opinion in Biotechnology 11(3):298-302 doi:10.1016/S0958-1669(00)00099-9.
- Mello A, Ghignone S, Vizzini A, Sechi C, Ruiu P, Bonfante, P (2006) ITS primers for the identification of marketable boletes. Journal of Biotechnology 121(3):318-329 doi:10.1016/j.jbiotec.2005.08.022.
- Metivier PSR (2000) *In vitro* studies of adventitious root formation in four woody species. A dissertation for the degree of Master of Science, University of Calgary. http://hdl.handle.net/1880/41111.
- Miachir JI, Romani VLM, Amarol AFDC, Mello M, Crocarno OJ, Melo M (2004) Micropropagation and callogenesis of *Curcuma zedoaria* Rosocoe. Scientia Agricola 61(4):427-432.
- Mitchell RG, Zwolinski J, Jones NB (2004) A review on the effects of donor maturation on rooting and field performance of conifer cuttings. Southern African Forestry Journal 201(1):53-63 doi:10.1080/20702620.2004.10431774.
- Moncaleán P, Alonso P, Centeno ML, Cortizo M, Rodríguez A, Fernández B, Ordás RJ (2005) Organogenic responses of *Pinus pinea* cotyledons to hormonal treatments: BA metabolism and cytokinin content. Tree Physiology 25(1):1-9 doi:10.1093/treephys/25.1.1.
- Moncaleán P, Alonso P, Centeno ML, Rodríguez A, Fernández B, Cortizo M, Ordás RJ (2003) Cytokinins and morphogenesis in P. pinea cotyledons. In: Espinel S, Barredo Y and Ritter E (Eds) Sustainable Forestry Wood Products and Biotechnology. Vitoria-Gasteiz: DFA-AFA Press, pp. 71-77.
- Montero G, Martinez F, Alia R, Candela JA, Ruiz-Peinado R, Canellas I, Mutke S, Calama R (2004) Generalidades de *Pinus pinea* L. In: Montero G, Candela JA, Rodriguez A (eds) El pino pinonero (*Pinus pinea* L.) en Andalucía. Ecología, distribución y selvicultura. Consejería de Medio Ambiente, Junta de Andalucía, Sevilla.

- Montoliu A, Gómez-Cadenas A, Pérez-Clemente R (2010) *In vitro* adventitious rooting of Carrizo citrange microshoots. HortScience 45(6):988-990.
- Morris HM, Smith ME, Rizzo DM, Rejmánek M, Beldsoe CS (2008) Contrasting ectomycorrhizal fungal communities on the roots of co-occurring oaks (*Quercus* spp.) in a California woodland. New Phytologist 178(1):167-176 doi:10.1111/j.1469-8137.2007.02348.x.
- Mott RL, Amerson HV (1981) A tissue culture process for the clonal production of loblolly pine plantlets. North Carolina Ag Res Sr Tech Bull 271,14p.
- Moussouris Y, Regato P (1999) Forest harvest: an overview of non timber forest products in the Mediterranean Region. http://www.fao.org/docrep/x5593e/x5593e00.
- Mullis KB, Faloona FA (1987) Specific synthesis of DNA *in vitro* via a polymerasecatalyzed chain reaction. Methods in Enzymology 155:335-350.
- Murashige T, Skoog F (1962) A revised medium for rapid growth and bio-assays with tobacco tissue cultures. Physiologia Plantarum 15:473-497.
- Murphy J, Mark L, Periappuram C, Walsh C, Cassells AC (1997) Microbial characterization and preparation of inoculum for *in vitro* mycorrhization of strawberry in autotrophic culture. In: Cassells AL (ed.). Pathogen and microbial contamination management in micropropagation. Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic Pub., pp. 345-350.
- Mutke S, Gordo J, Gil L (2005) Cone yield characterization of a stone pine (*Pinus pinea* L.) clone bank. Silvae Genetica 54:189-197.
- Neale DB, Kremer A (2011) Forest tree genomics: growing resources and applications. Nature Reviews Genetics 12:111-122 doi:10.1038/nrg2931.
- Nehls U, Wiese J, Hampp R (2000) External super concentration as a signal controlling gene expression. In: Podila GK and Douds Jr. DD (eds.). Current Advances in Mycorrhizae Research. American Phytopathological Society, St. Paul, MN, pp. 19-26.
- Nergiz C, Dönmez I (2004) Chemical composition and nutritional value of *Pinus pinea* L. seeds. Food Chemistry 85(3):365-368 doi:10.1016/j.foodchem.2003.09.009.
- Niemi K, Salonen M, Ernstsen A, Heinonen-Tanski H, Häggman H (2000) Application of ectomycorrhizal fungi in rooting of Scots pine fascicular shoots. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 30(8):1221-1230 doi:10.1139/x00-059.
- Normand L, Bärtschi H, Debaud JC, Gay G (1996) Rooting and acclimatization of micropropagated cuttings of *Pinus pinaster* and *Pinus sylvestris* are enhanced by the ectomycorrhizal fungi *Hebeloma cylindrosporum*. Physiologia Plantarum 98(4):759-766 doi:10.1111/j.1399-3054.1996.tb06682.x.
- Nowak J (1998) Benefits of *in vitro* 'biotization' of plant tissue cultures with microbial inoculants. *In vitro* Cellular & Developmental Biology Plant 34(2):122-130 doi:10.1007/BF02822776.
- Oliveira P, Barriga J, Cavaleiro C, Peixe A, Potes (2003) Sustained *in vitro* root development obtained in *Pinus pinea* L. inoculated with ectomycorrhizal fungi. Forestry 76(5):579-587 doi:10.1093/forestry/76.5.579.
- Ordás R, Alonso P, Cuesta C, Cortizo M, Rodríguez A, Fernández B (2007) Micropropagation of *Pinus pinea* L. In: Protocols for Micropropagation of Woody Trees and Fruits (ed.) Jain, S. Mohan, Häggman, H. pp.33-39 doi:10.1007/978-1-4020-6352-7_4.
- Özkurt Z, Yildirim T, Önde S, Kaya Z (2008) Induction of embryogenic tissue from immature zygotic embryos in *Pinus nigra* J.F. Arnold subsp. *nigra* var. *caramanica* (Loudon) Businsky. Turkish Journal of Botany 32:179-183.

- Padilla I, Vidoy I, Encina C (2009) Influence of indole-butyric acid and electro-pulse on in vitro rooting and development of olive (Olea europea L.) microshoots. Plant Cell Reports 28(9):1411-1420 doi:10.1007/s00299-009-0740-0.
- Pandey (2002) Influence of Fungal auxin on host plant gene expression during ectomycorrhiza formation. Doctoral thesis. http://hdl.handle.net/123456789/226
- Parasharami VA, Poonawala IS, Nadgauda RS (2003) Bud break and plantlet regeneration *in vitro* from mature trees of *Pinus roxburghii* Sarg. Current Science 84(2):203-208.
- Park Y-S, Barrett JD, Bonga JM (1998) Application of somatic embryogenesis in highvalue clonal forestry: deployment, genetic control, and stability of cryopreserved clones. In vitro Cellular & Developmental Biology - Plant 34(3):231-239 doi:10.1007/BF02822713.
- Plett JM, Martin F (2012) Poplar Root Exudates Contain Compounds that Induce the Expression of MiSSP7 in *Laccaria bicolor*. Plant Signaling & Behavior 7(1):12-15 doi:10.4161/psb.7.1.18357
- Podila GK (2002) Signalling in mycorrhizal symbioses-elegant mutants lead the way. New Phytologist 154(3):541-551 doi:10.1046/j.1469-8137.2002.00434_1.x.
- Preece JE (2003) A century of progress with vegetative plant propagation. HortScience 38(5):1015-1025.
- Prehn D, Serrano C, Mercado A, Stange C, Barrales L, Arce-Johnson P (2003) Regeneration of whole plants from apical meristems of *Pinus radiata*. Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture 73(1):91-94 doi: 10.1023/A:1022615212607.
- Procheş Ş, Wilson JRU, Richardson DM, Rejmánek M (2012) Native and naturalized range size in *Pinus*: relative importance of biogeography, introduction effort and species traits. Global Ecology and Biogeography 21(5):513-523 doi:10.1111/j.1466-8238.2011.00703.x.
- Quorin M, Lepoivre P (1977) Études de milieux adaptes aux cultures *in vitro* de *Prunus*. Acta Horticulturae 78:437-442
- Quinn CJ, Price RA (2003) Phylogeny of the southern hemisphere conifers. Acta Horticulturae (ISHS) 615:129-136.
- Ragonezi C, Caldeira AT, Martins MR, Dias LS, Santos-Silva C, Ganhão E, Miralto O, Pereira I, Louro R, Klimaszewska K, Zavattieri MA (2012) *Pisolithus arhizus* (Scop.)
 Rauschert improves growth of adventitious roots and acclimatization on *in vitro* regenerated plantlets of *Pinus pinea*. Propagation of Ornamental Plants 12:139-147.
- Ragonezi C, Castro MR, Klimaszewska K, Lima M, Zavattieri MA (2010a) Influence of light quality and intensity on adventitious root formation in microshoots of *Pinus pinea* L. Acta Horticulturae ISHS. 865:287-291.
- Ragonezi C, Klimaszewska K, Castro MR, Lima M, Oliveira P, Zavattieri MA (2010b) Adventitious rooting of conifers: influence of physical and chemical factors. Trees -Structure and Function 24(6):975-992 doi:10.1007/s00468-010-0488-8.
- Rajaratnam S, Thiagarajan T (2012) Molecular characterization of wild mushroom. European Journal of Experimental Biology 2(2):369-373.
- Razdan MK (2003) Introduction to Plant Tissue Culture. Science Publishers, Inc., Enfield, USA, pp.375.
- Reddy MS, Satyanarayana T (1998) Ectomycorrhizal formation in micropropagated plantlets of *Populus deltoides*. Symbiosis 25:343-348.

- Reich M, Kohler A, Martin F, Buee M (2009) Development and validation of an oligonucleotide microarray to characterize ectomycorrhizal fungal communities. BMC Microbiology 9:241 doi:10.1186/1471-2180-9-241.
- Reis FS, Ferreira ICFR, Barros L, Martins A (2011) A comparative study of tocopherols composition and antioxidant properties of in vivo and *in vitro* ectomycorrhizal fungi.
 LWT Food Science and Technology 44(4):820-824 doi:10.1016/j.lwt.2010.11.033.
- Renau-Morata B, Ollero J, Arrillaga I, Segura J (2005) Factors influencing axillary shoot proliferation and adventitious budding in cedar. Tree Physiology 25(4):477-486 doi:10.1093/treephys/25.4.477.
- Requena N, Serrano E, Ocon A, Breuninger M (2007) Plant signals and fungal perception during arbuscular mycorrhiza establishment. Phytochemistry 68(1):33-40 doi:10.1016/j.phytochem.2006.09.036.
- Richardson DM (1998) Ecology and biography of *Pinus*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 527.
- Rikli M (1943) Das Pflanzenkleid der Mittelmeerländer 1:209-216. Bern.
- Robledo AP, Villalobos VM., Santacruz A (2009) Inducción eficiente de brotes adventicios en cotilédones de *Pinus maximartinezii* Rzedowski. Acta Botánica Mexicana 89:47-62.
- Rodrigo A, Retana J, Picó X (2004) Direct regeneration is not the only response of Mediterranean forests to large fires. Ecology 85(3):716-729 doi:10.1890/02-0492.
- Rosling A (2003) Responses of ectomycorrhizal fungi to mineral substrates. Doctoral Thesis, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Sweden.
- Rudawska ML, Kieliszewska RB (1997) Mycorrhizal formation of *Paxillus involutus* strains in relation to their IAA-synthesizing activity. New Phytologist 137(3):509-517 doi:10.1046/j.1469-8137.1997.00838.x.
- Rupp LA, Mudge W (1985) Ethephon and auxin induce mycorrhiza like changes in the morphology of root organ cultures of mugo pine. Physiologia Plantarum 64(3):316-322 doi:10.1111/j.1399-3054.1985.tb03346.x.
- Saadat Y, Hennerty M (2001) Effects of different *in vitro* and *ex vitro* treatments on the rooting performance of Persian walnut (*Juglans regia* L.) microshoots. Acta Horticulturae 544:473-480.
- Saborio F, Dvorak WS, Donahue JK, Thorpe TA (1997) *In vitro* regeneration of plantlets from mature embryos of *Pinus ayacahuite*. Tree Physiology 17(12):787-796 doi:10.1093/treephys/17.12.787.
- Salaj T, Blehova A, Salaj J (2007) Embryogenic suspension cultures of *Pinus nigra* Arn.: growth parameters and maturation ability. Acta Physiologiae Plantarum 29(3):225-231 doi:10.1007/s11738-007-0028-3.
- Sarmast MK, Hassan S, Khosh-Khui M (2012) Micropropagation of *Araucaria excelsa* R. Br. var. *glauca* Carrière from orthotropic stem explants. Physiology and Molecular Biology of Plants 18(3):265-271 doi:10.1007/s12298-012-0115-9.
- Savage GP (2001) Chemical composition of walnuts (*Juglans regia* L.) grown in New Zealand. Plants Foods for Human Nutrition 56(1):75-82 doi:10.1023/A:1008175606698.
- Scervino J, Ponce M, Erra-Balsells R, Vierheilig H, Ocampo JA, Godeas A (2005a) Flavonoids exhibit fungal species and genus specific effects on the presymbiotic growth of *Gigaspora* and *Glomus*. Mycological Research 109(1):789-794 doi:10.1017/S0953756205002881.

- Schenk RU, Hildebrandt AC (1972) Medium and techniques for induction and growth of monocotyledonous and dicotyledonous plant cell cultures. Canadian Journal of Botany 50:199-204.
- Seiffert KA (2009) Progress towards DNA barcoding of fungi. Molecular Ecology Resources 9:83-89 doi:10.1111/j.1755-0998.2009.02635.x.
- Senthilkumar M, Madhaiyan M, Sundaram SP, Sangeetha H, Kannaiyan S (2008)
 Induction of endophytic colonization in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) tissue culture plants by
 Azorhizobium caulinodans. Biotechnology Letters 30(8):1477-1487
 doi:10.1007/s10529-008-9693-6.
- Singh VP (2006) Gymnosperm (naked Seeds Plant) Structure and Development (1st ed.). Publis. Prabhat Kumar Sharma for Sarup & Sons. ISBN 81-7625-671-4.
- Slankis V (1973) Hormonal relationships in mycorrhiza. In: Ectomycorrhizae: Their Ecology and Physiology. Marks GC, Kozlowski TT (ed.). Academic Press, New York. pp. 231-298.

Smith SE, Smith FA (2011) Roles of arbuscular mycorrhizas in plant nutrition and growth: new paradigms from cellular to ecosystem scales. Annual Review of Plant Biology 62:227-250 doi:10.1146/annurev-arplant-042110-103846.

- Smith SE, Read DJ (2008) Mycorrhizal Symbiosis, 3rd edn. Academic, London.
- Soll DR (2000) The ins and outs of DNA fingerprinting the infectious fungi. Clinical Microbiology Reviews 13(2):332-370 doi:10.1128/CMR.13.2.332-370.2000.
- Sorin C, Negroni L, Balliau T, Corti H, Jacquemot MP, Davanture M, Sandberg G, Zivy, M, Bellini C (2006) Proteomic analysis of different mutant genotypes of *Arabidopsis* led to the identification of 11 proteins correlating with adventitious root development. Plant Physiology 140(1):349-364 doi:10.1104/pp.105.067868.
- Splivallo R, Fischer U, Gobel C, Feussner I, Karlovsky P (2009) Truffles regulate plant root morphogenesis via the production of auxin and ethylene. Plant Physiol 150(4):218-229 doi:10.1104/pp.109.141325.
- Steinkellner S, Lendzemo V, Langer I, Schweiger P, Khaosaad T, Toussaint J-P, Vierheilig H (2007) Flavonoids and strigolactones in root exudates as signals in symbiotic and pathogenic plant- fungus interactions. Molecules, 12(7):1290-1306 doi:10.3390/12071290.
- Stewart WN, Rothwell GW (1993) Paleobotany and the Evolution of Plants, 2nd (ed.) Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.
- Stojičić D, Janosevic D, Uzelac B, Čokesa V, Snezana B (2012) *In vitro* zygotic embryo culture of *Pinus peuce* Gris.: Optimization of culture conditions affecting germination and early seedling growth. Archives of Biological Science 64(2):503-509 doi:10.2298/ABS1202503S.
- Stojičić D, Budimir S (2004) Cytokinin-mediated axillary shoot formation in *Pinus heldreichii*. Biologia Plantarum 48(3):477-479 doi:10.1023/B:BIOP.0000041109.27037.21.
- Sul IW, Korban SS (2004) Effects of salt formulations, carbon sources, cytokinins, and auxin on shoot organogenesis from cotyledons of *Pinus pinea* L. Plant Growth Regulation 43(3):197-205 doi:10.1023/B:GROW.0000046013.47892.4f.
- Sun Q, Sun H, Bell RL, Xin L (2009) Effect of polyvinyl alcohol on *in vitro* rooting capacity of shoots in pear clones (*Pyrus communis* L.) of different ploidy. Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture 99(3):299-304 doi:10.1007/s11240-009-9604-0.
- Swain SS, Tripathy T, Mohapatra PK, Chand PK (2010) Photosynthetic and transpiration responses of *in vitro*-regenerated *Solanum nigrum* L. plants to *ex vitro*

adaptation. In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology - Plant 46(2):134-141 doi:10.1007/s11627-009-9269-8.

- Tagu D, Lapeyrie F, Martin F (2002) The ectomycorrhizal symbiosis: Genetics and development. Plant Soil 244:97-105 doi:10.1023/A:1020235916345.
- Tedersoo L, May TW, Smith ME (2010a) Ectomycorrhizal lifestyle in fungi: global diversity, distribution, and evolution of phylogenetic lineages. Mycorrhiza 20(4):217-263 doi:10.1007/s00572-009-0274-x.
- Tedersoo L, Nilsson RH, Abarenkov K, Jairus T, Sadam A, Saar I, Bahram M, Bechem E, Chuyong G, Kõljalg U (2010b) 454 Pyrosequencing and Sanger sequencing of tropical mycorrhizal fungi provide similar results but reveal substantial methodological biases. New Phytologist 188(1):291-301 doi:10.1111/j.1469-8137.2010.03373.x.
- Teles Ameixa MC (1997) Regeneração *in vitro* de plantas de pinheiro manso via organogenesis, Final dissertation for obtaining the degree in Agricultural Engineering. University of Évora, Portugal.
- Turk MA, Assaf TA, Hammed KM, Al-Tawaha AM (2008) Significance of mycorrhizae, World Journal of Agricultural Sciences 2(1):16-20.
- Uroz S, Oger P, Morin E, Frey-Klett P (2012) Distinct ectomycorrhizospheres share similar bacterial communities as revealed by pyrosequencing-based analysis of 16S rRNA genes. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 78(8):3020 doi:10.1128/AEM.06742-11.
- Valdés AE, Ordás RJ, Fernández B, Centeno ML (2001) Relationships between hormonal con- tents and the organogenic response in *Pinus pinea* cotyledons. Plant Physiology and Biochemistry 39(5):377-384 doi:10.1016/S0981-9428(01)01253-0.
- van der Heijden MGA, Streitwolf-Engel R, Riedl R, Siegrist S, Neudecker A, Ineichen K, Boller T, Wiemken A, Sanders IR (2006b) The mycorrhizal contribution to plant productivity, plant nutrition and soil structure in experimental grassland. New Phytologist 172:739-752 doi:10.1111/j.1469-8137.2006.01862.x.
- Varol O, Tel AZ (2010) Ecological Features of the *Pinus pinea* Forests in the North-West Region of Turkey (Yalova). Ekoloji 19(76):95-101 doi:10.5053/ekoloji.2010.7611.
- Vendramin GG, Fady B, González-Martínez SC, Hu FS, Scotti I, Sebastiani F, Soto A, Petit RJ (2007) Genetically depauperate but widespread: the case of an emblematic Mediterranean pine. Evolution 62(3):680-688 doi:10.1111/j.1558-5646.2007.00294.x
- Vengadesan G, Pijut PM (2009a) *In vitro* propagation of northern red oak (*Quercus rubra* L.). In vitro Cellular & Developmental Biology Plant 45(4):474-482 doi:10.1007/s11627-008-9182-6.
- Vestberg M, Kukkonen S, Saari K, Parikka P, Huttunen J, Tainio L, Devos N, Weekers F, Kevers C, Thonart P, Lemoine MC, Cordier C, Alabouvette C, Gianinazzi S (2004) Microbial inoculation for improving the growth and health of micropropagated strawberry. Applied Soil Ecology 27(3):243-258 doi:10.1016/j.apsoil.2004.05.006.
- Vettori L, Russo A, Felici C, Fiaschi G, Morini S, Toffanin A (2010) Improving micropropagation: effect of *Azospirillum brasilense* Sp245 on acclimatization of rootstocks of fruit tree. Journal of Plant Interactions 5(4):249-259 doi:10.1080/17429145.2010.511280.
- Vierheilig H, Bago B, Albrecht C, Poulin MJ, Piche Y (1998) Flavonoids and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. In Flavonoids in the Living System, ed. JA Manthey, BS Buslig, New York: Plenum, pp. 9-33.

- Vilgalys R, Gonzalez D (1990) Organization of ribosomal DNA in the basidiomycete *Thanatephorus praticola*. Current Genetics 18(3):277-280 doi:10.1007/BF00318394.
- von Aderkas P, Bonga JM (2000) Influencing micropropagation and somatic embryogenesis in mature trees by manipulation of phase change, stress and culture environment. Tree Physiology 20(14):921-928 doi:10.1093/treephys/20.14.921.
- Vrålstad T, Fossheim T, Schumacher T (2000) Piceirhiza bicoloratathe expression of the Hymenoscyphus aggregate? New Phytologist 145(3):549-563 doi:10.1046/j.1469-8137.2000.00605.x.
- Walbert K, Ramsfield TD, Ridgway HJ, Jones EE (2010) Ectomycorrhizal species associated with *Pinus radiata* in New Zealand including novel associations determined by molecular analysis. Mycorrhiza 20(3):209-215 doi:10.1007/s00572-009-0277-7.
- Weir TL, Park SW, Vivanco JM (2004) Biochemical and physiological mechanisms mediated by allelochemicals. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 7:472-479 doi:10.1016/j.pbi.2004.05.007
- Whetten R (2001) Conifers. Pb. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. doi:10.1038/npg.els.0003693
- White TJ, Bruns T, Lee S, Taylor J (1990) Amplification and direct sequencing of fungal ribosomal RNA genes for phylogenetics. In: Innis MA, Gelfand DH, Sninsky JJ, White TJ (eds) PCR protocols: a guide to methods and applications. Academic, San Diego, pp. 315-322.
- Zambonelli A, lotti M Piattoni F (2012) Chinese *Tuber aestivum sensu lato* in Europe. The Open Mycology Journal 6:22-26.
- Zavattieri A, Lima M, Sobral V, Oliveira P, Costa A (2009) Effects of carbon source, carbon concentration and culture conditions on *in vitro* rooting of *Pinus pinea* L. microshoots. Acta Horticulturae ISHS 812:173-180.
- Zhang H, Horgan KJ, Reynolds PHS, Jameson PE (2010) 6-Benzyladenine metabolism during reinvigoration of mature *Pinus radiate* buds *in vitro*. Tree Physiology 30(4):514-526 doi:10.1093/treephys/tpp130.
- Zhu LH, Wu XQ, Qu HY, Ji J, Ye J (2010) Micropropagation of *Pinus massoniana* and mycorrhiza formation *in vitro*. Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture 102(1):121-128 doi:10.1007/s11240-010-9711-y.



Chapter 2

Adventitious Rooting of Conifers: Influence of Physical and Chemical Factors

Manuscript published in the journal Trees - Structure and Function (Springer)

Ragonezi C, Klimaszewska K, Castro MR, Lima M, de Oliveira P, Zavattieri A (2010) Adventitious rooting of conifers: influence of physical and chemical factors. Trees - Structure and Function 24(6): 975-992 doi:10.1007/s00468-010-0488-8.

REVIEW

Adventitious rooting of conifers: influence of physical and chemical factors

Carla Ragonezi · Krystyna Klimaszewska · Mário Rui Castro · Mónica Lima · Paulo de Oliveira · Maria Amely Zavattieri

Received: 23 December 2009 / Revised: 22 July 2010 / Accepted: 18 August 2010 © Springer-Verlag 2010

Abstract In conifers, vegetative propagation of superior genotypes is the most direct means for making large genetic gains, because it allows a large proportion of genetic diversity to be captured in a single cycle of selection. There are two aims of vegetative propagation, namely large-scale multiplication of select genotypes and production of large numbers of plants from scarce and costly seed that originates from controlled seed orchard pollinations. This can be achieved, in some species, either through rooted cuttings or rooted microshoots, the latter regenerated through tissue culture in vitro. Thus far, both strategies have been used but often achieved limited success mainly because of difficult and inefficient rooting process. In this overview of technology, we focus on the progress in defining the physical and chemical factors that help the conifer cuttings and microshoots to develop adventitious roots. These factors include plant growth regulators, carbohydrates, light quality, temperature and rooting substrates/media as major variables for

Communicated by M. Buckeridge.

C. Ragonezi M. R. Castro M. Lima M. A. Zavattieri Laboratory of Breeding and Plant Biotechnology, Institute of Mediterranean Agricultural Sciences, University of Évora, 7002-554 Évora, Portugal e-mail: zavattieri@uevora.pt

K. Klimaszewska

Natural Resources Canada, Canadian Forest Service, Laurentian Forestry Centre, 1055 du PEPS, P.O. Box 10380, Stn. Sainte-Foy, Québec, QC G1V 4C7, Canada

P. de Oliveira Laboratory of Soil Microbiology, Institute of Mediterranean Agricultural Sciences, University of Évora, 7002-554 Évora, Portugal

development of reliable adventitious rooting protocols for different conifer species.

Keywords Cuttings · Gymnosperms · In vitro culture · Micropropagation · Microshoots

Abbreviations

| ACC | 1-Aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylic acid |
|-----------------|---------------------------------------|
| AOA | Aminooxyacetic acid |
| ARF | Adventitious root formation |
| AVG | Aminoethoxyvinylglycine |
| BA | 6-Benzyladenine |
| cGMP | Cyclic guanosine monophosphate |
| CW | Cool white light |
| DCR | Gupta and Durzan (1985) |
| GA ₃ | Gibberellic acid |
| GD medium | Gresshoff and Doy (1972) |
| GL | Growth-lux |
| IAA | Indole-3-acetic acid |
| IBA | Indole-3-butyric acid |
| L9 medium | Ewald (2007b) |
| LP medium | Quorin and Lepoivre (1977) |
| MAPK | Mitogen-activated protein kinase |
| MS medium | Murashige and Skoog (1962) |
| NAA | Naphthalene acetic acid |
| PGR | Plant growth regulator |
| PPFD | Photosynthetic photon flux densities |
| PS medium | Pinus strobus medium-Tang and Newton |
| | (2005a) |
| PBZ | Paclobutrazol |
| RD | Red-rich daylight |
| RIM medium | Abo El-Nil (1982) |
| RW medium | Risser and White (1964) |
| SH medium | Schenk and Hildebrandt (1972) |

STSSilverthiosulfateTE mediumTang et al. (1998)TDZThidiazuronWPM mediumLloyd and McCown (1981)WWWarm white

Introduction

Vegetative propagation of trees has been a useful tool in traditional tree improvement and holds important prospects for reforestation (Libby 1986). It provides the possibility for multiplication of select superior trees with favorable genetic combination and to produce genetically homogenous plant material that will grow predictably and uniformly. In addition, improved efficiency in management and finished product utilization may also be achieved (Sutton 2002).

Conifers (cone-bearing trees) are the best known and most important economically among gymnosperms, covering approximately 60% of the forested areas of the world, and are mostly used for the production of softwood lumber, pulp and paper (Wenger 1984). Conifers comprise eight families, 68 genera and 629 species (Farjon 1998) including pines (*Pinus* spp.), spruces (*Picea* spp.), cowtail pine (*Cephalotaxus* spp.), cypress pine (*Callitris* spp.), firs (*Abies* spp.), larches (*Larix* spp.), bald cypresses (*Taxodium* spp.), yellowwood (*Podocarpus* spp.), yews (*Taxus* spp.), arbor vitae (*Thuja* spp.) and junipers (*Juniperus* spp.) (Farjon 1998).

In spite of the major role conifers are bound to play in reforestation strategies, current research on their vegetative propagation is not sufficiently developed (Sutton 2002). In part, this is due to the slow progress in propagation methods, mainly because of rooting problems associated with the tree maturation phase, an age-related developmental process that affects reproductive competence, morphology, and growth rate (Greenwood and Hutchison 1993). This notwithstanding, commercial scale propagation through rooted cuttings of young trees has been reported for radiata pine (Pinus radiata D. Don.), Norway spruce (Picea abies [L.] Karst.), Sitka spruce (Picea sitchensis [Bong.] Carr.), black spruce (*Picea mariana* [Mill.] B.S.P.) and sugi (Cryptomeria japonica D. Don) (Menzies et al. 2001). For a few economically important forest conifer species, an alternative vegetative, large-scale in vitro propagation technology has been developed, called somatic embryogenesis that utilizes mature or immature seed embryos as starting explants (reviewed by Klimaszewska et al. 2007). The advantages of somatic embryogenesis over rooted cuttings are: unlimited number of clonal

somatic plants that can be produced from a single seed embryo (without a need for a separate step involving adventitious rooting) and the possibility of long-term storage of a given genotype in liquid nitrogen (cryopreservation). For example, in Norway spruce, both means of vegetative propagation, namely somatic embryogenesis and rooted cuttings of donor somatic trees, are being combined for clonal selection and commercial production of genetically superior seed families (Lamhamedi and Tousignant 2008).

Adventitious roots are post-embryonic roots that arise from the stem and leaves and from non-pericycle tissues in old roots. These roots may form naturally from stem tissue or may be induced by stressful environmental conditions. by mechanical damage or following tissue culture regeneration of shoots (Li et al. 2009). Adventitious root formation (ARF) is a critical step in vegetative propagation. An efficient rooting treatment can lead to a high percentage of rooting and a higher quality of the root system (De Klerk et al. 1997). Quality involves root number and length, and the absence of callus at the base of a shoot, all of which influence the performance of the plants after transfer to soil (Mohammed and Vidaver 1990). Many factors, during the rooting phases, can cause poor quality of the shoots at the time of planting, thus affecting growth (De Klerk et al. 1999; Hartmann et al. 2002; Mohammed and Vidaver 1990).

Adventitious rooting is a complex developmental process that consists of three successive but interdependent physiological phases: induction, initiation and expression, and each of these phases have different requirements. The induction phase comprises molecular and biochemical events without visible changes. The initiation phase is characterized by cell divisions and root primordia organization. The expression phase is characterized by intra-stem growth of root primordia and root emergence (Li et al. 2009). The chemical and physical factors that affect rooting include plant growth regulators (PGRs) (Wiesman et al. 1989; Davis and Haissig 1990), nutrients (the carbohydrate source foremost) (Wiesman and Lavee 1995), temperature and light (Haissig 1990; Corrêa and Fett-Neto 2004). Increasing body of knowledge on ARF pathway activation is generated from research on angiosperms. Recently, it has been discovered that nitrate, both a nitrogen source and a signal molecule, is transported by the NRT1.1 nitrate transporter and the transduction of nitrate signal is associated with a modification of auxin transport (Krouk et al. 2010). Thus, the NRT1.1 represses lateral root growth in Arabidopsis at low nitrate concentration by promoting auxin transport out of these roots. In mung bean, the adventitious root induction phase was regulated by a complex set of cellular messengers, among which some were activated by hydrogen peroxide, nitric oxide and

calcium (Li and Xue 2010). However, the signaling network responsible for root development has not been discovered yet.

In tissue culture, plant regeneration can be achieved either through the development of axillary shoot buds or through adventitious shoot formation, most frequently from callus. In both cases, the microshoots have to be rooted through adventitious rooting. The process of in vitro organ regeneration from the explants occurs through an apparent reversal of cell differentiation and acquisition of meristematic characteristics (Gahan 2007). Because many environmental and endogenous factors regulate rooting, some aspects of this regulation can be exploited to control rooting in vitro, through the application of chemicals, light and/or temperature control, or biotization. Different types of chemicals may be applied: PGRs to promote cell dedifferentiation, trigger the initial meristematic activity (Wiesman et al. 1989; Davis and Haissig 1990) and to promote the elongation and development of formed roots (Hartmann et al. 2002; Wiesman et al. 1989); nutrients to promote growth of the new roots (Wiesman and Lavee 1995); and protecting agents, such as biocides, to help protect against pathogens during the entire rooting period if carried out in a non-sterile substrate (Henrique et al. 2006).

Adventitious rooting in conifers has long been discussed, but the available information is fragmentary and circumstantial. Since the extensive articles by Gaspar and Coumans (1987) and Mohammed and Vidaver (1988) appeared over 20 years ago, no other review on root production and plantlet development in conifers has been published. Some aspects, widely discussed in those reviews, such as biological factors, root morphogenesis, genetic stability and acclimatization, are not covered in the present review. Instead, we focused on the progress in defining the chemical and physical factors that help the conifer cuttings and in vitro regenerated microshoots to develop adventitious roots. We compiled (mostly in the tabular form) the most successful, for a given conifer species, protocol/s of chemical treatments and physical factors that promoted adventitious rooting in both propagation systems.

Rooting of conifer cuttings

Four discrete stages of adventitious root formation in cuttings can be distinguished (Hamann 1998): (1) proliferation of cells at the base of the cutting, (2) differentiation of wound vascular tissue and periderm, (3) dedifferentiation of a zone near the wound cambium and wound phloem to form a root initial, and (4) formation of a root meristem. To obtain high-quality young plants in the shortest possible time, cuttings must root quickly and abundantly. Cuttings must also be able to produce lateral branching and grow fast after rooting (Moe and Andersen 1988). Propagation by cuttings has long been established in many conifer species. Ritchie (1991) calculated that more than 65 million rooted conifer cuttings were already produced around the world, and that half of this production was for sugi (*C. japonica*) in Japan, at least 10 million for radiata pine (*P. radiata*) in Australia and New Zealand, and about 21 million for Norway spruce (*P. abies*), Sitka spruce (*P. sitchensis*) and black spruce (*P. mariana*) in Canada, Scandinavia and the British Isles together.

In conifers, in addition to chemical and physical rooting treatments, the success of propagation by cuttings depends on a variety of other factors that include cutting collection time and season, cutting size, whether the needles are kept or not, condition and age of the source plant, plant nutritional condition, pruning treatments, and type and health of the cuttings at collection (Silva 1985). The role of donor plant growing conditions has long been recognized as important in influencing the rooting capacity of cuttings (Hartmann and Kester 1983; Moe and Andersen 1988).

Plant growth regulators

Auxins

For many decades, IBA has been applied to different plant species to induce adventitious roots, and conifers follow the rule. Nordstrom et al. (1991) attributed this preference, relative to IAA, to the higher stability of IBA. On the other hand, in many conifers the cuttings respond well to a pulse treatment with NAA. The combinations of various types of PGRs, the concentrations and application are extensive and are summarized in Table 1. Although IBA promoted rooting of cuttings in most of the conifers, in Pinus spp. NAA was also used at concentrations that varied between 1.6 and 2.7 mM. IBA was most frequently used at 24.6 or 49 μ M mixed with talc or in water solution, and usually involved a quick dip or pulse treatment of the cut surfaces, with or without additional wounding, and was followed by transfer of the cuttings to substrates or to water nutrient solutions for rooting. In most cases, mixtures of sand, perlite and/or vermiculite were used in the substrates without any particular preference. The highest mean rooting percentage obtained in various experiments was 86% (Table 1).

Polyamines

Polyamines are generally considered to be growth regulators that are implicated in a range of developmental processes (Martin-Tanguy 2001; Kaur-Sawhney et al. 2003; Couée et al. 2004). It has been reported that the inhibition

| Conifer species | Plant material | Root induction | Root growth | Environmental conditions | Rooting | References |
|--|--|---|---|---|-----------------|----------------------------------|
| Abies fraseri | Cuttings | IBA at 4 mM, 3 s dip | Horticultural perlite:peat 3:2 (v/v) | $26.1 \pm 2/20.5 \pm 2 \text{ C day/night}$ | 31% | Rosier et al. (2004a, b) |
| Cedrus deodara | Cuttings | IBA at 5,000 ppm in talc or NAA at 10,000 ppm with activated charcoal, both with 1% captan and 1% sucrose | Unknown | Unknown | 69% | Shamet and Bhardwaj (1995) |
| <i>Cedrus deodara</i> 'Shalimar' | Cuttings collected in late fall to early winter | IBA at 5,000 ppm, quick dip | Sand:perlite | Bottom heat maintained at 24 C. Greenhouse, 120 days under intermittent mist | 67% | Nicholson (1984) |
| Chamaecyparis lawsoniana Parl. | Apical cuttings 15 cm long | IBA at 10,000 ppm for 5 s | Vermiculite | Not mentioned | 99% | Stumpf et al. (1999) |
| Cupressus dupreziana Camus | Cuttings collected in early winter | IBA at 500-1,000 ppm, 24 h soaking in a solution | Coarse sand:perlite (1:1, v/v) | Bottom heat intermittent mist with ambient temperature of 15.5-23.8 C | 90% | Nicholson et al. (1999) |
| <i>Cupressocyparis</i> leylandii Dallim. and A. B. Jackson | Callused cuttings, with a callus size of c. 1 cm diameter | IBA at 10,000 ppm and double wounding | Sterilized pumice (particle size 1-15 mm) and one part Southland peat (v/v). | Tunnel house, less than 25 C. Sun, tunnel shading of c. 40-50%. | 43% | De Silva et al. (2005) |
| Juniperus scopulorum "Skyrocket" | Cuttings | K-IBA in 0.9% talc powder | Peat:perlite (2:1) medium under low polytunnels, no mist greenhouse | Unknown | 96% | Bielenin (2003) |
| Larix x eurolepis (European x Japanese larch) | Cuttings | IBA at 0.5% in talc powder including a fungicide, dipped in the solution | Peat:compost:pouzzolane (2:1:3) under greenhouse conditions | Unknown | 87% | Pâques and Cornu (1991) |
| Picea sitchensis (Bong.) Carr. | Cuttings | IBA at 10^{-6} to 10^{-5} M, water solution | PGRs were prepared as aqueous solutions and no nutrients were used | 20 C, 16 h L, 70-90 LI, CW fluorescent lamps | 70%, 20 days | Selby et al. (1992) |
| Pinus banksiana | Cuttings | NAA at 5.4 mM, pulse treatment for 10 s and then 1:1 (v/v) forestry mix/ vermiculite | Conventional polyethylene-covered greenhouse (poly-house) | 10-30 C, 16 h L, 1,500 (sunny) 350 LI (cloudy) | 87% | Browne et al. (2000) |
| Pinus banksiana | Cuttings | IBA at 25 mM in 100% ethanol, brief wetting of the cut basal surface of the cuttings | Intermittent water-mist in a sand-perlite substrate | 750-900 LI (sunny) to 200 LI (cloudy) | 94%, 25 days | Haissig (1990) |
| Pinus banksiana | Cuttings (central axis, 3 months) | NAA at 5.4 mM, pulse treatment for 10 s and then 1:1 (v/v) Forestry mix/ vermiculite | Phosphoglucoisomerase multipots (PGI-45, 110 ml, Plastiques Gagnon, Que.) filled with medium (1:1 v/v forestry mix/ vermiculite) | 20-28/14 to18 C day/night, 16 h L and 350-700 (sunny) to 150-270 LI (cloudy), 500-W high-pressure sodium lamps | 95% | Browne et al. (1996) |
| Pinus caribaea var. hondurensis Morelet | Cuttings | IBA at 19.7 mM, immersion in a gel solution for 2 s | 50% carbonized rice hulls and 50% vermiculite | Intermittent mist system in an enclosed polyethylene propagation house | 95% | Henrique et al. (2006) |
| Pinus contorta | Cuttings (hypocotyl) | IBA at 1.23 mM pulse treatment for 6h and then in Hoagland nutrient solution | Brief rinse in water and culture in Hoagland solution | 22 C and 200 LI, fluorescent tubes (Philips TLD 58 W/84) and incandescent light | 100% | Lindroth et al. (2001) |

| Table 1 Treatm | ents and growth | conditions applied i | n two phases | of rooting of | conifer cuttings |
|----------------|-----------------|----------------------|--------------|---------------|------------------|
|----------------|-----------------|----------------------|--------------|---------------|------------------|

Table 1 continued

| Conifer species | Plant material | Root induction | Root growth | Environmental conditions | Rooting | References |
|--|---|---|---|--|------------------------------------|---------------------------------|
| Pinus elliottii var. elliottii x P. caribaea var. hondurensis | Cuttings (lateral tip) | Pasteurized coarse perlite:pine bark peat 1:1:1 (v/v/v), with additions of 0.5 kg Micromax m^{-3} (Granular by Scotts Australia) and 2.5 kg Osmocote m^{-3} (Low Start 5-6 month by Scotts Australia) | Controlled environment glasshouse with the appropriate temperature treatment | 25 C, 11.5-13 h L, 70% of natural daylight irradiance (about 2,300-2500 micro-Einstein's in SE QLD) | 83%, 12 weeks | Rasmussen et al. (2009) |
| Pinus radiata | Derooted seedling cuttings | IBA at 44.3 μM in 1/2 MS, 0.8% agar, 2% sucrose, for 10 d | Plant growth room | 22 C with continuous lighting at 80 LI | 95% | Li and Leung (2000) |
| Pinus sylvestris | Cuttings | IBA at 4,000 ppm dipped for 10 s in a solution of 95% ethanol and the PGR | Inserted in 90 ml containers filled with 60% peat and 40% perlite | 25 C and then 20 C | 54.4% | Hogberg (2005) |
| Pinus strobus L. | Cuttings | NAA at 1.6 mM, 5 min pulse treatment | Moist silica:sand | 24 C, 16 h L, 40 LI CW fluorescent tubes | 97%, 4 weeks | Goldfarb et al. (1998) |
| Pinus taeda L. | Cuttings (seedlings and hedged donor plants) | Unknown | Perlite:vermiculite 1:1 (v/v) | 20-27 C, 14 h L, CW fluorescent tubes | 80% | Hamann (1998) |
| Pinus taeda L. | Cuttings (hypocotyl) | IBA at 10 μ M, pulse treatment then transferred to distilled water for rooting | Unknown | 27/20 C day/night, 16 h L, 100 LI, CW fluorescent tubes | 82%, 15-30 days | Diaz-Sala et al. (1996) |
| Pinus taeda | Cuttings | NAA at 2.7 M, 5 min pulse as described by Diaz-Sala et al. (1996) | Unknown | 16 h L, 90 LI, CW fluorescent tubes | Greater than 80%, 30 days | Greenwood et al. (2001) |
| Pinus taeda | Cuttings (hypocotyl) | IBA 10 μ M in distilled water was stuck through holes in with styrofoamrafts (Hansen and Ernstsen 1982) and floated in trays made of PVC | The IBA solution was replaced with distilled water after 11 days | 27/20 C day/night, 100 LI, fluorescent and incandescent lamps | 94%, \25 days | Greenwood and Weir (1994) |
| Pinus virginiana | Cuttings (open- pollinated progeny) | IBA or NAA at 6 mM, applied for 3 s | Horticultural perlite:peat 3:2 (v/v) | $25.5 \pm 2/20.0 \pm 2~C~day/night temperatures$ | 47% (semi- hard woody) | Rosier et al. (2004a, b) |
| <i>Pseudotsuga</i> <i>menziesii</i> (Mirb.) Franco | Cuttings, 15 cm long | IBA at 12.3-123 mM or NAA at 2.5-7.5 mM dipped for 10 s | Peat moss:fine sand 2:1 (v/v) | Rooting medium heated to 21 C and intermittent mist. Natural light in a conventional glasshouse | 68% | Copes and Mandel (2000) |
| Thuja occidentalis ´Smaragd´ | Cuttings | K-IBA 0.6% in talc powder, dipped | Peat:perlite 2:1 (v/v) under low polytunnels greenhouse without misting | Unknown | 100% | Bielenin (2003) |

LI light intensity in µmol m⁻² s⁻¹

L photoperiod
of polyamine synthesis blocks the mitotic cell cycle by blocking the transition between G1 and S phase where increased levels of spermidine and spermine have been found (Couée et al. 2004). Both Martin-Tanguy and Carré (1993) and Tarenghi et al. (1995) hypothesized that the endogenous concentrations of polyamines might be growth limiting based on observations of the developmental stimulation of higher plants. A direct relationship between high polyamine content, such as putrescine and spermine, and the onset of ARF has been demonstrated, which accentuates the possible participation of these substances in the general cellular processes of division and differentiation in the rooting process (Couée et al. 2004; Martinez-Pastur et al. 2007). Polvamine metabolism has also been pointed as responsive to environmental circumstances, therefore playing an important role in the relations between plant and external conditions (Couée et al. 2004: Tang and Newton 2005b).

Tang and Newton (2005b) tested the influence of polyamines on the overall rooting frequency of *Pinus virginiana*. In their trials, the administration of 0.001 mM putrecine or spermidine in the NAA supplemented medium resulted in a 25% increase of rooting frequency, whereas 0.001 mM spermine caused a 6.7% decrease of rooting frequency.

Ethylene

The information concerning ARF in cuttings of conifers and ethylene is limited to a few articles. In general, Ethrel (a commercial formulation of the slow-release ethylene compound ethephon) promoted rooting and root growth in Engelmann spruce 2 weeks after planting (Scagel and Linderman 2000). Ethrel induced changes in root initiation of cuttings of Douglas fir [Pseudotsuga menziesii (Mirb.) Franco] 2 weeks after application and these changes were positively correlated with subsequent increases in shoot growth. In these studies, the results indicated that exogenously applied Ethrel influenced root initiation indirectly by increasing levels of free IAA at the rooting site (Scagel et al. 2000). Ethrel was also reported to increase IAA conjugates in roots of Engelmann spruce (Picea engelmannii Parry ex Engelm.), lodgepole pine (Pinus contorta Dougl.) and Douglas fir. On the other hand, Bollmark and Eliasson (1990) concluded that the enhanced rooting of Norway spruce (P. abies) hypocotyl cuttings, promoted by the treatment with ACC or Ethrel, was attributed to the ethylene-mediated acceleration of the breakdown of cytokinins.

When cuttings of Japanese black pine (*Pinus thunbergii* Parl.) were soaked for 10 min in Ethrel solution (69.2 μ M ethephon) 24 h prior to soaking in Oxyberon (19.7 mM IBA solution), a significantly higher rooting ability was

observed compared with the controls without the pretreatment with Ethrel (Mori, Miyahara, Tsutisumi, Kondo, unpublished). Similarly in *P. abies* L. (Karst), the hypocotyl cuttings produced 64 adventitious roots after 28-days treatment with 0.1 μ M Ethephon compared with 22 roots in untreated controls and with two roots after treatment with the ethylene inhibitor CoCl₂ at 10 μ M (Wang and Pan 2006).

Ethylene inhibitors

Several ethylene inhibitors, compiled by Kumar et al. (1998), inhibit both ethylene biosynthesis or ethylene actions in a plant. Among the most commonly used are aminoethoxyvinylglycine (AVG) and aminooxyacetic acid (AOA), both inhibiting 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylic acid (ACC) synthase and cobalt ions that inhibit the conversion of ACC to ethylene (Biddington 1992). Another inhibitor widely used is the silver ion, either as nitrate or as more mobile thiosulphate (STS), which excels in ethylene action inhibition (Beyer 1976). Inhibition of ethylene may lead to a lower number of adventitious roots, decrease of response to endogenous and exogenous auxins and reduced root hair formation (Clark et al. 1999). Ethylene itself has been reported to have no effect or even inhibit rooting depending on its concentration and genotypes, and therefore its role is still disputed (Mudge 1988). Inhibitors, when at high concentrations can promote stress, resulting in the synthesis of ethylene and root formation, thus defeating the purpose of their use. De Klerk et al. (1999) reported that STS may induce ethylene formation because silver is a heavy metal and damages the tissue. When STS was added along with auxins, the appearance of the rooted microcuttings at the time of transplanting was strongly improved (De Klerk et al. 1999).

As described by Kumar et al. (1998), ethylene inhibitors work within specific concentrations. The use of these substances under or above the recommended levels, might not have an inhibiting effect as desirable, or might promote the ethylene synthesis due to tissue damage (De Klerk et al. 1999). Also, there is not much work relating conifers with ethylene inhibiting substances, since the actual major scientific goal is to promote and improve conifer rooting and not the opposite. Nonetheless, such a study is fundamental to fully comprehend the role of ethylene in conifer ARF.

Plant growth retardants

Plant growth retardants are organic compounds that retard cell division and cell elongation (Arteca 1995). A number of growth retardants and inhibitors have been tested for their ability to influence rooting of cuttings. They are responsible for antagonizing the activity or inhibiting the synthesis of gibberellins, which normally inhibit rooting (Hartmann and Kester 1983; Davis et al. 1988).

Henrique et al. (2006) investigated the effect of different levels of auxins (NAA, IBA) and gibberellin synthesis inhibitor (PBZ) on the rooting of 4-6 cm long shoots obtained from cuttings of *Pinus caribaea* var. *hondurensis* Morelet. Sixty days after planting, the IBA-treated cuttings rooted at a higher frequency than those treated with NAA, but IBA applied together with PBZ was the most effective treatment. However, daminozide (currently used as a growth retardant for many plants) inhibited rooting of *Chamaecyparis obutusa* seedling cuttings after spray application of 2,000 ppm wettable solution (Shigehiro 2006).

Carbohydrates

Non-structural carbohydrates usually accumulate in needle fascicles during propagation, sometimes after an initial decrease. However, concentrations of specific carbohydrates such as sucrose or glucose in needle fascicles may not be uniform among tissues or with time during propagation (Veierskov 1988). Perhaps, the changing concentrations of specific carbohydrates in cuttings during propagation are linked to the direct control of ARF, for instance, because auxin treatments often concomitantly promote adventitious rooting and modify concentrations of individual carbohydrates within specific regions of cuttings during propagation (Haissig 1990).

Nevertheless, in a study with Sitka spruce cuttings, little correlation between rooting and concentration of sugars in stems and foliage was found (Van den Driessche 1983). It is possible that interaction between carbohydrates and hormones, nitrogen and carbon ratios, light and carbohydrate and also temperature pre-treatments, as well as the carbohydrates status of the mother plants, make the comparison of results from different studies difficult.

Light

Roots of *P. radiata* cuttings from seedlings had the highest dry weight under high PPFD, which had a red to far-red ratio similar to daylight (Wenger 1984). In other experiments with *P. radiata*, the best rooting conditions for short shoots were: treatment with 50 ppm IBA for 24 h, then planting at 20-25 C under a 12-h photoperiod (as compared to 18-h photoperiod or continuous illumination). The needle fascicles rooted better if they were collected during winter or early spring, suggesting a direct influence of short days (Kummerow 1966).

Both McClelland et al. (1990) and Corrêa et al. (2005) have stressed the need for increased efficiency of the process and that rooting should be carried out in the dark for

the first few days. However, rooting can be influenced by light intensities, as reported by Kunneman and Ruesink (1997) who showed better responses to 66-83 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ in a few *Juniperus cultivars*, while 27-37 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ were more suitable for the *Chamaecyparis* and *Cupressocyparis cultivars*.

Temperature

A temperature range between 18 and 27°C is commonly used during rooting of the cuttings. The effect of artificial light, CO₂ and temperature on rooting in ornamental cultivars of *Chamaecyparis*, *Cupressocyparis* and *Juniperus* was studied by Kunneman and Ruesink (1997). These authors demonstrated that rooting was best at a constant temperature of 23°C, compared with 17 and 29°C. On the other hand, for *Pinus taeda* L., the best rooting of cuttings (seedlings and hedged donor plants) (80%) was obtained by maintaining the air temperature at approximately 27°C during the day (14-h photoperiod) and 20°C at night (Hamann 1998), and the temperature of the rooting medium was kept at 25°C using a root zone heating system.

Cedrus spp., in general, are difficult to root, for example *Cedrus libani* A. Rich. is considered almost impossible to propagate by cuttings; however, *Cedrus deodara* (Roxb.) G.Don 'Shalimar' can be rooted to 67% if cuttings are collected in late fall to early winter and, after a quick dip in IBA solution, placed in a sand-perlite medium maintained at 24°C with bottom heat (Nicholson 1984 cited by Pijut 2000). In Table 1, other examples of temperature treatments for adventitious root formation in conifer cuttings are listed.

Substrates for rooting

The blends of propagation substrates should create suitable air and drainage characteristics and remain moist, but not waterlogged during the period of time that roots are initiated. Different substrates can be used to promote rooting in conifer cuttings, the most common being vermiculite, perlite or a combination of both. However, the requirements of various species can be very different. Davidescu et al. (2003) found that propagation by cuttings of Thuja occidentalis L. 'Columna' and T. occidentalis 'Danica' was best in peat substrate in August. Six substrates were used in Picea cuttings by Mazăre et al. (2007): sand, perlite, peat, sand with perlite, sand with peat and perlite with peat, all at 1:1. The rooted cuttings were at a higher proportion in sand with peat, but increased rooting index (13% as visually established based on the number of primary and secondary roots) was obtained in perlite with peat.

Rooting of loblolly pine (*P. taeda*) cuttings has been extensively studied, but the description of substrates used

| Conifer species | Plant material | Root induction | Root growth | Environmental conditions | Rooting (%) | References |
|---------------------------------|--|--|--|---|---|--------------------------------------|
| Juniperus oxycedrus | Shoots (terminal shoots from lateral branches—5 cm length) | NAA, IAA or IBA separately, or in combination in solidified medium B (SH macronutrients supplemented with 3% sucrose, 0.7% agar) for 30 days | The same medium without auxins | 26 ± 2 C, 16 h L, 80 LI, Gro-lux (F36W/ GRO) | None of the auxins or auxin combinations tested promoted satisfactory rooting. The frequency of rooted shoots ranged from 7 to 10% | Gómez and Segura (1994) |
| Juniperus phoenicea | Shoots 2-3 cm long (from axillary buds) | IBA at 2.4 μ M, 5 min dipping and cultured on medium without PGRs | Plantlets with 2 cm long roots were transferred to pots with sterilized mixture of peat:perlite 3:2 (v/v) | 22 ± 1 C, 16 h L, 400 LI, OSRAM (Munich, Germany) L36W/211amps | 40% | Loureiro et al. (2007) |
| <i>Larix</i> sp. | Shoots (newly formed shoot tips, approximately 3-4 cm long and without any visible bud primordia) | NAA at 10.7 µM in L9 medium for 2 weeks | After 2 weeks, the induced shoots were transferred directly into Jiffy-7 peat pellets (ø 42 mm) saturated with water | 17 C and 16 h L, white light (OSRAM L58W/31-830) | 100% | Ewald (2007a) |
| Picea sitchensis | Adventitious shoots (from cotyledons) | PGR-free ½ MS, 0.7% agar | Transfer to a mixture of equal volumes of Levington M3 compost (Fisons, Ipswich, UK), perlite and vermiculite (William Sinclair Horticulture Ltd., Lincoln, UK) in 9 cm diameter plastic pots | 20 ± 1 C, 16 h L, 1.5 LI, CW fluorescent lamps | 84%, 22 weeks | Drake et al. (1997) |
| Picea chihuahuana | Adventitious shoots (from embryos) | IBA at 14.8 or 24.6 µM in ½ SH liquid medium, placed vertically on filter paper for 48 h | Fresh liquid medium (1/2 SH) without PGRs | 26 ± 2 C, 16 h L, 46-48 LI | ±8.5% | López- Escamilla et al. (2000) |
| Pinus armandii var. amamiana | Adventitious shoots (from embryos) | IBA at 4.9-14.8 μM in RIM medium | Transfer to pots with florialite containing 0.1% hyponex for 2 weeks under 100% humidity | 25 C, 16 h L, 70 LI, fluorescent light | Unknown | Ishii et al. (2007) |
| Pinus ayacahuite | Adventitious shoots (from zygotic embryos) | NAA at 100 μ M solution for 8 h | Transfer to ½ GD medium PGR-free with 0.05% activated charcoal, 30 mM sucrose and 1% agar | 25 ± 1 C, 16 h L, 60-80 LI, Sylvania Gro-Lux F40T12 Gro-WS lights | 40% | Saborio et al. (1997) |
| Pinus contorta | Adventitious shoots (from embryos) | IBA at 1.23 mM for 6 h and then liquid medium | 12 weeks later potted in mineral wool | Unknown | 70% | Hogberg et al. (2005) |
| Pinus contorta | Adventitious shoots (from embryos) | IBA at 1.23 mM, pulse treated for 6 h | Cultured in liquid mineral nutrient solution, composed according to the nutrient requirements of P. sylvestris given by Ingestad (1979) with N concentration at 4.5 mM | 20 C, 110 LI, fluorescent light supplemented with incandescent light | 77% | Flygh et al. (1998) |
| Pinus heldreichii | Adventitious shoots (from embryos) | IBA at 1 mM, pulse treatment for 2 or 5 h, afterward transferred to ½ GD with 2% sucrose | Transfer to a greenhouse | 25 ± 2 C, 8 h L, 47 LI, white fluorescent tubes | 14%, for up to 18 weeks | Stojicic et al. (1999) |

Table 2 Treatments and growth conditions applied in two phases of rooting of conifer microshoots in vitro

Trees

| Conifer species | Plant material | Root induction | Root growth | Environmental conditions | Rooting (%) | References |
|---------------------------------------|--|---|---|---|--|-------------------------------------|
| Pinus brutia x Pinus halepensis | Shoots (from fascicle buds- clone A and B) | IBA at 2.46 μM plus NAA at 2.7 μM plus 0.65% agar (Sigma) plus 1.5% sucrose | Transfer after 7 days to a mixture of peat:perlite 1:1 (v/v) | 14-19 C, 18 h L, 65-70 LI, high- pressure lamps (HPI/ T, SON, 400 W) | 84% clone A, 32% clone B, 10-16 weeks | Scaltsoyiannes et al. (1994) |
| Pinus canariensis | Adventitious shoots (from adventitious buds induced from cotyledon explants) | IBA at 1 mM, 4 h liquid pulse treatment | Transfer to peat:vermiculite, 1:1 (v/v) | Unknown | 83% | Martínez Pulido et al. (1990) |
| Pinus eldarica | Adventitious shoots (from adventitious buds induced from cotyledon explants) | BA at 0.22 μM, IBA at 10 μM and NAA at 5 μM in ½SH medium | ^{1/2} SH medium with 1% activated charcoal. Vermiculite:perlite:peat 2: 2:1 (v/v) in plastic bags to maintain high humidity for 4 weeks | 16 h L, 26/18 C day/ night, 250 LI | 78% | Sen et al. (1994) |
| Pinus massoniana L. | Adventitious shoots (from adventitious buds induced from mature embryos) | IBA at 9.8 μM, BA at 2.2 μM and 2% sucrose in ½ GD medium for 1 week | Subculture onto ½ GD medium with IBA at 0.98 lM and BA at 2.2 lM for 4 weeks. Then, transfer to pots filled with a mixture of vermiculite and perlite 3:1 (v/v) | 25 ± 2 C, 14 h L, 80 LI, CW fluorescent tubes | 70% | Zhang et al. (2006) |
| Pinus elliotti | Adventitious shoots (induced from callus) | IAA at 1 μM and IBA at 1 μM | Perlite:peat moss:vermiculite 1:1:1 (v/v/v) | 23 C, 16 h L, 100 LI, CW fluorescent tubes | 26-35% | Tang and Newton (2007) |
| Pinus kesiya | Adventitious shoots (from 2 to 3 week old seedling explants) | NAA at 16.1 µM in GD medium for 24 or 120 h | Subculture to the same medium without PGR | 25 ± 1 C, 16 h L, 50-70 LI, CW fluorescent and incandescent lamps | 67% | Nandwani et al. (2001) |
| Pinus pinaster | Adventitious shoots (from adventitious buds induced from embryos) | NAA at 5.4 μ M in induction medium (RW macroelements, ½ MS microelements, 50 mg Γ^1 myo- inositol, 2 mg Γ^1 glycine, 1 mg Γ^1 thiamine, 1 mg Γ^1 pyridoxine, 1 mg Γ^1 nicotinic acid, 1% sucrose) | Same medium without PGRs with 3% sucrose. Then, transfer to a sterile peat:vermiculite, 1:1 (v/v) | 25 ± 1 C, 16 h L, 80 ± 5 LI | 86%, 3 weeks | Álvarez et al. (2009) |
| Pinus pinaster | Shoots (from axillary buds) | NAA at 10 ⁻⁶ M for the first 16 days in basal nutrient medium with nitrate at 3.3 mM and glutamine at 2 mM | Unknown | Unknown | 92%, 30 days | Faye et al. (1989) |
| Pinus pinea L. | Adventitious shoots (from cotyledons) | IBA at 10 μM in DCR (½ macroelements) with 3% sucrose for 10 days | Peat:sand:perlite (2:1:1 v/v) mixture | 23 ± 1 C, 16 h L, 80-100 LI | 34% | Capuana and Giannini (1995) |

Trees

Table 2 continued

| Conifer species | Plant material | Root induction | Root growth | Environmental conditions | Rooting (%) | References |
|--------------------------|--|---|---|--|--|---|
| Pinus pinea L. | Adventitious shoots (from embryos) | NAA at 10 μM in ½ LPC (LP medium with 0.5% (w/v) of activated charcoal), 20% glucose and 0.8% Roko-Agar | The same medium without PGRs and then transferred to sterile peat:perlite 1:4 (v/v) | 1 week at 19 C dark, 2 weeks at 19 C, 16 L, 100 LI and then 21 C 16 h L, 100 LI, white fluorescent tubes | 68%, 3-6 weeks | Alonso et al. (2006); Ordás et al. (1999) |
| Pinus pinea L. | Adventitious shoots (from cotyledons) | NAA at 0.05 µM in ½ MS medium | Unknown | 23 C, 16 h L, 60-70 LI, CW fluorescent tubes | 15-20% | Sul and Korban (2004) |
| Pinus pinea L. | Adventitious shoots (from cotyledons) | NAA at 10.7 μM in ½ WPM macroelements with 0.117 M glucose and 0.8% agar | The same without PGR and with 58.4 mM glucose | 1 week at 19 C dark, 2 weeks at 19 C, 16 h L, 90 LI and then 21 C, 16 h L and 90 LI, CW fluorescent tubes | 70%, 4 weeks | Ragonezi et al. (2010) |
| Pinus pinea L. | Adventitious microshoots (from cotyledons) | NAA at 10.7 μM with 0.117 of sucrose or 0.117 M of glucose in WPM gelled with 0.65% Difco Bacto-agar | The same without PGR and with 58.4 mM sucrose | Induction for 2 weeks and then for expression 25/19 C day/night 16 h L | Average 53% when 0.117 M of glucose was used in the medium | Zavattieri et al. (2009) |
| Pinus radiata | Shoots (from isolated meristems) | IBA at 8.2 mM and NAA at 5.4 mM in 5% National Midesa agar for 5 d | Transfer to ½ LP medium supplemented with 10% sucrose | 24 ± 2 C, 16 h L, 20-30 LI, CW fluorescent tubes | 28% | Prehn et al. (2003) |
| Pinus radiata | Shoots (seedlings from a mixed population of open-pollinated seed) | NAA, IBA and BAP at 2.7, 5.0 and 0.11 μ M, respectively, for 10 days in SH macro- and micro-salts, 3% sucrose | Transfer to ½ SH medium with 1% sucrose and without PGR | 23 ± 2 C, 16 h L 80 LI CW— fluorescence tubes | 43% | Schestibratov et al. (2003) |
| Pinus roxburghii Sarg | Shoots (from axillary buds) | BA at 10 μM in MS medium with 2% sucrose and 0.6-0.8% agar | Transfer to semisolid (0.6% agar) and liquid ½ MS with filter paper bridges for elongation of roots. The rooted plantlets were washed thoroughly and transferred to liquid ¼ MS medium containing 1% sucrose and absorbent cotton | 25 ± 2 C, 16 h L, 30 LI, CW fluorescent tubes | 97% | Kalia et al. (2007) |
| Pinus sylvestris | Shoots (from axillary buds) | NAA at 53.8 μM in 0.6% water agar. Shoots were placed for 24 h | Transfer to 1/2-strength basal medium (1/8-strength MS medium as modified by Cheng (1975), supplemented with 3% sucrose, 1% Difco Bacto-agar) with 1% sucrose and 1% agar | 26 ± 2 C, 16 h L, 107-240 LI, Sylvania Gro-Lux and fluorescent LV 20 | 64% | Zel et al. (1988) |

53

Trees

Table 2 continued

| Conifer species | Plant material | Root induction | Root growth | Environmental conditions | Rooting (%) | References |
|---|--|---|---|---|----------------|----------------------------------|
| Pinus sylvestris | Adventitious shoots (from zygotic embryos) | NAA at 0.67 mM in 1/6 MS medium for 24 h | The same medium without PGR | Unknown | 33% | Sonia Tsai and Huang (1985) |
| Pinus sylvestris | Adventitious shoots (from cotyledons) | NAA at 2.7 µM ½ GD medium ½ micronutrients, ½ macronutrients, and ½ organics of those in GD medium 1% agar | The same medium without PGR for 4 week | Unknown | 6% | Häggman et al. (1996) |
| Pinus strobus L. | Adventitious shoots (from zygotic embryos) | IAA at 0.01 mM and IBA at 0.01 mM in PS medium | Perlite:peat moss:vermiculite (1:1:1 v/v) in a greenhouse | 24 C, 16 h L, 50 LI, CW fluorescent tubes | 36%, 6 weeks | Tang and Newton (2005a, b) |
| Pinus taeda L. | Adventitious shoots (from zygotic embryos) | IBA at 2.46 $\mu M,$ GA_3 at 1.44 μM and BA at 4.43 μM in TE medium | Vermiculite:commercial compost 3:1 (v/v) | 25 C, 16 h L, 100 LI, CW fluorescent tubes | Unknown | Tang and Guo (2001) |
| Pinus virginiana Mill. | Adventitious shoots (from zygotic embryos) | NAA at 0.05 µM in TE medium for 6 weeks | Established in soil in a greenhouse | 24 C, 16 h L, 50 LI, CW fluorescent tubes | 18% | Tang et al. (2004) |
| Pseudotsuga menziesii (Mirb.) Franco | Adventitious shoots (from cotyledons) | NAA at 10.7 µM in ½ DCR with 1% sucrose for 6 days (2 days in darkness and 4 days in light) | The same without PGR (only in light) | Unknown | 40%, 4 weeks | Hutzell and Durzan (1993) |
| <i>Sequoia</i> <i>sempervirens</i> (Lamb.) Endl | Shoots (from axillary buds) | IBA at 12.3 μM in ½ MS medium with 2% sucrose, 0.75% Difco agar, for 3 months | The same without PGR | 22 ± 3 C, 9 h L, 60 LI, CW fluorescent tubes | 61% | Blazkova et al. (1997) |
| Taxus meirei | Shoots (from steckling) | IBA at 12.5 μ M ½ MS medium supplemented with 20 g Γ^1 sucrose for 3 months | The same without PGR | 24 ± 1 C, 16 h L, 45 LI, CW fluorescent tubes | 55% | Chang et al. (2001) |
| Taxus brevifolia | Adventitious shoots (from zygotic embryos) | Treated with ABT rooting powder (ABT Research Center, Beijing, China) | Transfer rooted shoots to 2-inch pots of plant growth medium (vermiculite: perlite 1:1 (v/v), J. Mollenma Co., Grand Rapids, MI, USA) | 26 C, 16 h L, 80 LI | 58% | Chee (1995) |
| Taxus baccata L. | Shoots (from closed buds or shoot tips) | IBA at 9.8 µM, spermidine at 6.88 mM and TDZ at 4.5 mM in 1/3 L9 medium with 0.5% sucrose | JIFFY 7 peat pellets saturated with water | 15-17 C, 16 h L, 30 LI, white light radiation | Unknown | Ewald (2007b) |
| Thuja occidentalis L. | Adventitious shoots (from zygotic embryos) | IBA at 25 mM in 1/3 MS, 3% sucrose and 0.7% agar | Transfer to autoclaved Redi-Earth (W.R. Grace & Co., Ontario) | 20 C, 16 h L, 30-40 LI | 60%, 3-4 weeks | Harry et al. (1987) |

LI light intensity in μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹

L photoperiod

was not always included. Hamann (1998), working with this species, used a substrate consisting of equal parts of perlite and coarse vermiculite, to a depth of 1.5 ± 2 cm and obtained 80% rooting. In Brazil, with the same species, the cuttings were placed in plastic tubes containing Mecplant (substrate composed of biostabilized pine bark) overlaid with vermiculite (Alcantara et al. 2007). Table 1 shows a compilation of different substrates applied to conifer cuttings.

In vitro rooting of conifer microshoots

Many basic studies on rooting are now carried out in vitro. Using seedling explants and in some cases also explants from mature trees, it has become current, in some species, to produce rooted micropropagated shoots (microcuttings) by in vitro organogenesis (Niemi et al. 2004). Tissue culture method facilitates administration of PGRs and other compounds and avoids microbial degradation of applied compounds (De Klerk et al. 1999). According to many workers, further research is required on the influence of factors such as donor plant age, genotype and type of explant, microcutting quality, auxin treatment, root system and environmental conditions on rooting and acclimatization (Fett-Neto et al. 2001; Greenwood et al. 2001; Bielenin 2003; Henrique et al. 2006). Adventitious rooting of microshoots is characterized by the same four phases as rooting of cuttings (see above).

Rooting medium

The success of plant tissue culture as a means of plant propagation is greatly influenced by the composition of the culture medium. In vitro rooting of conifer microshoots usually occurs in gelled nutrient media (mostly agar- and gellan-gum based) as substrate. This ensures the consistent distribution of PGRs, macro- and micronutrients, and also provides a better contact between shoots and substrate, resulting in more synchronous rooting (Mohammed and Vidaver 1990). However, the quality of produced roots is not always satisfactory. Gelled media probably obstruct gas exchange and inhibit the development of the vascular system in roots, as well as the production of root hairs (Skolmen and Mapes 1978). Culture media and physical supports currently used for rooting of conifer shoots are listed in Table 2. Nutrients are usually reduced to half the strength of that used for shoot production (Blazkova et al. 1997). In general, it has been reported that lower concentration of salts in the culture medium, particularly nitrogen, seems to favor the adventitious rooting of cuttings (Ordás et al. 1985). In our experience, reducing the WPM macronutrients to half strength increases significantly

the percentage of rooted microshoots of *Pinus pinea* L. (Ragonezi et al. 2010).

Plant growth regulators

In vitro organogenesis is a complex series of events that a cell or groups of cells undergo in response to external/ internal stimuli such as phytohormones. According to Thorpe (1980), organogenesis is a developmental process that comprises (a) attainment of competence or preinduction phase, (b) induction or determination phase, and (c) expression phase or post-initiation phase. Cell/tissue responses to form adventitious roots may be different according to species, physiological status of the explants, the phase of the rooting process, and the interaction of the chemical and physical factors of the culture. Table 2 summarizes the available information in the scientific literature, including species, rooting induction treatments, culture media, physical conditions, light regimes and rooting percentages.

Most frequently, the treatments involved IBA (13 references) or NAA (15 references). For five species, a mixture of IBA either with NAA or IAA was used. On the other hand, one research report cited 97% rooted shoots of Pinus roxburghii when 10 µM BA was applied before transfer to a liquid medium for root expression. In one experiment, Taxus brevifolia treated with ABT rooting powder (developed by ABT Research and Development of Chinese Academy of Forestry) produced roots in 58% of the microshoots derived from cotyledon explants. In one case, it was possible to root 84% of the microshoots of P. sitchensis derived from cotyledons without any application of PGRs and by rooting directly in a substrate mix. IBA was applied at concentrations that ranged from 1 to 25 μ M, most often between 2.5 and 14.8 μ M, and only in one study IBA was applied at 25 µM. NAA concentrations varied between as low as 0.05 and 100 µM, with 10.7 µM being the most commonly used. However, the best results were obtained with NAA at concentrations higher than 50 µM, while low concentrations gave poor rooting percentages. The physical support for the shoots during the root expression phase was either a substrate (16 references) or a culture medium without PGRs (18 references).

Carbohydrates

Sucrose is commonly used in tissue culture media because it is the main sugar translocated in the phloem of many plants. However, other carbohydrates such as glucose and fructose have been also used to improve organogenesis (Faye et al. 1989; Ordás et al. 1999; Zavattieri et al. 2009). The exogenous sucrose (in the presence or absence of auxin) is beneficial for the rooting of most herbaceous and woody plants (Haissig 1982). Generally, enrichment with sucrose improves rooting, but this has its limits, as sucrose at high concentrations tends to have negative effects, especially during the root expression phase. A negative interaction between carbohydrates and light could emerge at such high concentrations, either through transformation of added sugars into soluble and storage forms, or through altered nitrogen/sucrose or auxin/sucrose ratios (Moncousin 1991).

In conifers, the data on the influence of carbohydrates in adventitious rooting are limited. Zavattieri et al. (2009) made a direct comparison between different carbon sources (sucrose or glucose at different concentrations) for the induction and expression phases of the adventitious roots in microshoots of *Pinus pinea*. An increased number of roots per shoot and an accelerated root formation were consistently obtained using glucose. However, there were no differences in the overall frequency of rooting. Light (16-h photoperiod, 25/19 °C day/night) and less sugar were beneficial for the ensuing root expression phase. Large differences in the ability to form roots were observed among clones with the rooting percentages ranging between 0 and over 75%. Other examples can be found in Table 2.

Light

Plants grown in vitro have been in most cases subjected to fluorescent lamps. These fluorescent lamps have a broad emission peak in the yellow-red region of the spectrum with different spectral emissions and wavelengths from 350 to 750 nm. However, little attention has been given to the wavelength specificity and its effect on organogenesis, especially in ARF.

Broad-spectrum CW light is often used in rooting studies conducted in vitro (Flygh et al. 1998; Stojičić et al. 1999; Zhang et al. 2006; Ishii et al. 2007; Tang and Newton 2007). Different types of light sources such as Growth-lux (GL) (Gómez and Segura 1994), high-pressure lamps (Scaltsoyiannes et al. 1994) and their combinations such as fluorescent light supplemented with incandescent light (Flygh et al. 1998) are also applied. Different light quality influenced the rooting frequencies according to the PPFD used. Under the intensity of 90 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ from CW lamps, 70% microshoots of *P. pinea* rooted; however, under GL lamps, with the same intensity, rooting was <50% (Ragonezi et al. 2010).

In the case of shoots of Sitka spruce (*P. sitchensis*), the rooting frequency was high (84%) when cultivated under low illumination (1.5 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹) (Drake et al. 1997), but in *Juniperus phoenicea* 40% of rooting was achieved under light intensity of 400 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹. The majority of studies relating to ARF applied light intensities that varied from 60 to 80 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ (Gómez and Segura 1994;

Scaltsoyiannes et al. 1994; Nandwani et al. 2001; Zhang et al. 2006; Ishii et al. 2007). The influence of light (quality) on ARF in shoots of other species is listed in Table 2.

Photoperiod

A photoperiod of 16 h is generally used for in vitro rooting of most conifers (Anderson and Ievinsh 2002; Parasharami et al. 2003). However, different photoperiodism requirements to induce ARF have been published. As an example Burkhart and Meyer (1991), while testing the effect of GA inhibitors to promote in vitro rooting of axillary shoots of white pine (*Pinus strobus* L.), obtained 43% rooted shoots with a pulse treatment of NAA under a long (18 h) photoperiod with CW lamps at 50 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹. In Picea glauca (Moench) Voss, a higher percentage of shoots rooted under continuous light (Campbell and Durzan 1975).

Temperature

Most rooting protocols reported temperatures in the range of 23-27 C (Table 2). Apart from the example of T. occidentalis shoots that rooted at 60 and 10% at 25 and 20°C, respectively (Harry et al. 1987), the lower temperature ranges tended to be beneficial in the induction of roots from shoots of many other gymnosperms. Picea glauca rooting was greater at 20/18°C day/night temperature regimes, compared with 24/18, 20/15 or 25/25°C (Rumary and Thorpe 1984); in Douglas fir, 19°C promoted rooting and normal plants, while at 24°C few roots formed along with callus at the stem/root junction, causing discontinuity in the vascular system (Cheng 1977). In white pine (P. strobus), the highest rooting frequency was obtained after elongated shoots were treated at 4°C for 4 weeks (Tang and Newton 2005a). The positive effect of combining low temperature and darkness in the induction phase (for the first 2 weeks) was observed in P. pinea L., which rooted at a higher percentage at 19°C compared with 25°C (Ragonezi et al. 2010). This is in agreement with the results reported for P. menziesii (Cheng and Voqui 1977) and P. radiata (Smith 1986). A possible explanation for the effect of low temperature and darkness in promoting ARF was given by Hartmann et al. (2002). They noted that under these physical environmental conditions, fewer cell wall deposits, less vascular tissue and thinner walls might have facilitated the movements of exogenous PGRs to regeneration sites. In loblolly pine (P. taeda), Hutchison et al. (1999) observed that during the first 2 days of the rooting process the cambium layer of the hypocotyls dedifferentiated into parenchyma cells in both hypocotyls and epicotyls. Since dedifferentiation

is a part of the regeneration process (Christianson and Warnick 1983), a higher proportion of already undifferentiated cells may improve shoot or root organogenesis. A possible effect of low temperature and darkness could be explained by their influence on auxin metabolism in relation to rooting through modification of peroxidase activities and formation of endogenous phenolic compounds (Druart et al. 1982).

Conclusions

Although difficult to unify, the research results covered in this review highlight some tentative suggestions to explore the physicochemical variables in experimental rooting of conifers, as a guideline for development of more effective conditions for each species. This review also shows the difficulty in establishing correlations between species, PGR concentrations and treatments or any other of the variables cited.

However, an ongoing research on elucidating important aspects of ARF signaling network in angiosperms should eventually provide a better understanding of the process and aid in developing efficient rooting protocols. Whether the same or similar molecular events will be identified in conifers, the evolutionary and physiologically different organisms, remains unknown. A study undertaken by Brinker et al. (2004) in *P. contorta* showed that the transcription level of 200 genes changed from root induction to development suggesting a complex network of interactions in this conifer species.

Acknowledgments This work was supported by FCT Portugal: PTDC/AGR-CFL/71437/2006 Analysis and Mastering of Root Growth Signalling by Ectomycorrhizal Fungi on *P. pinea* L. Microshoot Cultures. Ms. P. Cheers (Canadian Forest Service—Laurentian Forestry Centre) is gratefully acknowledged for English editing.

References

- Abo El-Nil MM (1982) Method for asexual reproduction of coniferous trees. US Patent No. 4,353,184
- Alcantara GB, Fortes Ribas LL, Rioyei HA, Zuffellato Ribas KC, Soares Koehler H (2007) Efeito da idade da muda e da estação do ano no enraizamento de miniestacas de *Pinus taeda* L. Rev Árvore [online] 31:399-404. doi:10.1590/S0100-67622007000300005
- Alonso P, Moncaléan P, Fernández B, Rodríguez A, Centeno ML, Ordás RJ (2006) An improved micropropagation protocol for stone pine (*Pinus pinea* L.). Ann For Sci 63:879-885. doi: 10.1051/forest:2006071
- Álvarez JM, Majada J, Ordás RJ (2009) An improved micropropagation protocol for maritime pine (*Pinus pinaster* Ait.) isolated cotyledons. Forestry 82:175-184. doi:10.1093/forestry/cpn052
- Anderson U, Ievinsh G (2002) Changes of morphogenic competence in mature *Pinus sylvestris* L. buds in vitro. Ann Bot 90:293-298. doi:10.1093/aob/mcf176

- Arteca RN (1995) Plant growth substances principles and applications. Chapman and Hall, New York, p 288
- Beyer EM (1976) A potent inhibitor of ethylene action in plants. Plant Physiol 58:268-271
- Biddington NL (1992) The influence of ethylene in plant tissue culture. Plant Growth Regul, The Hague 11:173-187
- Bielenin M (2003) Rooting and gas exchange of conifer cuttings treated with indolebutyric acid. J Fruit Ornam Plant Res 11:99-105
- Blazkova A, Sotta B, Tranvan H, Maldiney R, Bonnet M, Einhorn J, Kerhoas L, Miginiac E (1997) Auxin metabolism and rooting in young and mature clones of *Sequoia sempervirens*. Physiol Plant 99:73-80
- Bollmark M, Eliasson L (1990) Ethylene accelerates the breakdown of cytokinins and thereby stimulates rooting in Norway spruce hypocotyl cuttings. Physiol Plant 80:534-540. doi:10.1111/j. 1399-3054.1990.tb05675.x
- Brinker M, van Zyl L, Liu W, Craig D, Sederoff RR, Clapham DH, von Arnold S (2004) Microarray analyses of gene expression during adventitious root development in *Pinus contorta*. Plant Physiol 135:1526-1539. doi:10.1104/pp.103.032235
- Browne RD, Davidson CG, Steeves TA, Dunstan DI (1996) Effects of ortet age on adventitious rooting of jack pine (*Pinus banksiana*) long-shoot cuttings. Can J For Res 27:91-96. doi:10.1139/cjfr-27-1-91
- Browne RD, Davidson CG, Enns SM (2000) Improvements in asexual multiplication procedures for jack pine (*Pinus banksiana*). New For 19:259-278
- Burkhart LF, Meyer MM Jr (1991) The gibberellin synthesis inhibitors, ancymidol and flurprimidol, promote in vitro rooting of white pine microshoots. Plant Cell Rep 10:475. doi: 10.1007/BF00233818
- Campbell RA, Durzan DJ (1975) Induction of multiple buds and needles in tissue cultures of *Picea glauca*. Can J Bot 53: 1652-1657
- Capuana M, Giannini R (1995) In vitro plantlet regeneration from embryonic explants of *Pinus pinea* L. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Plant 31:202-206. doi:10.1007/BF02632022
- Chang SH, Ho CK, Chen ZZ, Tsay JY (2001) Micropropagation of *Taxus mairei* from mature trees. Plant Cell Rep 20:496-502. doi: 10.1007/s002990100362
- Chee PP (1995) Organogenesis in *Taxus brevifolia* tissue cultures. Plant Cell Rep 14:560-565. doi:10.1007/BF00231938
- Cheng TY (1975) Adventitious bud formation in culture of Douglas fir (*Pseudotsuga menziesii* (Mirb.) Franco). Plant Sci Lett 5:97-102
- Cheng TY (1977) Factors affecting adventitious bud formation of cotyledon culture of Douglas fir. Plant Sci Lett 9:179-187
- Cheng TY, Voqui TH (1977) Regeneration of Douglas fir plantlets through tissue culture. Science 198:306-307. doi:10.1126/ science.198.4314.306
- Christianson ML, Warnick DA (1983) Competence and determination in the process of in vitro shoot organogenesis. Dev Biol 95: 188-193
- Clark DG, Gubrium EK, Barrett JE, Nell TA, Klee HJ (1999) Root formation in ethylene-insensitive plants. Plant Physiol 121: 53-59
- Copes DL, Mandel NL (2000) Effect of IBA and NAA treatments on rooting Douglas-fir stem cuttings. New For 20:249-257. doi: 10.1023/A:1006752717350
- Corrêa LR, Fett-Neto AG (2004) Effects of temperature on adventitious root development in microcuttings of *Eucalyptus saligna* Smith and *Eucalyptus globulus* Labill. J Therm Biol 29:315-324. doi:10.1016/j.jtherbio.2004.05.006
- Corrêa LR, Paim DC, Schwambach J, Fett-Neto AG (2005) Carbohydrates as regulatory factors in the rooting of *Eucalyptus*

58

saligna Smith and Eucalyptus globulus Labill. Plant Growth Regul 45:63-73

Couée I, Hummel I, Sulmon C, Gouesbet G, El Amrani A (2004) Involvement of polyamines in root development. Plant Cell Tiss Org Cult 76:1-10

- Davidescu VE, Caretu G, Madjar RM, Stanica F, Peticila AG, Dumitrascu M (2003) The influence of substrate and cutting period on the propagation of some ornamental species. Acta Hortic 608:273-277. http://www.actahort.org/books/608/608_ 34.htm
- Davis TD, Haissig BE (1990) Chemical control of adventitious root formation in cuttings. Plant Growth Regul Soc Am Q 18:1-18
- Davis TD, Haissig BE, Sankhla N (1988) Adventitious root formation in cuttings. Adv Plant Sci 2:174-182
- De Klerk GJ, Ter Brugge J, Marinova S (1997) Effectiveness of indoleacetic acid, indolebutyric acid and naphthaleneacetic acid during adventitious root formation in vitro in *Malus* 'Jork 9'. Plant Cell Tissue Organ Cult 49:39-44. doi:10.1023/A:1005850222973

De Klerk GJ, Van der Krieken W, De Jong JC (1999) The formation of adventitious roots: new concepts, new possibilities. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Plant 35:189-199. doi:10.1007/s11627-999-0076-z

De Silva H, Mc Kenzie BA, Bloomberg M (2005) Indolebutyric acid and wounding induced rooting in callused, non-rooted Leyland cypress (x *Cupressocyparis leylandii*) stem cuttings. NZ J Crop Hortic Sci 33:407-412. doi:0014-0671/05/3304-0407

Diaz-Sala C, Hutchison K, Goldfarb B, Greenwood MS (1996) Maturation-related loss of rooting competence by loblolly pine stem cuttings: the role of auxin transport, metabolism and tissue sensitivity. Physiol Plant 97:481-490. doi:10.1111/j.1399-3054. 1996.tb00507.x

Drake PMW, John A, Power JB, Davey MR (1997) Cytokinin pulsemediated shoot organogenesis from cotyledons of Sitka spruce [*Picea sitchensis* (Bong.) Carr.] and high frequency in vitro rooting of shoots. Plant Cell Tissue Organ Cult 50:147-151. doi: 10.1023/A:1005998812774

- Druart PH, Kevers CL, Gaspar TH (1982) In vitro promotion of root formation by apple shoots through darkness effect on endogenous phenols and peroxidases, Z Pflazen Physiol 108:429-436
- Ewald D (2007a) Micropropagation of Larix species via organogenesis. In: Jain SM, Häggman H (eds) Protocols for micropropagation of woody trees and fruits. Springer, Dordrecht, pp 125-136. doi:10.1007/978-1-4020-6352-712
- Ewald D (2007b) Micropropagation of yew (*Taxus baccata* L.). In: Jain SM, Häggman H (eds) Protocols for micropropagation of woody trees and fruits. Springer, Dordrecht, pp 117-123. doi: 10.1007/s002990100362
- Farjon A (1998) World checklist and bibliography of conifers. Royal Botanical Gardens, Kew
- Faye M, Ourry A, Saidali-Savi C, Dargent R, Boucaud J, David A (1989) Effects of glutamine and K-glutamate on assimilation of nitrate during auxin treatment for root formation in vitro (*Pinus pinaster*). Physiol Plant 76:277-282. doi:10.1111/j.1399-3054. 1989.tb06191.x
- Fett-Neto AG, Fett JP, Goulart LWV, Pasquali G, Termignoni RR, Ferreira AG (2001) Distinct effects of auxin and light on adventitious root development in *Eucalyptus saligna* and *Eucalyptus globulus*. Tree Physiol 21:457-464. doi:10.1093/ treephys/21.7.457
- Flygh G, Gronroos R, Hogberg KA, von Arnold S (1998) Development and growth of plantlets of *Pinus contorta* regenerated from adventitious buds. Scand J For Res 13:331-339. doi: 10.1080/02827589809382992
- Gahan PB (2007) Totipotency and the cell cycle. In: Jain SM, Häggman H (eds) Protocols for micropropagation of woody trees and fruits. Springer, Dordrecht, pp 3-14

Gaspar T, Coumans M (1987) Root formation. In: Bonga JM, Durzan DJ (eds) Cell and tissue culture in forestry. Martinus Nijhoff Publishers, The Hague, pp 202-217

Goldfarb B, Hackett WP, Furnier GR, Mohn CA, Plietzsc A (1998) Adventitious root initiation in hypocotyls and epicotyl cuttings of eastern white pine (*Pinus strobus*) seedlings. Physiol Plant 102:513-522. doi:10.1034/j.1399-3054.1998.1020405.x

Gómez MP, Segura J (1994) Axillary shoot proliferation in cultures of explants from mature *Juniperus oxycedrus* trees. Tree Physiol 15:625-628. doi:10.1093/treephys/15.9.625

Greenwood MS, Hutchison KW (1993) Maturation as a developmental process. In: Ahuja MR, Libby WJ (eds) Clonal forestry.I. Genetics and biotechnology. Springer, New York, pp 14-33

Greenwood MS, Weir RJ (1994) Genetic variation in rooting ability of loblolly pine cuttings: effects of auxin and family on rooting by hypocotyl cuttings. Tree Physiol 15:41-45. doi:10.1093/ treephys/15.1.41

Greenwood MS, Cub K, Xu F (2001) Response to auxin changes during maturation-related loss of adventitious rooting competence in loblolly pine (*Pinus taeda*) stem cuttings. Physiol Plant 111:373-380. doi:10.1111/j.1399-3054.2001.1110315.x

Gresshoff PM, Doy CH (1972) Development and differentiation of haploid *Lycopersicon esculentum* (tomato). Plant 17:161-170. doi:10.1007/BF00387721

- Gupta PK, Durzan DJ (1985) Shoot multiplication from mature Douglas-fir and sugar pine. Plant Cell Rep 4:177-179
- Häggman H, Aronen T, Stomp A-M (1996) Early-flowering Scots pines through tissue culture for accelerating tree breeding. Theor Appl Genet 93:840-848

Haissig BE (1982) Carbohydrate and amino acid concentrations during adventitious root primordium development in *Pinus banksiana* Lamb. cuttings. For Sci 28:813-821

Haissig BE (1990) Reduced irradiance and applied auxin influence carbohydrate relations in *Pinus banksiana* cuttings during propagation. Physiol Plant 78:455-461. doi:10.1111/j.1399-3054.1990.tb09063.x

Hamann A (1998) Adventitious root formation in cuttings of loblolly pine (*Pinus taeda* L.): developmental sequence and effects of maturation. Trees 12:175-180. doi:10.1007/PL00009707

Hansen J, Ernstsen A (1982) Seasonal changes in adventitious root formation in hypocotyl cuttings of *Pinus sylvestris*: influence of photoperiod during stock plant growth and of indolebutyric acid treatment of cuttings. Physiol Plant 54:99-106

Harry IS, Thompson MR, Lu CY, Thorpe TA (1987) In vitro plantlet formation from embryonic explants of eastern white cedar (*Thuja occidentalis* L.). Tree Physiol 3:273-283. doi:10.1093/ treephys/3.3.273

Hartmann HT, Kester DE (1983) Anatomical and physiological basis of propagation by cuttings. In: Plant propagation: principles and practices. Prentice-Hall Inc., Englewood Cliffs, pp 235-297

Hartmann HT, Kester DE, Davis FT Jr, Geneve RL (2002) Plant propagation: principles and practices, 7th edn. Prentice-Hall Inc., Englewood Cliffs

Henrique A, Campinhos EN, Ono EO, Pinho SZ (2006) Effect of plant growth regulators in the rooting of *Pinus* cuttings. Braz Arch Biol Technol 49:189-196

Hogberg K (2005) Rooting response of late summer cuttings taken from *Pinus sylvestris* half-sib families. Scand J For Res 20:313-317. doi:10.1080/02827580510036382

Hogberg K, Flygh G, Gronroos R, von Arnold S (2005) Field performance of *Pinus contorta* trees propagated vegetatively via adventitious buds. Scand J For Res 20:318-321. doi:10.1080/ 02827580510036247

Hutchison KW, Singer PB, McInnis S, Diaz-Sala C, Greenwood MS (1999) Expansins are conserved in conifers and expressed in

hypocotyls in response to exogenous auxin. Plant Physiol 120:827-832

- Hutzell MJ, Durzan DJ (1993) Improved aseptic germination and controlled growth for micropropagation of Douglas fir. In: Ahuja MR (ed) Micropropagation of woody plants. Kluwer, Dordrecht, pp 367-372
- Ingestad T (1979) Mineral nutrient requirements of *Pinus sylvestris* and Pinus abies seedlings. Physiol Plant 45:373-380
- Ishii K, Hosoi Y, Maruyama E (2007) Micropropagation of *Pinus* armandii var. amamiana. In: Jain SM, Häggman H (eds) Protocols for micropropagation of woody trees and fruits. Springer, Dordrecht, pp 41-50. doi:10.1007/978-1-4020-6352-7_5
- Kalia RK, Arya S, Kalia S, Arya ID (2007) Plantlet regeneration from fascicular buds of seedling shoot apices of *Pinus roxburghii* Sarg. Biol Planta 51:653-659. doi:10.1007/s10535-007-0138-1
- Kaur-Sawhney R, Tiburcio AF, Atabella T, Galston AW (2003) Polyamines in plants: an overview. J Cell Mol Biol 2:1-12
- Klimaszewska K, Trontin J-F, Becwar MR, Devillard C, Park Y-S, Lelu-Walter M-A (2007) Recent progress in somatic embryogenesis of four *Pinus* spp. Glob Sci Books Tree For Sci Biotechnol 1:11-25
- Krouk G, Lacombe B, Bielach A, Perrine-Walker F, Malinska K, Mounier E et al (2010) Nirate-regulated auxin transport by NRT1.1 defines a mechanism for nutrient sensing in plants. Dev Cell 18:927-937. doi:10.1016/j.devcel.20101.05.008
- Kumar PP, Lakshmanan P, Thorpe TA (1998) Regulation of morphogenesis in plant tissue culture by ethylene. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Plant 34:94-103
- Kummerow J (1966) Vegetative propagation of *Pinus radiata* by means of needle fascicles. For Sci 12:391-398
- Kunneman BPAM, Ruesink JB (1997) Interactions between light, temperature and CO₂ in rooting of conifers cuttings. Acta Hortic 418:97-102. http://www.actahort.org/books/418/418_12.htm
- Lamhamedi MS, Tousignant D (2008) Clonal variations in *Picea abies* stock plants produced by somatic embryogenesis and their use in cutting propagation programs. In: IUFRO-CTIA 2008 joint conference—adaptation, breeding and conservation in the era of forest tree genomics and environmental change, Québec, QC, 25-28 August 2008
- Li M, Leung DWM (2000) Starch accumulation is associated with adventitious root formation in hypocotyl cuttings of *Pinus radiata*. J Plant Growth Regul 19:423-428. doi:10.1007/ s003440000020
- Li SW, Xue L (2010) The interaction between H_2O_2 and NO, Ca^{2?}, and cGMP, and MAPKs during adventitious rooting in mung bean seedlings. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Plant 46:142-148. doi: 10.1007/s11627-009-9275-x
- Li SW, Xue L, Xu S, Feng H, An L (2009) Mediators, genes and signaling in adventitious rooting. Bot Rev 75:230-247. doi: 10.1007/s12229-009-9029-9
- Libby WJ (1986) Clonal propagation. J For 84:37-45
- Lindroth AM, Saarikoski P, Flygh G, Clapham D, Gronroos R, Thelander M, Ronne H, von Arnold S (2001) Two sadenosylmethionine synthetase-encoding genes differentially expressed during adventitious root development in *Pinus contorta*. Plant Mol Biol 46:335-346. doi:10.1023/A:1010637012528
- Lloyd G, McCown B (1981) Commercially feasible micropropagation of mountain laurel, *Kalmia latifolia*, by the use of shoot tip culture. Proc Plant Prop Soc 30:421-427
- López-Escamilla AL, Olguín-Santos LP, Márquez J, Chávez VM, Bye R (2000) Adventitious bud formation from mature embryos of *Picea chihuahuana* Martínez, an endangered Mexican spruce tree. Ann Bot 86:921-927. doi:10.1006/anbo.2000.1257
- Loureiro J, Capelo A, Brito G, Rodriguez E, Silva S, Pinto G, Santos C (2007) Micropropagation of *Juniperus phoenicea* from adult

plant explants and analysis of ploidy stability using flow cytometry. Biol Plant 51:7-14. doi:10.1007/s10535-007-0003-2

- Martínez Pulido C, Harry IS, Thorpe TA (1990) In vitro regeneration of plantlets of Canary Island pine (*Pinus canariensis*). Can J For Res 20:1200-1211. doi:10.1139/x90-159
- Martinez-Pastur G, Arena ME, Benavides MP, Eliasco E, Curvetto N (2007) Role of polyamines during in vitro rhizogenesis of *Nothofagus nervosa* using successive culture media. New For 34:83-93
- Martin-Tanguy J (2001) Metabolism and function of polyamines in plants: recent development (new approaches). Plant Growth Regul 34:135-148
- Martin-Tanguy J, Carré M (1993) Polyamines in grapevine microcuttings cultivated in vitro: effects of amines and inhibitors of polyamine biosynthesis on polyamine levels and microcutting growth and development. Plant Growth Regul 13:269-280
- Mazăre G, Dumitra, A, Zaharia D, Holonec L, Ceuca V, Timofte A (2007) The obtaining of *Picea cultivars* by cuttings. Bulletin of University of Agricultural Sciences and Veterinary Medicine, Cluj-Napoca. Horticulture 64:277-281
- McClelland MT, Smith MAL, Carothers ZB (1990) The effects of in vitro and ex vitro root initiation on subsequent microcutting root quality in three woody plants. Plant Cell Tissue Organ Cult 23:115-123
- Menzies MI, Holden DG, Klomp BK (2001) Recent trends in nursery practice in New Zealand. New For 22:3-17. doi:10.1023/A: 1012027013173
- Moe R, Andersen AS (1988) Stock plant environment and subsequent adventitious rooting. In: Davis TD, Haissig BE, Sankhla N (eds) Adventitious root formation in cuttings. Advances in plant sciences series, vol 2. Dioscorides Press, Portland, pp 214-234
- Mohammed GH, Vidaver WE (1988) Root production and plantlet development in tissue-cultured conifers. Plant Cell Tissue Organ Cult 14:137-160
- Mohammed GH, Vidaver WE (1990) The influence of acclimatization treatment and plantlet morphology on early greenhouse performance of tissue-cultured Douglas fir [*Pseudotsuga menziesii* (Mirb) Franco]. Plant Cell Tissue Organ Cult 21:111-117. doi: 10.1007/BF00033429
- Moncousin CH (1991) Rooting of in vitro cuttings. In: Bajaj YPS (ed) Biotechnology in agriculture and forestry. Springer, Berlin, pp 231-261
- Mudge KW (1988) Effect of ethylene on rooting. In: Davis TD, Haissig BE, Sankhla N (eds) Adventitious root formation in cuttings. Advances in plant sciences series, vol 2. Dioscorides Press, Portland, pp 150-161
- Murashige T, Skoog F (1962) A revised medium for rapid growth and bio-assays with tobacco tissue cultures. Physiol Plant 15:473-497
- Nandwani D, Kumaria S, Tandon P (2001) Micropropagation of *Pinus kesiya* Royle ex Gord (Khasi pine). Gartenbauwissenschaft 66:68-71
- Nicholson R (1984) Propagation notes *Cedrus deodara* 'Shalimar' and *Calocedrus decurrens*. Plant Prop 30:5-6
- Nicholson R, Garcia B, McDaniel B, MacRay C (1999) Observations on the propagation of *Cupressus dupreziana* Camus, an endemic Saharan Gymnosperm. Bot Gard Conserv News 3:49-50
- Niemi K, Scagel C, Häggman H (2004) Application of ectomycorrhizal fungi in vegetative propagation of conifers. Plant Cell Tissue Organ Cult 78:83-91. doi:10.1023/B:TICU.00000 20379.52514.72
- Nordstrom AC, Jacobs FA, Eliasson L (1991) Effect of exogenous indole-3-acetic acid and indole-3-butyric acid on internal levels of the respective auxins and their conjugation with aspartic acid during adventitious root formation in pea cuttings. Plant Physiol 96:856-861

- Ordás RJ, Rodríguez A, Rodríguez R, Sánchez R (1985) Desarrollo de técnicas de cultivo "in vitro" para la micropropagación de variedades de manzana sidrera. Edafol Agrobiotecnol 43:905-917
- Ordás RJ, Alonso P, Cuesta C, Cortizo M, Rodríguez A, Fernández B (1999) Micropropagation of *Pinus pinea* L. In: Jain SM, Häggman H (eds) Protocols for micropropagation of woody trees and fruits. Springer, Dordrecht, pp 33-39
- Pâques LE, Cornu D (1991) Effect of vegetative propagation on field performance up to age 8 of hybrid larch (*Larix x eurolepsis*) clones. Ann Sci For 48:469-482
- Parasharami VA, Poonawala IS, Nadgauda RS (2003) Bud break and plantlet regeneration in vitro from mature trees of *Pinus roxburghii* Sarg. Curr Sci 84:203-208
- Pijut PM (2000) Cedrus—the true cedars. J Arboric 26:218-224
- Prehn D, Serrano C, Mercado A, Stange C, Barrales L, Arce-Johnson P (2003) Regeneration of whole plants from apical meristems of *Pinus radiata*. Plant Cell Tissue Organ Cult 73:91-94. doi: 10.1023/A:1022615212607
- Quorin M, Lepoivre P (1977) Études de milieux adaptes aux cultures in vitro de *Prunus*. Acta Hortic 78:437-442
- Ragonezi C, Castro MR, Klimaszewska K, Lima M, Zavattieri MA (2010) Influence of light quality and intensity on adventitious root formation in microshoots of *Pinus pinea* L. Acta Hort 865:287-291. http://www.actahort.org/books/865/865_38.htm
- Rasmussen A, Smith TE, Hunt MA (2009) Cellular stages of root formation, root system quality and survival of *Pinus elliottii* var. elliottii 9 P. caribaea var. hondurensis cuttings in different temperature environments. New For 38:285-294. doi:10.1007/ s11056-009-9147-6
- Risser PG, White PR (1964) Nutritional requirements of spruce tumor cells in vitro. Physiol Plant 17:620-635
- Ritchie GA (1991) The commercial use of conifer rooted cuttings in forestry: a world overview. New For 5:247-275. doi:10.1007/ BF00028115
- Rosier CL, Frampton J, Goldfarb B, Wise FC, Blazich FA (2004a) Growth stage, auxin type, and concentration influence rooting of stem cuttings of Fraser fir. HortScience 39:1397-1402
- Rosier CL, Frampton J, Goldfarb B, Wise FC, Blazich FA (2004b) Growth stage, auxin type, and concentration influence rooting of virginia pine stem cuttings. HortScience 39:1392-1396
- Rumary C, Thorpe TA (1984) Plantlet formation in black and white spruce. I. In vitro techniques. Can J For Res 14:10-16. doi: 10.1139/x84-002
- Saborio F, Dvorak WS, Donahue JK, Thorpe TA (1997) In vitro regeneration of plantlets from mature embryos of *Pinus ayacahuite*. Tree Physiol 17:787-796
- Scagel CF, Linderman RG (2000) Changes in root IAA content and growth of bare root conifers treated with plant growth regulating substances at planting. J Environ Hortic 18:99-107
- Scagel CF, Linderman RG, Scagel RK (2000) Ten-year growth and survival of Douglas-fir seedlings treated with plant growth regulating substances at transplant. Can J For Res 30:1778-1787. doi:10.1139/cjfr-30-11-1778
- Scaltsoyiannes A, Panetsos K, Economou A, Tsoulpha P (1994) Micropropagation of the pine hybrid *Pinus brutia* (Ten) x *Pinus halepensis* (Mill) by culturing fascicle shoots. Ann Sci For 51:175-182. doi:10.1051/forest:19940207
- Schenk RU, Hildebrandt AC (1972) Medium and techniques for induction and growth of monocotyledonous and dicotyledonous plant cell cultures. Can J Bot 50:199-204
- Schestibratov KA, Mikhailov RV, Dolgov SV (2003) Plantlet regeneration from subculturable nodular callus of *Pinus radiata*. Plant Cell Tiss Org Cult 72:139-146
- Selby C, Kennedy SJ, Harvey BMR (1992) Adventitious root formation in hypocotyl cuttings of *Picea sitchensis* (Bong.)

Carr.—the influence of plant growth regulators. New Phytol 120:453-457

- Sen S, Magallanes-Cedeno ME, Kamps RH, McKinley CR, Newton RJ (1994) In vitro micropropagation of *Afghan pine*. Can J For Res 24:1248-1252
- Shamet GS, Bhardwaj SD (1995) Vegetative propagation of deodar, spruce, and silver-fir using stem cuttings under intermittent mist. Van Vigyan 33:80-84
- Shigehiro Y (2006) Effect of plant growth retardant (daminozide wettable powder) to control elongation of seedlings of *Cryptomeria japonica* and *C. chamaecyparis* obtuse. Bull Shizuoka Prefecture. For For Prod 34:1-6
- Silva AA (1985) Propagação vegetativa em *Pinus* spp. Silvicultura 2:141
- Skolmen RG, Mapes MO (1978) Aftercare procedures required for field survival of tissue culture propagated Acacia koa. Comb Proc Int Plant Prop Soc 28:156-164
- Smith DR (1986) Forest and nut trees. In: Bajaj YPS (ed) Biotechnology in agriculture and forestry. Trees, vol 1. Springer, Berlin, pp 274-289
- Sonia Tsai HC, Huang FH (1985) Vegetative propagation of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) through tissue culture. In: Proceedings of 18th southern forest tree improvement conference, Long Beach, MS, v. 18
- Stojicic ' D, Budimir S, Culafic' L (1999) Micropropagation of *Pinus heldreichii*. Plant Cell Tissue Organ Cult 59:147-150. doi: 10.1023/A:1006373218772
- Stumpf ERT, Grolli P, Silva JAG (1999) Rooting of *Chamaecyparis lawsoniana* PARL. Cuttings with indolbutyric acid in five media. Ciênc Rural 29:207-211. doi:10.1590/S0103-84781999000 200004
- Sul W, Korban SS (2004) Effects of salt formulations, carbon sources, cytokinins, and auxin on shoot organogenesis from cotyledons of *Pinus pinea* L. J Plant Growth Regul 43:197-205. doi: 10.1023/B:GROW.0000046013.47892.4f
- Sutton B (2002) Commercial delivery of genetic improvement to conifer plantations using somatic embryogenesis. Ann For Sci 59:657-661. doi:0.1051/forest:2002052
- Tang W, Guo Z (2001) In vitro propagation of loblolly pine via direct somatic organogenesis from mature cotyledons and hypocotyls. J Plant Growth Regul 33:25-31. doi:10.1023/A: 1010764816523
- Tang W, Newton RJ (2005a) Plant regeneration from callus cultures derived from mature zygotic embryos in white pine (*Pinus* strobus L.). Plant Cell Rep 24:1-9. doi:10.1007/s00299-005-0914-3
- Tang W, Newton RJ (2005b) Polyamines promote root elongation and growth by increasing root cell division in regenerated Virginia pine (*Pinus virginiana* Mill) plantlets. Plant Cell Rep 24: 581-589
- Tang W, Newton RJ (2007) Micropropagation via organogenesis in slash pine. In: Jain SM, Häggman H (eds) Protocols for micropropagation of woody trees and fruits. Springer, Dordrecht, pp 15-22. doi:10.1007/978-1-4020-6352-7_2
- Tang W, Ouyang F, Guo ZC (1998) Plant regeneration through organogenesis from callus induced from mature zygotic embryos of loblolly pine. Plant Cell Rep 17:557-560
- Tang W, Harris LC, Outhavong V, Newton RJ (2004) The effect of different plant growth regulators on adventitious shoot formation from Virginia pine (*Pinus virginiana*) zygotic embryo explants. Plant Cell Tissue Organ Cult 78:237-240. doi:10.1023/B:TICU. 0000025658.73970.57
- Tarenghi E, Carré M, Martin-Tanguy J (1995) Effects of inhibitors of polyamine biosynthesis and polyamines on strawberry microcutting growth and development. Plant Cell Tiss Org Cult 42:47-55

- Thorpe TA (1980) Organogenesis in vitro: structural, physiological, and biochemical aspects. In: Vasil IK (ed) Perspectives in plant cell and tissue culture. Int Rev Cytol, Suppl 11A, Academic Press, New York, pp 71-105
- Van den Driessche R (1983) Rooting of Sitka spruce cuttings from hedges, and after chilling. Plant Soil 71:495-499. doi:10.1007/ BF02182691
- Veierskov B (1988) Relations between carbohydrates and adventitious root formation. In: Davis TD, Haissig BE, Sankhla N (eds) Adventitious root formation in cuttings. Advanced plant science series, vol 2. Dioscorides Press, Portland, pp 11-28
- Wang J, Pan R (2006) Effect of ethylene on adventitious root formation. In: Khan NA (ed) Ethylene action in plants. Springer, Berlin, pp 69-79
- Wenger KF (1984) Forestry handbook, 2nd edn. Wiley, New York
- Wiesman Z, Lavee S (1995) Enhancement of IBA stimulatory effect on rooting of olive cultivar stem cutting. Sci Hortic 65:189-198. doi:10.1016/0304-4238(95)00772-L

- Wiesman Z, Riov J, Epstein E (1989) Paclobutrazol and ureaphosphate increase rooting and survival of peach "Maravilha" softwood cuttings. HortScience 24:908-909
- Zavattieri A, Lima M, Sobral V, Oliveira P, Costa A (2009) Effects of carbon source, carbon concentration and culture conditions on in vitro rooting of *Pinus pinea* L. microshoots. Acta Hortic 812:173-180
- Zel J, Gogala N, Camloh M (1988) Micropropagation of *Pinus* sylvestris. Plant Cell Tissue Organ Cult 14:169-175
- Zhang Y, Wei Z, Xi M, Shi J (2006) Direct organogenesis and plantlet regeneration from mature zygotic embryos of masson pine (*Pinus massoniana* L.). Plant Cell Tissue Organ Cult 84: 119-123. doi:10.1007/s11240-005-9004-z



Chapter 3 Influence of Light Quality and Intensity on Adventitious Root Formation in Microshoots of *Pinus pinea* L.

Manuscript published in Acta Horticulturae ISHS

Ragonezi C, Castro MR, Klimaszewska K, Lima M, Zavattieri A (2010) Influence of light quality and intensity on adventitious root formation in microshoots of *Pinus pinea* L. Proceedings of the IV International Symposium on Acclimatization and Establishment of Micropropagated Plants. Acta Horticulturae 865:287-291. http://www.actahort.org/books/865/865_38.htm

Influence of Light Quality and Intensity on Adventitious Root Formation in Microshoots of Pinus pinea L.

C. Ragonezi^{1,a}, M.R. Castro¹, K. Klimaszewska², M. Lima¹ and M.A. Zavattieri¹

¹Laboratory of Plant Breeding and Biotechnology, ICAM, University of Évora, Ap. 94, 7002-554 Évora Codex, Portugal

Natural Resources Canada, Canadian Forest Service, Laurentian Forestry Centre, 1055 du P.E.P.S., P.O. Box 10380, Stn. Sainte-Foy, Québec, G1V 4C7, Canada

Keywords: stone pine, micropropagation, Gro-lux lamps (GL), Cool-white lamps (CW)

Abstract

In the present study of *Pinus pinea* L., further improvement of microshoot rooting was achieved by applying Cool-white light at increased intensity from 60 to 90 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹. In contrast, light provided by Gro-lux lamps promoted rooting of the microshoots at the same frequency regardless of its intensity. Majority of microshoots (70.4%) grown under Cool-white lamps at the intensity of 90 µmol m s^{-1} were also significantly taller when compared with those from other tested treatments.

INTRODUCTION

The light-mediated changes in plant growth and development are referred to as photomorphogenesis, and plants have extraordinary versatility to perceive different light signals in different developmental contexts. Different groups of photoreceptors of the photosensory systems regulate plant development, namely cryptochromes, phototropins and phytochromes each of them monitoring different wavelengths regions of the spectrum (Quail, 2002). Plants use phytochrome to detect and respond to red and far-red wavelengths and cryptochromes were the first blue light receptors isolated and characterized. Light can also modify the efficacy of plant growth regulators (PGRs) as well as affect the endogenous hormone balance. Auxin plays a central role in the determination of rooting capacity, and light conditions are known to affect auxin metabolism and tissue receptivity (Reid et al., 1991). From an applied point of view, plant morphogenesis may be influenced by the correct choice of lamps and filters (Fuerakranz et al., 1990). For example, red-light improved rooting percentage and root numbers in shoots of two genotypes of grape propagated in vitro (Poudel et al., 2008). However, little is known about the effect of green and yellow lights, which seem to be involved in the regulation of in vitro plant development (Loreti et al., 1991).

The purpose of this work was to establish if light quality and intensity, within the visible range, influence root growth and development of Pinus pinea microshoots with the aim of enhancing the present rooting protocol achieved with Cool-white (CW) lamps.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Plant Material

Cotyledons from non-germinated embryos of stone pine (Pinus pinea L.) were used as explants. The seed coat was cracked with a nut cracker and discarded. The remainder megagametophytes were surface sterilized by immersion in 70% (v/v) ethyl alcohol for 2 minutes followed by three rinses in sterile bi-distilled water. They were then disinfected with sodium hypochlorite 10% (v/v) (commercial bleach with 5% free chlorine) for 25 minutes followed by four rinses in sterile bi -distilled water. All of the following steps were carried out under aseptic conditions. An embryo was excised from the megagametophyte by making a longitudinal incision with a scalpel and by gently pulling the edges of the cleft with two forceps. Finally, the cotyledons were excised from

^a cazi04@hotmail.com

the embryo axes with a cut at their bases.

Microshoot Induction from Embryo Cotyledons

The whole set of cotyledons of each of 20 excised embryos was cultured separately in a Petri-dish (9 x 1.5 cm) containing WPM (McCown and Lloyd, 1981) medium supplemented with 5 mg/L of benzylamino purine (BAP) for shoot organogenesis. After a month, the explants with shoot buds were transferred to a fresh PGR-free medium with 2 g/L of activated charcoal (AC) to promote shoot elongation.

Rooting of Microshoots

Seven, eleven, and six clonal shoots were tested at 60, 90, and 110 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹, respectively. In all experiments, shoots 2 cm in height were transferred to WPM with half concentration of the macronutrients, 0.65% Difco Bacto-Agar and different carbon sources (see below), and adjusted to pH 5.8 before autoclaving. For root induction, which lasted two weeks, the medium was supplemented with 10.7 μ M naphthalene acetic acid (NAA) (Oliveira et al., 2003), and 0.12 M glucose (WPMRI). The cultures were kept for two weeks in a growth chamber; the first week in darkness. During the 2nd week of induction (under 16 h photoperiod and constant temperature of 19°C) and during root expression phase, two light sources were used: Sylvania Gro-lux lamps 18W (GL) and Philips Cool-white lamps 18W (CW) at different photosynthetic photon flux (PPF – see above) depending on the experiment. In all experiments root expression medium was WPM consisting of half concentration of the macronutrients, without PGRs and with 0.058 M glucose (WPMRE) at 16 h photoperiod and 24/19°C day/night temperatures. The root emergence was monitored for six weeks.

Light Sources Spectra

Gro- lux: The color tone of GL light is violet; this is the result of the combination of blue and red wave lengths. Cool-white: Broad-spectrum CW light lamps supply blue, yellow, and green light but very little far red light (Fig. 1). Light intensity was measured in the middle of the culture flask with the quantum sensor (Skye Instruments Ltd., UK SKP 200).

Evaluated Parameters and Statistical Analyses

Rooting percentages and the number of roots produced over time for each light quality and intensity were monitored. The percentages of rooted microshoots were compared by the analysis of variance (ANOVA) for clones and light sources using Statistica six Sigma. Means were compared by Duncan's Range test.

RESULTS

P. pinea microshoots rooted at 40% under CW lamps and at 47.1% under GL lamps at 60 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ (Fig. 2, Experiment 1). In order to test if increased to 90 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ light intensity from both types of lamps would influence the rooting response; one additional lamp was added in each tissue culture chamber (Experiment 2). Since there were no statistical differences among clones in the first experiment, the data analysis in experiment 2 considered only light quality and light intensity. In the latter experiment 70.4% microshoots rooted under CW and 51% under GL lamps (Fig. 2). There was a significant difference in the rooting percentage under CW lamps at 60 versus 90 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹, but no difference was observed at the two intensities for GL lamps (Fig. 2, Table 1). This indicated that the *P. pinea* microshoots were not sensitive to variation in the photosynthetic photon flux (PPF) from GL lamps with respect to rooting response. When the light was increased to 110 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹, reduction of the rooting percentages was observed for both lamp types, particularly for GL (Fig. 2).

The number of roots produced per week increased exponentially during two weeks on WPMRE medium under both types of light (Fig. 3).

DISSCUSION

During the first week of the rizhogenic process (induction) the combination of 0.12 M glucose with 10.7 μ M NAA in the medium, and continuous darkness were the most favorable conditions compared with previously tested ones (unpublished results).

Rooting percentage was influenced by different light quality according to the PPF used. The fact that similar rooting percentages were obtained for GL lamps at 60 and 90 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ indicated that an increase in light intensity did not stimulate rooting. In contrast, increased intensity of CW light increased the rooting percentage by more than 30%. This is an interesting result from the practical point of view because without any change in the tissue culture protocol, except for one additional CW lamp in the culture chamber, it was possible to obtain an increased number of rooted stone pine plantlets. However, at a higher light intensity (110 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹) ARF was inhibited under both lamps indicating that optimal conditions were exceeded.

Comparing both fluorescent lamps spectra, GL lamps emit blue and red waves and CW more yellow and green. These differences in the spectra could explain the results of this study, which are consistent with the previous observations that phytochrome was mainly involved in root formation (Tyburski and Tretyn, 1999) and that blue light inhibited photomorphogenesis (Seibert et al., 1975). The yellow component of CW lamps might have enhanced adventitious rooting in *P. pinea* similarly to the results of Fuerakranz et al. (1990). The authors reported that yellow light and CW lamps were superior for rooting of *Prunus serotina* compared with red and blue lights alone.

Maximum rooting that occurred after approximately 15 days in the expression medium and was consistent in all the treatments, indicated that the time to trigger microshoot response and growth of new roots were independent from the light quality, and that this parameter was determined by other physiological factors.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This work was supported by FCT Portugal: Analysis and Mastering of Root Growth Signalling by Ectomycorrhizal Fungi on *Pinus pinea* L. Microshoot Cultures.

Literature Cited

- Fuerakranz, H.A., Nowak, C.A. and Maynard, C.A. 1990. Light effects on in vitro adventitious root formation in axillary shoots of mature *Prunus serotina*. Physiol. Plant. 80:337–341.
- Loreti, F., Muleo, R. and Morini, S. 1991. Effect of light quality on growth of in vitro cultured organs and tissues. Proc. Int. Plant Propagator's Soc. 40:615–623.
- Lloyd, G. and Mc Cown, B. 1981. Commercially feasible micropropagation of mountainlaurel, *Kalmia latifolia*, by the use of shoot tip culture. Proc. Plant Prop. Soc. 30:421–427.
- Oliveira, P., Barriga, J., Cavaleiro, C., Peixe, A. and Potes. 2003. Sustained in vitro root development obtained in *Pinus pinea* L. inoculated with ectomycorrhizal fungi. Forestry 76:579–587.
- Poudel, P.R., Kataoka, I. and Mochioka, R. 2008. Effect of red- and blue -light-emitting diodes on growth and morphogenesis of grapes. Plant Cell Tiss. Org. Cult. 92:147–153.
- Quail, P.H. 2002. Photosensory perception and signaling in plant cell: new paradigms? Current Opin. Cell Biol. 14:180–188.
- Reid, D., Beall, F.D. and Pharis, R.P. 1991. Environmental cues in plant growth and development. p.65–181. In: F.C. Steward (ed.), Plant Physiology A Treatise, Vol X. Academic Press, San Diego
- Seibert, M., Wetherbee, P.J. and Job, D.D. 1975. The effects of light intensity and spectral quality on growth and shoot initiation in tobacco callus. Plant Physiol. 56:130–139.
- Tyburski, J. and Tretyn, A. 1999. Organogenetic response of photomorphogenic mutants of tomato. J. Plant Physiol. 155:568–575.

Whitelam, G.C. and Halliday, K.J. 1999. Phytochrome takes a partner! Current Biology 9:225–227.

<u>Table</u>

| | Light quality | Intensity | GL 60, 47143 | GL 90, 45714 | GL 110, 05000 | CW 60, 42643 | CW 90, 71571 | , CW 110, 16667 |
|---|------------------|-----------|-----------------|-----------------|------------------|-----------------|-----------------|--------------------|
| 1 | GL | 60 | | 0,8900 | 0,0005* | 0,6830 | 0,0229* | 0,0089* |
| 2 | GL | 90 | | | 0,0007* | 0,7663 | 0,0215* | 0,0103* |
| 3 | GL | 110 | | | | 0,0012* | 0,0000* | 0,2629 |
| 4 | CW | 60 | | | | | 0,0127* | 0,0161* |
| 5 | CW | 90 | | | | | | 0,0000* |
| 6 | CW | 110 | | | | | | |

Table 1. Duncan test for variable rooting percentage.

Figures



Fig. 1. Spectra of Sylvania Gro-lux lamps (white) and Philips Cool-white lamps (black).



Fig. 2. Rooting of *P. pinea* microshoots under different light quality and intensity. See significance in the Duncan Range test above.



Fig. 3. Number of roots produced per week considering all microshoots for each light treatment under Cool-white and Gro-lux lamps at 60 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹.



Chapter 4 Mycorrhiza-like Structures in Rooted Microshoots of *Pinus pinea* L.

Manuscript published in Acta Horticulturae ISHS

Castro MR, Ragonezi C, Klimaszewska K, Lima M, Oliveira P, Zavattieri A (2010) Mycorrhiza-like Structures in Rooted Microshoots of *Pinus pinea* L. Proceedings of the IV International Symposium on Acclimatization and Establishment of Micropropagated Plants. Acta Horticulturae 865:179-185. http://www.actahort.org/books/865/865_22.htm

Mycorrhiza-like Structures in Rooted Microshoots of Pinus pinea L.

M.R. Castro^{1, a}, C. Ragonezi¹, K. Klimaszewska², M. Lima¹, P. de Oliveira¹ and M.A. Zavattieri¹

¹Laboratory of Plant Breeding and Biotechnology, ICAM, University of Évora, Apart. 94, 27002-554 Évora, Portugal

²Natural Resources Canada, Canadian Forest Service, Laurentian Forestry Centre, 1055 du P.E.P.S. PO Box 10380, Stn.Sainte-Foy, Québec, G1V 4C7, Canada

Keywords: ectomycorrhizae, stone pine, rhizotron, adventitious roots, acclimation, biotization

Abstract

Pinus pinea L. (stone pine) is one of the major plantation species in Iberian Peninsula, being Portugal the largest edible seed producer in the world. The induction and improvement of in vitro rhizogenesis of microshoots of *Pinus pinea* was developed in our laboratory using a co-culture system with ECM fungi. In the acclimation phase in mixed substrates, or in rhizotrons, anatomical and morphological studies were done to observe the evolution of the root system in microshoots from the co-culture system vs. control plants. Extensive dichotomous and coralloid branching of lateral roots occurred spontaneously in inoculated and control plants as well. Moreover, similar branching occurred in liquid culture of excised seedling roots without the presence of ECM fungi. The striking similarity of these organs with pine ectomycorrhizas prompted their anatomical analysis; however the presence of Hartig net was not confirmed. These results suggested that the development of ECM-like structures might have occurred spontaneously.

INTRODUCTION

Mycorrhizas are symbiotic structures formed between plant roots and fungi that act as an extension of absorption system, where the fungal partner obtains photosynthetic sugars from the host plant while, in return, the plant receives mineral nutrients from the fungus (Smith and Read, 1997). Ectomycorrhizas (ECM) are the main absorption organs in conifers, and the exchange of nutrients occurs in a specific structure that is formed between the fungal hyphae and the outer root layers. This structure is known as the Hartig net, which is formed by the hyphae penetrating from the surrounding mantle into the root apoplast (Smith and Read, 1997; Brundrett et al., 1996). This mutualistic relationship with fungi grants conifers an ecological advantage to withstand the harsh living conditions.

Stone pine is an extremely appreciated edible nut producer and one of the major plantation species in the Iberian Peninsula. Achieving its clonal propagation is a major goal in the biotechnological development for this species, but has met overwhelming difficulties. The complex interactions between pines and their ECM partners suggest that they might be capable of overcoming such difficulties. The objective of our work was to ameliorate the in vitro adventitious rooting (which does not develop well in the agar cultures) by co-culturing with ECM fungi collected from Stone pine stands (Oliveira et al., 2003). It was also to characterize the fungi-root interactions that enable the development of roots in microshoots and to identify the signalling mediators between ectomycorrhizal fungi and stone pine roots. These potentially new insights into the interactions that take place in the pine rhizosphere could allow us to develop an axenic system that mimics the promoting effect of ECM fungi.

Proc. IVth IS on Acclim. and Establt. of Micropropagated Plants

^a marinho_dorito@yahoo.com

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Plant Material

Mature seeds of stone pine were obtained in March 2007 from selected 'plus' trees (Alcácer do Sal Region, Portugal) and were stored in a cold chamber at 4°C until used.

Shoot Organogenesis

For the description of shoot organogenesis, see Oliveira et al. (2003) and Ragonezi et al. (2008).

Root Organogenesis

Microshoots were placed in rooting medium. The media used were WPMRI and WPMRE (woody plant medium root induction and expression, respectively) (Ragonezi et al., 2008).

Fungi

Fungi were isolated from single ectomycorrhizas as described by Oliveira et al. (2003) collected at the same location as the cones used for obtaining mature seeds for organogenesis experiments. The fungi were maintained in pure culture using standard procedures (Brundrett et al., 1996). Sixty-five independent isolates were obtained (unpublished results) and screened for their effect on root growth, many of which are included in the present study.

In Vitro Co-Culture

Following the rooting induction and expression phase, the individuals that showed root development were transferred to the double-layer medium and, after a brief period of adaptation to the medium, inoculated with selected fungi, with matching controls to monitor root growth in the absence of inoculation (Oliveira et al., 2003).

Acclimation

The plantlets were transferred to vermiculite for two weeks and then transferred two different substrate systems to observe the development of the root system: mixed substrate in containers, or peat in a rhizotron (Finlay and Read, 1986). During acclimation plants grew in a growth chamber at $25/19^{\circ}$ C day/night temperatures, with 16 h photoperiod (270 µmol s⁻¹ m⁻²) for 10 weeks. The relative humidity of the growth chamber started at 80% and gradually decreased to 60%. Plants were watered as required with alternating sterile water and liquid WPM (macronutrients only).

Rhizotron

Rhizotrons allow the visualization of root development whenever desired without disturbing the normal functions of the plants. Basically, they are made of two acrylic plates, 20 x 20 cm each, with interval made by 5 mm spacers and filled with turf, in order to support and feed the plants, as suggested by Finlay and Read (1986) with some adaptations from Bending and Read (1996). The root growth was observed thereafter for 4 to 6 weeks, the time required for most of the plants to explore the available space in the rhizotron. Rhizotrons were very useful for the identification of target structures, as well as other symbiotic features that could then be extracted for further studies with minimal disturbance to the rest of the root architecture.

Axenic Root Cultures

Root segments of 2 cm long obtained from germinated seeds were excised and were cultured in liquid medium in an orbital shaker (125 rpm) according to Kaska et al. (1999) for 3 to 4 weeks. Afterward, the roots were photographed and used for histological comparison.

Root Microscopy

Two different methods were used to study root anatomy: 1) hand sections of root segments were obtained according to Brundrett (2008): segments were placed between pieces of laboratory Parafilm[®] and cut as thin as possible using a razor blade under a Zoom Stereo Research Microscope 7-70X Olympus SZH10. Structural details of the root anatomy and in some cases of the Hartig-net of ECM (when found) were observed under Light Microscope with image acquisition device Olympus CX -40 and photographs were taken with a Canon Power-Shot A630 camera. 2) Dichotomous and short roots were fixed in FAA, dehydrated in an aqueous series of ethanol (70, 80, 95, 100%), clarified in xylol, embedded in paraffin and cut with a rotary microtome (8–10 μ m). The sections were stained with toluidine blue, mounted in entellan acid and observed under light microscope (Giomaro et al., 2000).

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Adventitious roots regenerated by stone pine microshoots as well as axenic embryo root cultures developed mycorrhizal- like (dichotomous) root laterals even without fungal infection. This is not exceptional and was observed for intact plants as well as for excised roots. In the former, these structures appeared in all experimental settings tested, with the frequency of dichotomous branching increasing as a consequence of a reduction of macro-nutrients in the medium (compared with complete macronutrients) and also in cultures that spent more than one month on the same coculture medium. These results suggested that without any fungus interaction, some stone pine genotypes responded to less favourable in vitro growing conditions (i.e., lower nutrient concentration and/or lower water availability) by producing mycorrhizal coralloid-like structures. Also coralloid structures appeared as a consequence of applied naphthalene acetic acid (NAA) in the induction medium (Fig. 1b).

On the other hand, under in vitro co-culture (pine-fungus) there was a great variability in the plant response. Some combinations of pine clones with specific fungi showed dichotomous branching while others did not (Figs. 2a, b).

After a few months in substrate, at the moment of transferring to larger containers, dichotomous ectomycorrhizal-like root tips were detected for several inocula, each producing a different rootlet type, indicative of specificity in the development of these structures as a function of the provided inoculum. At least in these earlier stages, non-inoculated controls were devoid of such structures (Fig. 3). Rhizotron-contained plants did not show any such developments. A careful examination of all ECM- like morphotypes failed to reveal Hartig net anatomical features, thus not confirming the symbiotic nature of these structures. The mycorrhizal potential of the fungal inocula is still under investigation, thus not allowing to determine whether that is due to the taxonomical identity of the fungi or the mimicry of dichotomous development by ECM fungi which might start a symbiotic relationship but failed to persist in that condition.

Some plants presented a great number of monopodial short roots with root hairs; others dichotomous branching without hairs and also dichotomy with hairs (Figs. 4a, b, c). Only through the histological observations it was possible to distinguish between true mycorrhizal symbioses and mycorrhizal-like structures as well as ectoendomycorrhizae, the latter not correlating with a particular co-culture inoculum, thence probably from contamination with E-type propagules (Figs. 5a, b).

Axenic root cultures showed profuse dichotomous branching similar to those of in vitro cultured plants (Fig. 6).

Many environmental or cultural conditions could have influenced the capacity of some stone pine clones to produce mycorrhizal-like structures. At the current stage of our study it is impossible to know if there is a correlation between pine clones and their propensity to form mycorrhizal-like structures. Responses to the inocula used in the coculture (either the resumed growth of roots previously formed as a consequence of plant growth regulators treatment, or dichotomous branching) was not consistently correlated with the induction of mycorrhizal symbiosis in the acclimation phase. Nevertheless, the characterization of biochemical signals that are likely mediating these effects will continue to be pursued, in order to understand the possible physiological implications for the plants from the development of these structures.

CONCLUSIONS

- This is the first report on the abundant mycorrhizal-like structures in stone pine roots that were produced by axenic cultures, in in vitro-cultures and in subsequent acclimation phase in mixed substrates.
- There was a strong similarity between extensive dichotomous and coralloid branching of lateral roots that grew spontaneously in stone pine with those derived from fungal inoculation.
- Due to this similarity it may be difficult to diagnose ectomycorrhizas without confirmation of the ECM status by histological analysis.
- Since this response appeared to be 'genotype dependent' more studies will be needed to establish correlation between stone pine clones and the root system morphology.
- The biochemical studies that are being carried out presently on the co-cultured roots could elucidate the nature of the compounds that cause a highly effective adventitious rooting in the presence of certain fungi and afterwards in the acclimation phase.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by FCT Portugal: PTDC/AGR-CFL/71437/2006 Analysis and Mastering of Root Growth Signalling by Ectomycorrhizal Fungi on *Pinus pinea* Microshoot Cultures.

Literature Cited

- Bending, G.D. and Read, D.J. 1996. Effects of the soluble polyphenol tannic acid on the activities of ericoid and ectomycorrhizal fungi. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 28:1595–1602.
- Brundrett, M., Bougher, N., Dell, B., Grave, T. and Malajczuk, N. 1996. Isolation of fungi from within mycorrhizal roots. In: Working with Mycorrhizas in Forestry and Agriculture. Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research Monograph 32, Canberra, Australia, p.229.
- Brundrett, M. 2008 http://mycorrhizas.info/download/pdf/4_10.pdf
- Finlay, R.D. and Read, D.J 1986. The structure and function of the vegetative mycelium of ectomycorrhizal plants. I–Tranlocation of ¹⁴C-labeled carbon between plants interconnected by a common mycelium. New Phytologist 103:143–156.
- Giomaro, G. et al. 2000. Anatomical and morphological characterization of mycorrhizas of five strains of Tuber borchii Vittad. Mycorrhiza 10:107–114.
- Kaska, D.D. et al. 1999. Auxin transport inhibitors act through ethylene to regulate dichotomous branching of lateral root meristems in pine. New Phytologist 142:49–58.
- Oliveira, P., Barriga, J., Cavaleiro, C., Peixe, A. and Potes, A.Z. 2003. Sustained in vitro root development obtained in *Pinus pinea* inoculated with ectomycorrhizal fungi. Forestry 76:579–587.
- Ragonezi, C., Castro, M.R., Zavattieri, A. and Lima, M. Achieving in vitro rooting in recalcitrant pine. In: 5th International Symposium on Adventitious Root Formation, Alcalá de Henares Spain, June 2008.
- Smith, S.E. and Read. D.J. 1997. Mycorrhizal Symbiosis, Second Edition. Academic Press.

Figures



Fig. 1. (a) After more than one month without transferring to new medium, some genotypes developed coralloid mycorrhizal-like structures. (b) Coralloid structures also appeared as a consequence of NAA in the rooting induction medium. The arrow indicates a normal root type induced by auxin treatment.



Fig. 2. (a) Differential responses in the in vitro adventitious root formation in co-culture system. Root with dichotomous branching. (b) Normal in vitro growth of the root system. Mycelium could be seen growing on the surface of the culture medium in both culture vessels.



Fig. 3. Left: Rooted plants in the acclimation phase. Plants after 4 months in the acclimation phase. (a) Inoculated pine plant, identified as DD03, shows a good development of the aerial part and (b) also compact and dichotomous branched root system. (c) Control plant, not inoculated with less aerial part development and a linear root system 23 cm long.



Fig. 4. (a) Different anatomical structures of the roots in plants derived from co-culture after 4 month in the acclimation phase (pine clones/different fungi isolates). Extensively dichotomous branching without hairs, (b) dichotomous short root with hairs and (c) ectomycorrhizal-like structure.



Fig. 5. (a) Short root covered with mycelia. (b) Longitudinal section shows the intracellular hyphae.



Fig. 6. Dichotomous branching observed in the liquid axenic root cultures after one month of growth.



Chapter 5 Molecular Approach to Characterize Ectomycorrhizae Fungi from Mediterranean Pine Stands in Portugal

Manuscript accepted for publication in the Brazilian Journal of Microbiology

Ragonezi C, Caldeira AT, Martins MR, Salvador C, Santos-Silva C, Ganhão E, Klimaszewska K, Zavattieri A (2012) Brazilian Journal of Microbiology ISSN 1517-8382.

Molecular approach to characterize ectomycorrhizae fungi from Mediterranean pine stands in Portugal

Carla Ragonezi⁵; A. Teresa Caldeira^{1,3}; M. Rosário Martins^{1,5}*; Cátia Salvador¹; Celeste Santos-Silva^{2,5}; Elsa Ganhão²; Krystyna Klimaszewska⁴, Amely Zavattieri^{2,5}

¹ Department of Chemistry, Universidade de Évora, Ap. 94, 7002-554 Évora, Portugal
² Department of Biology, Universidade de Évora, Ap. 94, 7002-554 Évora, Portugal
³ CQE, Universidade de Évora, Rua Romão Ramalho, nº 59, 7000-671 Évora
⁴ Natural Resources Canada, Canadian Forest Service, Laurentian Forestry Centre, 1055 du
P.E.P.S., P.O. Box 10380, Stn. Sainte-Foy, Québec, QC G1V 4C7, Canada
⁵ Instituto de Ciências Agrárias e Ambientais Mediterrânicas (ICAAM), Universidade de Évora, Núcleo da Mitra, Ap. 94 7002-554 Évora, Portugal

*Corresponding Author: Phone: +351 266 745 313; Fax: +351 266 745 303, E-mail: mrm@uevora.pt

Abstract

Stone pine (Pinus pinea L.), like other conifers, forms ectomycorrhizas (ECM), which have beneficial impact on plant growth in natural environments and forest ecosystems. An in vitro co-culture of stone pine microshoots with pure mycelia of isolated ECM sporocarps was used to overcome the root growth cessation not only in vitro but also to improve root development during acclimation phase. Pisolithus arhizus (Scop.) Rauschert and Lactarius deliciosus (L. ex Fr.) S.F. Gray fungi, were collected, pure cultured and used in in vitro co-culture with stone pine microshoots. Samples of P. arhizus and L. deliciosus for the in vitro co-cultures were collected from the pine stands southwest Portugal. The *in-situ* characterization was based on their morphotypes. To confirm the identity of the collected material, ITS amplification was applied using the pure cultures derived from the sporocarps. Additionally, a molecular profile using PCR based genomic fingerprinting comparison was executed with other genera of Basidiomycetes and Ascomycetes. Our results showed the effectiveness of the techniques used to amplify DNA polymorphic sequences, which enhances the characterization of the genetic profile of ECM fungi and also provides an option to verify the fungus identity at any stage of plant mycorrhization.

Key words - Pisolithus arhizus, Lactarius deliciosus, Pinus pinea, M13-PCR, ITS

Introduction

Ectomycorrhizal fungi (ECM) are major components of the soil fungal communities in most forests around the world and, are ecologically and economically important (Mello *et al.*, 2006). Plants in Betulaceae, Pinaceae and Fagaceae families are obligate ECM (Smith and Read, 1997). ECM fungi include species from multiple families in the Basidiomycetes, Ascomycetes and some from the Zygomycetes (Bruns *et al.*, 2002). Globally, as many as 10,000 fungus species and 8000 plant species maybe involved in ECM associations (Taylor and Alexander, 2005).

Development and growth of pine (*Pinus* spp.) roots are regulated in nature by ECM (Smith and Read, 1997). Inoculation with specific fungi can enhance pine root formation and/or subsequent root branching of cuttings (Normand *et al.*, 1996; Karabaghli *et al.*, 1998; Niemi *et al.*, 2000). Some research results demonstrated the potential for use of ECM fungi in the vegetative propagation of conifers (Gay, 1990; Niemi *et al.*, 2005) and during *in vitro* rooting of pine shoots (Zavattieri *et al.*, 2009; Ragonezi *et al.*, 20010a). Inoculations enhanced plant performance and contributed to alleviation of stress related with acclimation in a nursery and the subsequent growth in the field.

Stone pine (*Pinus pinea* L.) is one of the most important pines economically (due to the valued edible nut production) in the Mediterranean basin and it forms ectomycorrhizas. Rincón *et al.*, (1999) reported that at least eight genera of ECM were associated with *P. pinea* seedlings in the nursery (*Amanita, Hebeloma, Laccaria, Lactarius, Pisolithus, Rhizopogon, Scleroderma*, and *Suillus*). Two species of fungi are commonly used for inoculation in controlled mycorrhization programs associated with *P. pinea: Pisolithus arhizus* (Scop.) Rauschert, (Marx *et al.*, 1982; Burgess *et al.*, 1995) a cosmopolitan fungus which grows in warm temperate regions of the world and is easy to propagate *in vitro* (Marx *et al.*, 1982; Cline *et al.*, 1987) and *Lactarius deliciosus* (L. ex Fr.) S.F. Gray, typically a Basidiomycetes which produces high commercially valuable edible fruiting bodies (Singer, 1986; Hutchison, 1999; FAO, 2004; Hortal *et al.*, 2006).

In nature, and also in controlled inoculations, genetically distinct mycelia of the same ECM species were found on the root system of a single tree (Guidot *et al.*, 1999). This was also demonstrated by others studies with *Pinus banksiana* (De La Bastide *et al.*, 1995) and *Pinus pinaster* (Gryta *et al.*, 1997). Even in cases where the *in vitro* inoculation was controlled, genetic diversity has been found in *ex vitro* phases caused

by the lack of effective sterilization of the mixed substrates, contamination from the environment in the growth chamber and in some cases from the irrigation source. On the other hand, ECM fungi are relatively selective of host plant species (Allen *et al.*, 1995) and host responses could be partially attributable to variation between different fungus taxa and strains. For all these reasons, accurate characterization and identification of the ECM fungi are fundamental requirements for *in vivo* or *in vitro* mycorrhization programs.

The traditional method of fungal identification by colour, shape and other macroscopic features and microscopic characteristics (Agerer, 1987-2002) could be applied only to a limited number of fungal species (lotti and Zambonelli, 2006).Neverthless, today a wide range of molecular techniques can be used to distinguish DNA sequence for the identification of ECM fungi (Gardes *et al.*; 1991a, 1991b; Henrion *et al.*, 1992; Hortal *et al.*, 2006) and also to verify the genetic variation within a specific group (Alves *et al.*, 2007; Caldeira *et al.*, 2009).

Amplification of the internal transcribed spacer (ITS) regions in the ribosomal genes (rDNA) usually reveals interspecific variations (Bruns *et al.*, 1991, Gomes *et al.*, 2000, Horton 2002). This region has four primary advantages over other regions: 1 - it is multicopy, so the amount of sample material needed for successful amplification is low; 2 - it has well-conserved fungal specific priming sites directly adjacent to multiple highly variable regions; 3 - there are many sequences already available for comparison, which facilitates the identification of unknown samples; and 4 - it correlates well with morphologically defined species in many groups (Smith *et al.*, 2007).

Genetic profiles and polymorphic sequences on the other hand, are important tools for rapid and effective characterization of ECM species (Caldeira *et al.*, 2009). The polymerase chain reaction (PCR) based genomic fingerprinting is a good alternative to methods that rely on specifically targeted primers. This technique, which analyzes the whole genome, has been shown to be relatively robust and discriminatory (Alves *et al.*, 2007). PCR fingerprinting is also used in the study of genetic variability in yeast and filamentous fungi (Godoy *et al.*, 2004; Alves *et al.*, 2007; Lopes *et al.*, 2007).

The goals of the present study were, first to identify ECM fungi associated with stone pine stands through PCR amplification of the ITS region of the ribosomal genes and to use them in *in vitro* mycorrhization experiments. Second goal was to test the applicability of the M13-PCR fingerprinting methodology for monitoring different species

of Basidiomycetes and Ascomycetes which can be found in association between *P. pinea* and ECM fungi.

Material and methods

Collection of mushrooms from stone pine (Pinus pinea L.) stand

Fruiting bodies of *Pisolithus arhizus* (Scop.) Rauschert and *Lactarius deliciosus* (L. ex Fr.) S.F. Gray were collected from a pure stand of stone pine (N 38° 25'; W 7° 56') in January of 2010. Morphological identification was done *in situ* at the collection time. Specimens were stored at 4°C prior to sterilization and isolation procedures. Voucher specimens of *Pisolithus arhizus* and *Lactarius deliciosus* were deposited at Évora University Herbarium with the numbers UEVH-FUNGI 2001610 and UEVH-FUNGI 2001712, respectively.

Mycelia isolation and fungal cultures

For the asepsis, the fruiting bodies were cut into large pieces, placed in running water for 10 min and then in 70% ethanol for 2 min. Then, pieces were rinsed with sterile distilled water in a laminar flow unit, placed in 20% (v/v) commercial bleach (≤ 5% active chlorine) for 10 min and rinsed four times with sterile water. The larger pieces were then cut in smaller pieces (50 mm³) for growth and subsequently DNA extraction or were stored at -20°C. Isolates were cultured in Hagen medium (Modess, 1941). The formulation of modified Hagen per liter was: KH₂PO₄ 0.5 g, NH₄CL 0.5 g, MgSO₄ 7H₂O 0.5 g, FeCL₃ (1%) 0.5 ml, glucose 5 g, malt extract 5 g, thiamine HCL 50 μ g and agar 15 gand the pH was adjusted to 4.5-5.0. With the purpose to avoid the contamination by bacteria, 100 mg ml⁻¹ of Rifampicin (Sigma-Aldrich[®]) was added to the media after cooling. Pieces of sporocarps were kept in petri dishes Hagen medium, grown at 25°C in the dark and sub-cultured at weekly intervals. Isolates have been growing in Hagen slants for 14 days at 25°C and stored at 4°C. Fungal isolates of Pisolithus arhizus and Lactarius deliciosus were deposited in the Culture Collection of the Biotechnology Laboratory of University of Évora and preserved at -80°C in cryovials containing 10% glycerol.

DNA extraction

The extraction of the genomic DNA from the smaller fragments of sporocarps and from the mycelia (after 14 days of culture) was performed using the modified microsphere method (Martins, 2004; Guimarães *et al.,* 2011). The quality and quantity of the obtained DNA was evaluated by agarose gel.

ITS region amplification and sequencing

The region containing partial portions of the small subunit (18S), both internal transcribed spacers (ITS) and the 5.8S of the rDNA repeat unit was amplified using the oligonucleotides primers ITS5 (5'-GGAAGTAAAAGTCGTAACAAGG-3') and ITS4 (5'-TCCTCCGCTTATTGATATGC-3') (Gardes and Bruns, 1993). PCR reactions were carried out on a MyCycler Thermal Cycler (BIO-RAD) and consisted of initial denaturing at 95°C for 3 min followed by 30 cycles at 92°C each 30 s, 55°C for 30 s, and 72°C for 1 min. The reaction was completed by a 10-min extension at 72°C. PCR products were analyzed by agarose gel (1%) electrophoresis, purified with the NucleoSpin Extract II Kit (Macherey-Nagel) and sequenced by capillary electrophoresis using the ABI PRISM 3730 xI sequencer (Applied Biosystems) with the Kit BDT v1.1 (Applied Biosystems).

M13-PCR amplification

The M13 primer (5'- GAGGGTGGCGGTTCT-3') was used for the PCR. The PCR conditions consisted of an initial denaturing step of 5 min at 94 °C followed by 40 cycles of 1 min at 94 °C, 1 min at 50 °C and 2 min at 72 °C. The reaction was completed with a final extension at 72 °C for 5 min and then cooled at 4 °C. A sample of each PCR reaction product was electrophoresed in a 1.5% agarose gel and visualized, by staining with ethidium bromide, in a UV transilluminator (BIO-RAD). To evaluate the reproducibility of the assay, each sample has been analyzed in at least three independent PCR reactions. A negative control (without DNA template) has been included in every run. Subsequently, DNA sequence analysis was employed for confirmation of the fingerprint technique characterization.

Data analysis

The nucleotide sequences of the ITS region were aligned with those of related fungal species retrieved from the GenBank (National Center for Biotechnology Information - NCBI) databases for the homology analysis using the BLASTN 2.2.25+ program. The phylogenetic relationships between different species were inferred after multiple alignments using CLUSTAL W (Thompson *et al.*, 1994). The distances of the DNA arrays were calculated with the option of Jukes-Cantor and from these matrixes, using the Neighbor-Joining method, the phylogenetic tree was constructed, using the program Mega 5 (Tamura, 2011).

For the M13-PCR analysis, the phylogenetic tree was generated by the Unweighted Pair Group Method with arithmetic Average (UPGMA), through the use of the Dice coefficient of similarity using Quantity One 1-D Analysis software (BIO-RAD).

Results and discussion

Collection of fruiting bodies from stone pine stand

Representative voucher specimens of *Pisolithus arhizus* and *Lactarius deliciosus* fruiting bodies are shown in Fig. 1a and Fig. 2a. Based on preliminary tests, we have selected Hagen medium as the most suitable for isolation and growth of the mycelia from sporocarps. The cultured mycelia were characterized by yellowish-ochraceous with paler margin in the case of *P. arhizus* (Fig. 1b) and pinkish with paler margin for *L. deliciosus* (Fig. 2b). The microscopic features showed the secondary mycelia at the septa of a Basidiomycota hypha (Fig. 1c e 2c).



Fig. 1 - *Pisolithus arhizus* sporocarp collected in a stone pine stand selected for *Pinus pinea*-ECM associations study (a). The mycelia cultured in Hagen medium (b). Secondary mycelia. Each interval $2.5 \mu m$ (c).



Fig. 2 - *Lactarius deliciosus* sporocarps collected in a pine stand selected for *Pinus pinea*-ECM associations study (a). The mycelia cultured in Hagen medium (b). Secondary mycelia. Each interval $2.5 \ \mu m$ (c).

Fresh mycelia of each culture were used to inoculate stone pine microshoots at the rooting phase (Fig. 3). The mycorrhization of the plants were confirmed in the acclimatization phase (Fig. 4a and b) revealing the typical ECM structure. The ECM fungi presence was monitored and confirmed during the mycorrhization process, by

applying two molecular complementary approaches: ITS sequencing and M13-PCR amplification.



Fig. 3 - In vitro co-culture of Pinus pinea and P. arhizus mycelium (arrows).



Fig. 4 - Cryostat transversal root section of the colonized by *P. arhizus* pine root showing the mantle hyphae (M) (100x); Scale bar 20 μ m (a). Details of the transversal section showing well-differentiated Hartig-net (HN) in cortical cells (1250x); Scale bar 7.5 μ m (b).

Species identification of P. arhizus and L. deliciosus

In the past, the most common approach to evaluate fungal biodiversity in various plants/ systems has been the sample collection, fungal isolation and identification based on classical methods (Genilloud *et al.*, 1994; De Jager *et al.*, 2001; Moreira *et al.*, 2001; Schmit and Lodge, 2005), but nowadays several molecular techniques can be used namely for ECM fungi identification (Rosling, 2003; Leake *et al.*, 2004; Hortal *et al.*, 2006; Caldeira *et al.*, 2009).

Amplification of the ITS region is a common approach in molecular identification strategies (Hortal *et al.*, 2006; Alves *et al.*, 2007). PCR products of ITS4/ITS5 primers, corresponding to the ITS1, 5.8S and ITS2 regions of the rDNA were approximately 644 bp and 400 bp obtained from dikariontic isolates from *Pisolithus sp.* P1001 and *Lactarius deliciosus* UEZB1 respectively. Sequence alignments of *P. arhizus* showed

identities that ranged from 99-100% among isolates belonging to *P. arhizus.* Sequences were aligned at the NCBI for isolates corresponded to other *Pisolithus spp.* In the case of *L. deliciosus* the homology was over 99%. The most similar sequences of *P. arhizus* and *L. deliciosus* are shown in Table 1. The phylogenetic tree (Fig. 5) was obtained from the alignment of these sequences. We identified two different clusters, *Pisolithus* sp. P1001 and *L. deliciosus* isolate UEZB1 (Fig. 5). Multiple alignment of *Pisolithus* sp. cluster corresponded to a partial sequence of 18S RNA gene and ITS1, 5.8S ribosomal RNA gene and ITS2, and partial sequence of 28S RNA ribosomal region. *L. deliciosus* UEZB1 corresponded to partial sequence of ITS1, 5.8S ribosomal RNA gene, ITS2 and partial sequence of 28S ribosomal RNA. Both sequences were published in GenBank with accession number HQ896485 and JQ066791, respectively.

Table 1. ITS rDNA homology from fungal strains used in the phylogenetic tree construction. The nucleotide sequences of the ITS region were aligned with those of related fungal species retrieved from the NCBI databases (<u>www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov</u>).

| Strains | Identification nº (NCBI) | Homology |
|---------------------------------------|--------------------------|----------|
| Pisolithus sp. KH-NC09 | gb GQ429212.1 | 99% |
| Pisolithus microcarpus | emb AM084706 | 100% |
| Pisolithus tinctorius R15 | gb AF374695 | 99% |
| Pisolithus microcarpus VIC30598 | gb HQ693097 | 100% |
| Lactarius deliciosus H:6002989 | gb GU373514.1 | 100% |
| Lactarius sp. isolate cm130.ps | gb EU668299.1 | 100% |
| Lactarius deliciosus isolate CSUFTXY7 | gb HQ635086.1 | 100% |
| Lactarius deliciosus LDTA30 | gb FJ858745.1 | 100% |

| | gb JQ066791 <i>L. deliciosus</i> isolate UEZB1 |
|---|---|
| | gb GU373514.1 L. deliciosus |
| | gb EU668299.1 <i>Lactarius</i> sp. |
| | gb HQ635086.1 L. deliciosus . |
| l | gb FJ858745.1 L. deliciosus |
| | gb GQ429212.1 Pisolithus sp. KH-NC09. |
| | gb HQ896485 <i>Pisolithus</i> sp. P1001 |
| | emb AM084706 Pisolithus microcarpus |
| | gb AF374695 Pisolithus tinctorius |
| | gb HQ693097 Pisolithus microcarpus |
| | |

⊢____| 1

Fig. 5 - Phylogeny tree based on the ITS sequence
Intraspecies identification by M13-PCR

The amplification using the M13 primer has generated a profile with 7-14 DNA fragments ranging from 100 to 2700 bp in the Basidiomycetes sporocarps species (*P. arhizus, L. deliciosus* and *R. roseolus*), *Pisolithus sp.* isolated P1001 and select Ascomycetes (*P. brevicompactum, A. niger, Cladosporium sp.*1, *and F. oxysporum*). These Ascomycetes species could live in association with ECM fungi and were commonly found in the isolation process. Reproducibility of the M13-PCR fingerprinting techniques was checked by comparing the banding profiles resulting from independent extractions and amplifications of the same fungi strain. The different samples have generated distinct patterns in the electrophoresis analysis (Fig.6).



Fig 6 - Fingerprinting patterns obtained from obtained by amplification of genomic DNA. Lanes: 1 and 11 DNA molecular ladder 100 bp plus (Fermentas), 2: *Pisolithus arhizus* culture, 3: *Pisolithus arhizus* sporocarps, 4: *Lactarius deliciosus* sporocarps, 5: *Rhizopogon roseolus* sporocarps, 6: *Penicillium brevicompactum* sporocarps, 7: *Aspergillus niger* sporocarps 8: *Cladosporium sp.*, 9: *Fusarium oxysporum* sporocarps, 10: Control.

The M13-PCR band profile generated in each fingerprint varied according to the species included in this study: 10 fragments ranging from 200-900 bp for *P. arhizus*, 7 fragments for *L. deliciosus* (from 200-550 bp) and 9 fragments for *R. roseolus* (from 200-750 bp). The Ascomycetes, *P. brevicompactum* presented 9 fragments (from 200-100 bp), *A. niger* 10 fragments (from 200-1850 bp), *Cladosporium* sp.1 presented 13 fragments (from 200-1850 bp) and *F. oxysporum* 14 fragments (from 200-2700 bp). The Ascomycetes group presented a higher DNA fragments (ranging from 950-2700 bp) than the Basidiomycetes, with fragments from 150-900 bp. Figure 7 shows a phylogenetic tree based on M13-PCR fingerprinting. In the analysis of the phylogenetic tree, *P. arhizus* formed a cluster of 41% similarity with *R. roseolus*, which forms a cluster with *L. deliciosus* with a homology of 34%. This approach also allowed the distinguishing between Basidiomycetes and Ascomycetes group, which formed a cluster with 15% of similarity for *P. brevicompactum*, 8% for *A. niger*, 5% for *F. oxysporum* and 2% for *Cladosporium* sp.1.



Fig. 7 - Phylogenetic tree analysis based on the PCR fingerprinting patterns for different species of Basidiomycetes and Ascomycetes. To evaluate the reproducibility of the assay, each sample has been analyzed in at least three independent PCR reactions. The distance values between branches are reported as percentage of similarity (0-100%).

These results demonstrated that M13-PCR discriminated among between species and taxonomic groups. Based on the specific PCR fingerprints and the high interspecies variation of these banding patterns, a clear distinction among all species was feasible. M13-PCR highlighted differentiation at the species and strain level (Caldeira *et al.,* 2009). In this study, the M13-PCR approach was a rapid method to amplify DNA polymorphic sequences, with a high level of similarity for the same species, which

enhances the characterization of the genetic profile of sporocarps such as *L. deliciosus*, *P. arhizus* and *R. roseolus*.

The advantages of this DNA amplification method are the technique simplicity, universal availability of PCR primers, reproducibility and amenability to the computer database analysis. Using only a single primer M13-PCR, it was possible to achieve high levels of resolution. This makes the procedure much faster and easier, and greatly reduces the cost (Alves *et al.*, 2009). Hence, PCR fingerprinting offers a simple and reliable alternative method to resolve taxonomic problems and to "label" strains of filamentous fungi (Meyer *et al.*, 1991).

Conclusions

Results of this study demonstrate that the combined use of sequence analysis of the ITS regions of the rDNA and the PCR fingerprinting technique can be successfully applied as an excellent tool to examine the species collected in the field associated with *Pinus pinea* and also as a methodology to monitor the fungi species involved in all the steps in a mycorrhization program. The applied molecular techniques accurately characterized field collected sporocarps and confirmed the presence of the fungus in inoculated plants.

Owing to its low cost and rapidity, the M13-PCR has a wide application in applied mycology as was demonstrated in this study. Also, we confirmed that the M13-PCR technique has a high level of reproducibility because the fungal samples amplified in independent PCRs displayed similar banding pattern profiles.

Acknowledgements

This research was supported by the Portuguese Foundation for Science and Technology (FCT) through the project PTDC/AGR-CFL/71437/2006) and by FEDER Funds through the Operational Programme for Competitiveness Factors - COMPETE and National Funds through FCT - Foundation for Science and Technology under the Strategic Project PEst-C/AGR/UI0115/2011.

References

- Agerer, R. (1987-2002). In: Colour Atlas of Ectomycorrhizae, vols. 1-11, Einhorn-Verlag, Schwäbisch Gmünd.
- Allen, E.B.; Allen, M.F.; Helm, D.J.; Trappe, J.M.; Molina, R.; Rincon, E. (1995). Patterns and regulation of mycorrhizal plant and fungal diversity. *Plant and Soil* 170: 47–62.

- Alves, A.; Phillips, A.J.L.; Henriques, I.; Correia, A. (2007). Rapid differentiation of species of Botryosphaeriaceae by PCR fingerprinting. Research in Microbiology 158 (2):112-121. doi:DOI 10.1016/j.resmic.2006.10.003.
- Bruns, T.D.; White, T.J.; Taylor, J.W. (1991). Fungal Molecular Systematics. Annu Rev Ecol Syst 22:525-564.
- Bruns, T.D.; Bidartondo, M.I.; Taylor, D.L. (2002). Host specificity in ectomycorrhizal communities: What do the exceptions tell us? Integr Comp Biol 42 (2):352-359.
- Burgess, T.; Malajczuk, N.; Dell, B. (1995). Variation in *Pisolithus* based on basidiome and basidiospore morphology, culture characteristics and analysis of polypeptides using 1D SDS-PAGE. Mycol Res 99:1–13.
- Caldeira, A.T.; Salvador, C.; Pinto, F.; Arteiro, J.M.; Martins, M.R. (2009). MSP-PCR and RAPD molecular biomarkers to characterize Amanita ponderosa mushrooms. Ann Microbiol 59 (3):629-634.
- Cline, M.L.; France, R.C.; Reid, C.P.P. (1987). Intraspecific and Interspecific Growth Variation of Ectomycorrhizal Fungi at Different Temperatures. Can J Bot 65 (5):869-875.
- De Jager, E.S.; Wehner, F.C.; Korsten, L. (2001). Microbial ecology of the mango phylloplane. Microbial Ecology 42: 201e207.
- De La Bastide, P.Y.; Kropp, B.R.; Piche, Y. (1995). Population-Structure and Mycelial Phenotypic Variability of the Ectomycorrhizal Basidiomycete Laccaria Bicolor (Maire) Orton. Mycorrhiza 5 (5):371-379.
- FAO (2004). Wild edible fungi. A global overview of their use and importance to people.In: Boa, E. (Ed.), Non-wood forest products, No. 17, Rome.
- Gardes, M.; Mueller, G.M.; Fortin, J.A.; Kropp, B.R. (1991a). Mitochondrial-DNA Polymorphisms in Laccaria-Bicolor, L-Laccata, L-Proxima and L-Amethystina. Mycological Research 95:206-216.
- Gardes, M.; White, T.J.; Fortin, J.A.; Bruns, T.D.; Taylor, J.W. (1991b). Identification of Indigenous and Introduced Symbiotic Fungi in Ectomycorrhizae by Amplification of Nuclear and Mitochondrial Ribosomal DNA. Can J Bot 69 (1):180-190.
- Gardes, M.; Bruns, T.D. (1993). ITS primers with enhanced specificity for basidiomycetes -application to the identification of mycorrhizae and rusts. *Molecular Ecology*, 2, 113-118.
- Gay, G. (1990). Effect of the Ectomycorrhizal Fungus Hebeloma-Hiemale on Adventitious Root-Formation in Derooted Pinus-Halepensis Shoot Hypocotyls. Can J Bot 68 (6):1265-1270.

- Genilloud, O.; Pelaez, F.; Gonzalez, I.; Diez, M.T. (1994). Diversity of actinomycetes and fungi on seaweeds from the Iberian coasts. Microbiologia SEM 10: 413e422.
- Godoy, P.; Cano, J.; Gene, J.; Guarro, J.; Hofling-Lima, A.L.; Colombo, A.L. (2004). Genotyping of 44 isolates of Fusarium solani, the main agent of fungal keratitis in Brazil. J Clin Microbiol 42 (10):4494-4497. doi:Doi 10.1128/Jcm.42.10.4494-4497.2004.
- Gomes, E.A.; de Abreu, L.M.; Borges, A.C.; de Araujo, E.F. (2000). ITS sequences and mitochondrial DNA polymorphism in Pisolithus isolates. Mycological Research 104:911-918.
- Gryta, H.; Debaud, J.C.; Effosse, A.; Gay, G.; Marmeisse, R. (1997). Fine-scale structure of populations of the ectomycorrhizal fungus Hebeloma cylindrosporum in coastal sand dune forest ecosystems. Mol Ecol 6 (4):353-364.
- Guidot, A.; Lumini, E.; Debaud, J.C.; Marmeisse, R. (1999). The nuclear ribosomal DNA intergenic spacer as a target sequence to study intraspecific diversity of the ectomycorrhizal basidiomycete Hebeloma cylindrosporum directly on Pinus root systems. Appl Environ Microb 65 (3):903-909.
- Guimaraes, J.B.; Pereira, P.; Chambel, L.; Tenreiro, R. (2011). Assessment of filamentous fungal diversity using classic and molecular approaches: case study -Mediterranean ecosystem. Fungal Ecology 4 (5):309-321. doi:DOI 10.1016/j.funeco.2011.01.006.
- Henrion, B.; Letacon, F.; Martin, F. (1992). Rapid Identification of Genetic-Variation of Ectomycorrhizal Fungi by Amplification of Ribosomal-Rna Genes. New Phytol 122 (2):289-298.
- Hortal, S.; Pera, J.; Galipienso, L.; Parlade, J. (2006). Molecular identification of the edible ectomycorrhizal fungus Lactarius deliciosus in the symbiotic and extraradical mycelium stages. J Biotechnol 126 (2):123-134. doi:DOI 10.1016/j.jbiotec.2006.04.011.
- Horton, T.R. (2002). Molecular approaches to ectomycorrhizal diversity studies: variation in ITS at a local scale. Plant Soil 244 (1-2):29-39.
- Hutchison, L.J. (1999). *Lactarius*. In: Cairney, J.W.G., Chambers, S.M. (Eds.), Ectomycorrhizal Fungi: Key Genera in Profile. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Germany, pp. 269–285.
- Iotti, M.; Zambonelli, A. (2006). A quick and precise technique for identifying ectomycorrhizas by PCR. Mycol Res 110 (Pt 1):60-65. doi:S0953-7562(05)00029-8 [pii] 10.1016/j.mycres.2005.09.010.

- Karabaghli, C.; Frey-Klett, P.; Sotta, B.; Bonnet, M.; Le Tacon, F. (1998). In vitro effects of Laccaria bicolor S238 N and Pseudomonas fluorescens strain BBc6 on rooting of de-rooted shoot hypocotyls of Norway spruce. Tree Physiol 18 (2):103-111.
- Leake, J.R.; McKendrick, S.L.; Bidartondo, M.; Read, D.J. (2004). Symbiotic germination and development of the myco-heterotroph *Monotropa hypopitys* in nature and its requirement for locally distributed *Tricholoma* spp. *New Phytologist* 163: 405–423.
- Lopes, M.; Silva, D.; Freitas, G.; Tenreiro, R. (2007). Simultaneous identification and typing of *Candida* species by MSP-PCR and AFLP: Study of clinical isolates from a Portuguese pediatric hospital. J. Mycol. Médicale, 17: 157-67.
- Martins, M. (2004). Degradação biológica de fungicidas em amostras de solo, Tese de Doutoramento, Departamento de Química, Universidade de Évora, Évora, pp. 140-142.
- Marx, D.H.; Ruehle, J.L.; Kenney, D.S.; Cordell, C.E.; Riffle, J.W.; Molina, R.J.; Pawuk, W.H.; Navratil, S.; Tinus, R.W.; Goodwin, O.C. (1982). Commercial vegetative inoculum of *Pisolithus tinctorius* and inoculation techniques for development of ectomycorrhizae on container-grown tree seedlings. For Sci 28:373–400.
- Mello, A.; Ghignone, S.; Vizzini, A.; Sechi, C.; Ruiu, P., Bonfante, P. (2006). ITS primers for the identification of marketable boletes. J Biotechnol 121 (3):318-329. doi:10.1016/j.jbiotec.2005.08.022.
- Meyer, W.; Koch, A.; Niemann, C.; Beyermann, B.; Epplen, J. T.; Borner T. (1991). Differentiation of species and strains among filamentous fungi by DNA fingerprinting. Curr. Genet. 19:239-242.
- Modess, O. (1941). Zur kenntnis der mykorrhizabildner von kiefer und fichte. Symb Bot Upsala 5:1-147.
- Moreira, S.R.; Schwan, R.F.; Carvalho, E.P.; Wheals, A.E. (2001). Isolation and identification of yeasts and filamentous fungi from yogurts in Brazil. Brazilian Journal of Microbiology 32: 117-122.
- Niemi, K.; Salonen, M.; Ernstsen, A.; Heinonen-Tanski, H.; Häggman, H. (2000). Application of ectomycorrhizal fungi in rooting of Scots pine fascicular shoots. Can J For Res 30:1221-1230.
- Niemi, K.; Julkunen-Tiitto, R.; Tegelberg, R.; Haggman, H. (2005). Light sources with different spectra affect root and mycorrhiza formation in Scots pine in vitro. Tree Physiol 25 (1):123-128.

- Normand, L.; Bärtschi, H.; Debaud, J.C.; Gay, G. (1996). Rooting and acclimatization of micropropagated cuttings of *Pinus pinaster* and *Pinus sylvestris* are enhanced by the ectomycorrhizal fungus *Hebeloma cylindrosporum*. Physiol Plant 98:759–766.
- Ragonezi, C.; Castro, M.R.; Klimaszewska, K.; Lima, M.; Zavattieri, M.A. (2010a). Influence of light quality and intensity on adventitious root formation in microshoots of *Pinus pinea* L. Acta Hort (ISHS) 865:287-291.
- Rincón, A., Alvarez, I.F.; Pera, J. (1999). Ectomycorrhizal fungi of *Pinus pinea* L. in northern Spain. Mycorrhiza 8:271–276.
- Rosling, A. (2003). Responses of ectomycorrhizal fungi to mineral substrates. Ph.D. Thesis, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Sweden.
- Schmit, J.P.; Lodge, D.J. (2005). Chapter 10. Classical methods and modern analysis for studying fungal diversity. In: Dighton J, White Jr JF, Oudemans P (eds), The Fungal Community, its Organization and Role in the Ecosystem, 3rd edn. CRC Press, Taylor & Francis, Boca Raton, FL, pp. 193e214.
- Singer, R. (1986). The Agaricales in ModernTaxonomy, 4th ed.Koeltz Scientific Books, Koenigstein, Germany, 981 pp.
- Smith, S.E.; Read, D.J. (1997). Mycorrhizal symbiosis. 2nd ed. London: Academic Press.
- Smith, M.E.; Douhan, G.W.; Rizzo, D.M. (2007). Intra-specific and intra-sporocarp ITS variation of ectomycorrhizal fungi as assessed by rDNA sequencing of sporocarps and pooled ectomycorrhizal roots from a *Quercus* woodland. Mycorrhiza 18: 15–22.
- Tamura, K.; Peterson, D.; Peterson, N.; Stecher, G.; Nei, M.; Kumar, S. (2011). MEGA5: Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis using Maximum Likelihood, Evolutionary Distance, and Maximum Parsimony Methods. Molecular Biology and Evolution 28: 2731-2739.
- Taylor, A.F.S.; Alexander, I. (2005). The ectomycorrhizal symbiosis: Life in the real world. Mycologist 19: 102–112.
- Thompson, J.; Higgins, D.; Gibson, T. (1994). ClustalW: improving the sensitivity of progressive multiple sequence alignment through sequence weighting, position-speci®c gap penalties and weight matrix choice. Nucl. Acids Res. 22, 4673-4690.
- Zavattieri, A.; Lima, M.; Sobral, V.; Oliveira, P.; Costa, A. (2009). Effects of carbon source, carbon concentration and culture conditions on *in vitro* rooting of *Pinus pinea* L. microshoots. Acta Hort (ISHS) 812:173-180.



Chapter 6 *Pisolithus arhizus* (Scop.) Rauschert Improves Growth of Adventitious Roots and Acclimatization on *in vitro* Regenerated Plantlets of *Pinus pinea* L.

Manuscript published in the Propagation of Ornamental Plants Journal

Ragonezi C, Caldeira AT, Martins MR, Dias LS, Santos-Silva C, Ganhão E, Miralto O, Pereira I, Louro R, Klimaszewska K, Zavattieri A (2012) *Pisolithus arhizus* (Scop.) Rauschert improves growth of adventitious roots and acclimatization on *in vitro* regenerated plantlets of *Pinus pinea* L. Propagation of Ornamental Plants 12:139-147.



PISOLITHUS ARHIZUS (SCOP.) RAUSCHERT IMPROVES GROWTH OF ADVENTITIOUS ROOTS AND ACCLIMATIZATION OF IN VITRO REGENERATED PLANTLETS OF PINUS PINEA L.

Carla Ragonezi^{1,3*}, Ana Teresa Caldeira^{4,5}, Maria do Rosário Martins^{3,4}, Luís Silva Dias², Celeste Santos-Silva^{2,3}, Elsa Ganhão², Otília Miralto², Isabel Pereira^{3,7}, Rogério Louro³, Krystyna Klimaszewska⁶, and Amely Zavattieri^{2,3}

 ¹Plant Breeding and Biotechnology Laboratory, University of Évora, Largo dos Colegiais 2, 7002-554 Évora, Portugal, *Fax: + 351 266760914, *E-mail: cazi04@yahoo.com.br
 ²Department of Biology, University of Évora, Largo dos Colegiais 2, 7002-554 Évora, Portugal
 ³Institute of Mediterranean Agricultural and Environmental Sciences (ICAAM), University of Évora, Largo dos Colegiais 2, 7002-554 Évora, Portugal

⁴Department of Chemistry, University of Évora, Largo dos Colegiais 2, 7002-554 Évora, Portugal ⁵CQE, University of Évora, St. Romão Ramalho 59, 7000-671 Évora, Portugal

Natural Resources Canada, Canadian Forest Service, Laurentian Forestry Centre, 1055 du P.E.P.S.,

P. O. Box 10380, Stn. Sainte-Foy, Québec, QC G1V 4C7, Canada

⁷Laboratory of Botany, University of Évora, Largo dos Colegiais 2, 7002-554 Évora, Portugal

Abstract

Stone pine (*Pinus pinea* L.) is an economically important forest tree in the Mediterranean region and has been the target of breeding and selection through micropropagation mainly for its ecological and ornamental aspects. A crucial step in micropropagation is adventitious rooting of microshoots, which often is highly inefficient in most conifer species including stone pine. Hence, we conducted *in vitro* co-culture of *Pinus pinea* microshoots with the ectomycorrhizal fungus *Pisolithus arhizus* (isolated from natural stands) in order to promote adventitious root growth and plant survival during acclimatization. Significant differences were found in the number of branches, in the number of roots plus branches, in total length of roots, in total length of roots plus branches, in average root length and in the length of the longest root in inoculated plants during *in vitro* rooting compared with non-inoculated plants. The roots of inoculated plants also grew better in vermiculite and during acclimatization in a mixed substrate compared with roots of control plants resulting in the development of vigorous root system. Overall, mycorrhizal inoculation increased the survival rate of the regenerated pine.

Key words: co-culture, in vitro mycorrhization, micropropagation, root system.

INTRODUCTION

Stone pine (*Pinus pinea* L.) is an important species widely distributed in the Mediterranean region (Capuana and Giannini 1995). The trees have been exploited for their edible seeds (pine nuts) since prehistoric times and currently, in addition to being cultivated for the seeds, it is also a widespread horticultural tree (Nergiz and Donmez 2004). *P. pinea* has been successfully introduced into North Africa as well as Argentina and South Africa. In other places e.g. California, Scotland, and Southern England it is usually confined to parks and gardens (Fady et al. 2004). In Portugal, there is large-scale production of clonal stone pine genotypes using grafting and *in vitro* organogenesis from mature embryo cotyledons (Alpuim 2000, Carneiro 2002, Zavattieri et al. 2009, Ragonezi et al. 2010a). However, the number

of rooted microshoots obtained through organogenesis is low, because similarly to other conifers, stone pine rooting is difficult and genotype dependent (Cuesta et al. 2006, Ragonezi et al. 2010b). Another *in vitro* method of micropropagation is somatic embryogenesis, which in a few pine species is relatively efficient but has limited use in stone pine due to difficulties in somatic embryo maturation and conversion to plants (Carneros et al. 2009).

P. pinea, like other conifers, forms ectomycorrhizas (ECM), which have beneficial impact on plant growth in natural environments (Read 1991) and forest ecosystems (Grove and Le Tacon 1993). Central to the success of these symbioses is the exchange of nutrients between symbionts (Smith and Read 1997) and the extended function of the root system (Smith and Read 1997, Read and Perez-Moreno 2003, van der Heijden et al. 2003). This relationship with fungi grants conifers an ecological advantage to withstand the harsh living conditions in sandy soils and coastal areas. Many Basidiomycetes fungi and some Ascomycetes fungi are characterized primarily by the presence of a mantle (sheath) and a Hartig net consisting of modified fungal hyphae that develop among root cells (Smith and Read 1997). This relates not only to the extent of root colonization but also to the development of hyphae in the soil (Colpaert et al. 1992, Thomson et al. 1994). Generally, gymnosperms have a Hartig net that develops around epidermal and cortical cells (Peterson and Massicotte 2004).

Pisolithus arhizus (Scop.) Rauschert is a cosmopolitan fungus in warm temperate regions of the world and forms ECM associations with a wide range of tree species, both angiosperms and gymnosperms (Marx 1977, Chambers and Cairney 1999). Moreover, *P. arhizus* is well adapted to diverse environmental conditions, is relatively easy to grow *in vitro* and has the ability to recognize and become associated with host plants (Béguiristain and Lapeyrie 1997, Reis et al. 2011).

Several studies have shown the potential of using ECM fungi in conifer propagation (Gay et al. 1990, Niemi et al. 2000, 2004, 2005). Inoculation of specific fungi can enhance root formation and or subsequent root branching of cuttings in vivo and in seedlings (Karabaghli et al. 1998, Niemi et al. 2000, Normand et al. 1996). Rincón et al. (1999) identified at least eight genera of fungi that formed ECMs in control inoculation of

P. pinea seedlings in the nursery (Amanita, Hebeloma, Laccaria, Lactarius, Pisolithus, Rhizopogon, Scleroderma, and Suillus), but the numbers of mycorrhizal short roots varied among isolates. Fungal inoculations can increase the plant ability to overcome the stress growth related with nursery and after transplantation (García et al. 2011, Fini et al. 2011). It has been previously shown that ECM-derived fungal isolates promoted sustained root growth of in vitro propagated stone pine microshoots, but in that study most of the fungal-isolates that induced renewed root growth were not identified (Oliveira et al. 2003).

The aims of the present study were first, to isolate from a pure stand of *P. pinea* the ectomychorrizal fungus, identify it and obtain pure culture of the mycelia and second, to determine whether *in vitro* inoculation of stone pine micropropagated plants with *P. arhizus* would promote the adventitious root growth and thereby improve acclimatization by decreasing the loss of plants during weaning.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Collection of P. arhizus fruiting bodies from a Pinus pinea stand

Fruiting bodies of P. arhizus were collected from a

pure *P. pinea* stand (N 38° 25'; W 7° 56') in January 2010. Identification was done on-site at the collection time and later confirmed in laboratory. Morphological identification was based on keys, monographs and field guides (Pegler et al. 1995, Calonge 1998, Gerhardt et al. 2000). Specimens were stored at 4°C before sterilization and isolation procedures.

Mycelia isolation and fungal cultures

For the asepsis, the fruiting bodies were cut into large pieces, placed in running water for 10 min and then in 70% ethanol (Sigma-Aldrich[®], Sintra, Portugal) for 2 min. Next, the pieces were rinsed with sterile distilled water in a laminar flow unit, placed in 20% (v/v) sodium hypochlorite 10% (v/v) (commercial bleach with 5% free chlorine) for 10 min and rinsed four times in sterile water. The large pieces were then cut in small pieces (50 mm³) for growth or were stored at -20°C. For growth, the pieces of fruiting bodies were placed in Petri dishes with a medium. The cultures were kept at 25°C in dark and subcultured at weekly intervals. Three different media were initially tested for P. arhizus isolation and culture; BAF (biotin-aneurin-folic acid agar; Oort 1981), Hagen (Modess 1941) and MMN (modified Melin-Norkrans, Marx 1969). The media were autoclaved for 20 min at 121°C and the pH was adjusted to 4.5-5.0 for Hagen, 5.7-6.2 for MMN and 5.8-6.3 for BAF. Hundred mg ml⁻¹ Rifampicin (Sigma-Aldrich[®], Sintra, Portugal) was added to each medium after autoclaving. After 14 days in culture, Hagen medium was chosen for mycelium maintenance and growth because it was cost-effective and suitable for making mycelium plugs for the co-cultures.

Identification of the fungal isolates

DNA was extracted from fresh mycelia using NucleoSpin® Plant Kit for extraction of genomic DNA (Macherey-Nagel, Cascais, Portugal). The quality and quantity of the obtained DNA was evaluated by agarose gel. The region containing partial portions of the small subunit (18S), both internal transcribed spacers (ITS) and the 5.8S of the rDNA repeat unit was amplified using the oligonucleotides primers ITS 5 (5'-GGAAG-TAAAAGTCGTAACAAGG-3') and ITS4 (5'-TC-CTCCGCTTATTGATATGC-3') (Gardes and Bruns 1993). PCR reactions were carried out on a MyCycler Thermal Cycler (BIO-RAD, Amadora, Portugal) and consisted of initial denaturing at 95°C for 3 min followed by 30 cycles at 92°C each 30 s, 55°C for 30 s, and 72°C for 1 min. The reaction was completed by a 10 min extension at 72°C. PCR products were analyzed by agarose gel (1%) electrophoresis, purified with the NucleoSpin Extract II Kit (Macherey-Nagel, Cascais, Portugal) and sequenced by capillary electrophoresis using the ABI PRISM 3730 xl sequencer with the Kit BDT v1.1 (Applied Biosystems, Porto, Portugal). The

sequences of the ITS region were aligned with those of related fungal strains retrieved from the GenBank databases for the homology analysis.

Plant material

Mature seeds of P. pinea derived from cones of open pollinated select trees (adapted for pinion production) were obtained in March 2009. The pine stand is located in Mata de Valverde farm, National Forestry Station, Alcácer do Sal. Seeds were stored in a cold chamber at 4°C until used. Seeds were used to obtain cotyledon explants. The seed coat was cracked with a nut cracker and discarded. The megagametophytes were surface disinfested by immersion in 70% (v/v) ethanol (Sigma-Aldrich[®], Sintra, Portugal) for 2 min followed by three rinses in sterile bi-distilled water. They were then immersed in sodium hypochlorite 10% (v/v) (commercial bleach with 5% free chlorine) for 25 min followed by four rinses in sterile water. All of the following steps were carried out under aseptic conditions. An embryo was excised from the megagametophyte by making a longitudinal incision with a scalpel and by gently pulling the edges of the cleft with two forceps. Finally, the cotyledons were excised from the embryo axes with a cut at their bases. Plants obtained from all the cotyledons of a seed were designated as one clone.

Microshoot induction from embryo cotyledons

The cotyledons were cultured separately in a Petri dish with semi-solid Woody Plant Medium (WPM) (Lloyd and McCown 1980) supplemented with 22.2 μ M 6-benzylaminopurine (BAP), 20 g l⁻¹ sucrose, 7 g l⁻¹ agar (Sigma-Aldrich[®], Sintra, Portugal) and with pH adjusted to 5.8 before autoclaving. The culture chamber conditions during the shoot induction stage were 25°/19°C (day/night), 16 h photoperiod provided by cool-white fluorescent light at 80 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹. After a month, the explants with shoot buds were transferred to fresh WPM medium with 2 g l⁻¹ of activated charcoal (Sigma-Aldrich[®], Sintra, Portugal) to promote shoot elongation.

Rooting of microshoots

Elongated microshoots, ~2 cm long, were transferred to rooting medium based on WPM with half concentration of the macronutrients, 7 g l⁻¹ agar and different carbon sources (see below), and adjusted to pH 5.8 before autoclaving. For root induction, the medium was supplemented with 10.7 μ M α -naphthalene acetic acid (NAA) and 0.12M glucose (WPMRI). The cultures were kept for two weeks in a growth chamber at a constant temperature of 19°C. The first week the cultures were in darkness and the second week under a 16 h photoperiod. Root expression was obtained after transferring the microshoots to WPM consisting of half concentration of the macronutrients, without plant growth regulators and with 0.058 M glucose (WPMRE) and incubated in a growth chamber at 16-h photoperiod provided by cool-white fluorescent lamps at 80 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ and 25°/19°C day/night. Roots appeared after 3 to 6 weeks.

Co-culture in vitro

After the rooting induction and expression stages, 51 rooted plants were transferred to 100 ml Erlenmeyer flasks containing double layer WPM. The bottom medium layer was without sucrose (45 ml in the flask) and the top medium layer was with 1.5% sucrose (5 ml in the flask) to allow fungal growth as previously described by Oliveira et al. (2003) (Fig. 1A). Twenty six plants were inoculated with P. arhizus and the other 25 (not inoculated) served as controls. Before fungal inoculation, care was taken to ensure that both groups of plants were uniform with respect to the number and length of roots. The inoculation was done with fresh mycelia from the cultures grown in the dark at room temperature. Five mm agar plugs with the fungal "lawn" were cut out with a cork borer and placed in the vicinity of a plantlet. All plantlets remained in the double layer medium for 4 weeks at 16 h photoperiod provided by cool-white fluorescent lamps at 80 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹ and 25%/19°C day/ night. At the beginning of the mycorrhization experiment the initial position and length of roots of all plants in both groups (control and inoculated) were marked on the bottom glass of the flask with permanent marker pen. At weekly intervals, new colour marks were made to trace root growth inside the flask. The total growth of a plant root was the sum of all incremental measurements made at weekly intervals with a ruler put on the glass bottom of the flask (Fig. 1B). After four weeks, plants were taken out of the culture medium and before transplanting to sterile vermiculite the total number of roots and branches per plant were counted and the primary roots and root branches length were measured.

The verification of the accuracy of root measurements in vitro

A parallel experiment was done with the aim to verify the accuracy of the indirect measurements (IM) of the length of primary roots and root branches through the glass bottom of a flask. These measurements were made on 20 plants using the same procedure as described above during *in vitro* culture (through the bottom glass of a flask). At the end of this experiment plants were taken out and their roots were measured again (direct measure, DM). Data obtained with both methods were statistically compared.

Acclimatization

After the co-culture, the plants including controls went through acclimatization with the aim to follow the growth of the root system. The acclimatization was



Fig. 1. *In vitro* co-culture of *Pinus pinea* and the mycelium of *Pisolithus arhizus*. A) in a double layer WPM medium. Arrow indicates place of inoculation with the mycelium, B) Bottom of a culture vessel showing colour mark (arrow) made to measure the weekly root growth with a ruler, C) Details of a dichotomous ectomycorrhizal structure covered with yellowish-brown mycelium collected from a plant 30 days after inoculation, D and E) Cryostat transversal root section colonized by *P. arhizus* showing the mantle (M) developed at the root apex of a short root and internal Hartig-net hyphae (HN) (200 ×) (Scale bar 20 μ m), D). Details of the transversal section showing well-differentiated Hartig-net (HN) in cortical cells (2000 ×) (Scale bar 7.5 μ m) (E).

done in two stages: 1) in sterile vermiculite and 2) in sterile mixed substrate (vermiculite : perlite : peat, 2 : 1 : 1 - Europerlita Española S. A.). The acclimatization lasted 10 weeks in a growth chamber at $25/19^{\circ}$ C day/night and 16 h photoperiod (270 mmol s⁻¹m⁻²), and at the relative humidity of 80%. Plants were watered as required alternating sterile water and liquid WPM (without glucose).

Vermiculite

Plants were planted into plastic cups (~15 cm high and 5 cm in diameter) with sterile vermiculite. Number and length of roots and root branches were recorded at the time of transfer from *in vitro* to vermiculite and also after 2-week growth at the moment of transplanting to sterile mixed substrate in larger vessels (~20cm high and 4 cm in diameter).

Mixed substrate

After 2-week growth in mixed substrate, plants were carefully removed, the root system of each plant

measured as described above (first measurement) and plants were replanted. Measurements were repeated after 4 more weeks at the end of the experiment (second measurement). The lengths of the primary roots and root branches were recorded.

Anatomical and histological studies

Mycorrhized root samples from the mixed substrates were collected at the end of the experiment (6 weeks) and identified for histological and anatomical studies. Roots were fixed in 4% glutaraldehyde diluted in 0.1 M HEPES buffer (N-2 Hydroxyenthyl piperazine-N'-2ethane sulfonic acid), pH 6.8 and stored in a refrigerator for 24 h. Afterwards roots were washed two times in 1N PBS (phosphate buffer saline) with 4% sucrose for 15 min and finally washed in PBS with 15% sucrose. After washing, roots were placed in PBS with 15% sucrose and 7.5% of microbiology gelatin (Merck[®], Lisboa, Portugal) for 1 to 2 h at 37°C.

Other Petri dishes with the same gelatin base were prepared and after 1 h when the solution solidified, roots

were placed on the surface of the gelatin and covered with 1 cm layer of molten gelatin solution. Petri dishes were stored in a refrigerator for 1 h; blocks (1 cm \times 1 cm \times 1 cm) of gelatin with roots were cut out, frozen and stored at -80°C. Longitudinal and transverse sections, approximately 5-10 µm thick, were cut at -33°C using a cryostat (Cryosect, Seaward Ltd, London), transferred to glass slides and stained with a common fountain pen ink. Sections were observed under an Olympus microscope at the magnification of 1125 \times .

Statistical analyses

When plants are inside flasks, counting roots and root branches can be easily done without risk of errors. The same cannot be done for root lengths, length of the longest root, and the total root length. Therefore, indirect measurement (IM) made through the glass bottom of flasks were compared with direct measurements (DM) of the same plants at the time of transplantation to vermiculite. This was done by fitting a straight line forced through the origin (DM = a IM) and examining the 95% confidence interval of regression coefficient a.

Numbers of roots and branches and the lengths of plants, which were randomly assigned to control and treatment groups at the time of inoculation with the fungus were compared by two-tailed exact or approximate Student's t tests after checking for homocedasticity using the two-tailed F distribution.

The experiment was a 2×4 factorial design with inoculation (inoculated and non-inoculated) and stage (*in vitro*, vermiculite, first and second period of growth in mixed substrate) as main effects. In order to maximize the independency of effects of inoculation at each stage, growth was expressed for each variable as the difference between the measured values at the end and at the beginning of each stage. Therefore, growth could have negative, zero, or positive values. For example, negative values in number of roots could result from root loss when plants were uprooted at the end of a given stage, zero values when there was no change in root number, positive values when there was an increase in root number between the beginning and the end of a given stage.

Main effects and interactions were analysed by factorial ANOVA. Prior to that homocedasticity was investigated using the two-tailed F distribution and whenever heterocedasticity was found data was transformed using the Box-Cox transformation (Box and Cox 1964, Rohlf 1992). Because of the significance of interactions between the main factors (see Results and discussion) the effects of inoculation were investigated separately for *in vitro*, vermiculite and mixed substrate stages by Student's t tests. Comparisons were one-tailed and prior to t tests, homocedasticity was investigated using the two-tailed F distribution. Whenever heterocedasticity was found comparisons of means were done using the

approximate Student's t distribution. A comparisonwise significance level of 0.05 was used throughout. Data are expressed as means \pm standard errors.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Pisolithus arhizus

Representative voucher specimen of the fruiting body collected in the pine stand was deposited at Évora University Herbarium (UEVH-FUNGI 2001610). In Hagen medium the mycelia were yellowish-ochraceous with paler margin. The subsequent ITS rDNA sequencing, with 644 bp, showed 99-100% homology with *P. arhizus* sequences found in NCBI (National Center for Biotechnology Information), confirming the success of our isolation and culture procedures. *P. arhizus* sequence was deposited in GenBank (NCBI identification number: HQ896485).

Root growth in vitro

Straight line equation forced through the origin could always be fitted to describe the relationship between direct measurements (DM) and indirect measurements (IM). For the length of the longest root DM = 0.957 IM ($p < 10^{-4}$, R² = 0.981; 95% confidence interval for the regression coefficient 0.890 - 1.024) and for total root length DM = 0.990 IM ($p < 10^{-4}$, $R^2 = 0.982$; 95% confidence interval for the regression coefficient 0.923 - 1.056). Thus no significant differences occurred in pairwise comparisons between DM and IM of root length. The IM allowed the determination of root lengths, which was used as reference at the beginning of the experiment and could be used, if desired, to follow root growth during co-culture. To our knowledge, this was the first time that the indirect method of root length determination during in vitro culture was addressed and effectively used.

There were no significant differences between the plants chosen for inoculation with the fungus and control plants before the onset of the experiment in the number of roots and in the total length of roots. Conversely, significant differences were found between the two groups of plants before the onset of the experiment in the number of branches, in the number of roots plus branches, in the length of the longest root and in the average root length calculated as the ratio of total length of roots / number of roots (Table 1). Throughout the experiment, plant mortality was observed only in control plants, in which three plants died during the growth in vermiculite.

Interaction between the main factors inoculation and stage was not significant for the change of number of branches (p = 0.320), change of number of roots plus branches (p = 0.224) and change of average length of roots (p = 0.359), and for these variables neither was the factor inoculation. Conversely, significant interac-

| Variable | Assigned to control | Assigned to inoculation | р |
|---------------------------------|---------------------|-------------------------|-------|
| Number of roots | 2.6 ± 0.3 | 1.8 ± 0.2 | 0.055 |
| Number of branches | 0.8 ± 0.3 | 0.0 ± 0.0 | 0.044 |
| Number of roots plus branches | 3.4 ± 0.4 | 1.8 ± 0.2 | 0.003 |
| Total length of roots (mm) | 29.5 ± 3.3 | 36.3 ± 5.5 | 0.301 |
| Length of the longest root (mm) | 11.5 ± 0.9 | 18.0 ± 1.9 | 0.007 |
| Average root length (mm) | 11.8 ± 1.5 | 22.7 ± 4.1 | 0.024 |

Table 1. Means ± standard errors of variables in plants assigned to control and to inoculation at the onset of the experiment.

Differences were investigated by exact or approximate Student's t tests and at the probability level 0.05. Sample size was n = 13.

tion between main factors was found in the change of number of roots (p = 0.016), change of total length of roots (p = 0.014), change of total length of roots plus branches (p = 0.002) and change of length of the longest root (p = 0.049). Therefore, the effects of inoculation were separately analysed for each growth stage using Student's *t* tests (Table 2).

Inoculated plants had significantly higher changes in the number of root branches and in the number of roots plus branches, during in vitro growth compared with control plants. In addition, the number of root branches in inoculated plants but not of roots, significantly increased during the co-culture, while in control plants no change occurred in the number of roots and in the number of roots plus branches. It is well known that Pisolithus spp. secret hypahorine, indole-3-acetic acid (IAA) and other growth regulators that trigger morphological changes in the root system (Martin et al. 2001, Niemi et al. 2000). The involvement of P. arhizus in promoting root branching to form second and thirdorder laterals in both conifer and angiosperm hosts were previously reported by Chambers and Carney (1999). The results of our study on in vitro root growth confirmed what was determined in situ by other researchers.

Root growth in vermiculite

During growth in vermiculite differences were found in the change of length of the longest root, in the change of total root length, in the change of total length of roots plus branches and in the change of average length of roots. No significant differences were observed in the change of number of roots or of branches, but like during in vitro growth, if differences occurred, mean changes in inoculated plants were significantly higher than mean changes in control plants. The magnitude of changes in inoculated plants during vermiculite growth was between 8 fold (change in total length of roots) and 15 fold (change in length of the longest root) greater than in control plants. Also, on average the change in control plants was up to 10% of the corresponding values and in inoculated plants it was up to 73%.

These results are largely in agreement with the findings of Ostonen et al. (2009) on the effects of different ECM on the anatomotype of the root system in Alnus spp. They observed that different functional parameters of short ECM roots, e.g., specific root area (SRA), specific root length (SRL), and root tissue density (RTD) were modified depending on the

| Growth stage | Variable | Control | Inoculated | р |
|--|--|------------|---------------|-------|
| In vitro | Change in number of branches | 0.0 ± 0.0 | 1.4 ± 0.6 | 0.018 |
| | Change in number of roots plus branches | 0.0 ± 0.0 | 1.4 ± 0.6 | 0.018 |
| Vermiculite | Change in total length of roots (mm) | 3.8 ± 3.1 | 29.2 ± 7.2 | 0.003 |
| | Change in total length of roots plus branches (mm) | 2.8 ± 4.2 | 32.3 ± 7.1 | 0.002 |
| | Change in average root length (mm) | 0.9 ± 1.2 | 9.7 ± 3.4 | 0.014 |
| | Change in length of the longest root (mm) | 1.0 ± 2.0 | 14.7 ± 3.7 | 0.002 |
| Mixed substrate, 2 nd measurement | Change in number of roots | -1.0 ± 0.3 | -0.1 ± 0.1 | 0.001 |
| | Change in number of roots plus branches | -1.0 ± 0.3 | -0.1 ± 0.1 | 0.001 |
| | Change in total length of roots (mm) | -4.2 ± 8.8 | 17.4 ± 7.6 | 0.038 |

Table 2. Means ± standard errors of variables with significant differences between control and inoculated plants.

Differences were investigated separately for each stage by exact or approximate Student's *t* tests and at the probability level 0.05. Sample size in control was n = 10 except *in vitro* where n = 13; in inoculated plants always n = 13.

colonizing fungal species. There are other examples of root anatomotype changes (Reithmeier 2011), however most of the research was done in nurseries and in the natural environment.

Root growth in mixed substrate

No significant differences were found during the first 15 days in mixed substrate between inoculated and control plants suggesting that the two groups grew at the same rate. These results indicated that the substrate, nutritionally richer than vermiculite was sufficient for the growth of control plants or that the effect of the fungus was less evident compared with the nutritionally poor conditions used during the first acclimatization stage. But this lack of effects was temporary because during the second period of acclimatization in mixed substrate significant differences were found in the change of number of roots, change of number of roots plus branches and change in total root length. These changes were significantly higher in inoculated plants than those in control plants. Reduction in the number of roots and, as a consequence, in total root length, likely resulted from the second uprooting of plants from mixed substrate which was necessary to count and measure the roots. Overall it suggests that inoculated plants were more robust and able to better withstand the stress imposed by uprooting than control plants.

These results demonstrated the dynamic interaction of the substrate organic matter with ectomycorrhizal colonization and root growth. Rosling (2003) extensively analysed the relationship between mycelium growth and the activity of ectomycorrhizal fungi in different soil substrates and its potential to modify their microenvironment and subsequent root colonization. Rincón et al. (2005) have also demonstrated an interaction between the substrates and the optimal fungal growth and root colonization. Although, our study focused only on stone pine root growth and not on the fungal mycelia behaviour in the employed substrates, the results of others might suggest that similar interaction occurred in the present work, which to our knowledge is the first attempt to investigate root development during such a short period of time.

Mycorrhiza anatomical and histological studies

Plants were very useful for the identification of target structures and for the observation of the symbiosis with minimal disturbance to the rest of the root architecture. Samples of the dichotomous roots from the plants grown in mixed substrate and collected after acclimatization were used for the anatomical and histological observations (Fig. 1C). According to our previous experience, the symbiotic structures were highly variable in their complexity, but the transverse sections of the ectomycorrhizal roots showed a well developed mantle and Hartig net (Fig. 1D and E).

Co-culture of *P. pinea* plants with *P. arhizus* effectively helped to overcome one of the most common problems associated with the *in vitro* rooting: the inhibition of adventitious root growth under the culture conditions and the survival of the plants *ex vitrum*. Even in nutritionally poor vermiculite used during the early stage of acclimatization, none of the inoculated plantlets died and we observed a vast mycorrhizal symbiosis establishment. Moreover, fewer roots were lost during transplantation, which likely resulted from morphological modifications of the mycorrhized roots such as the presence of the hyphae around the roots and the internal Hartig net which increased root thickness and contributed to a more robust root system.

The adventitious rooting of *P. pinea* was initially induced *in vitro* by NAA and at the time of inoculation there were no significant differences in the number of roots per plantlet. Therefore, it may be surmised that the significant differences in root growth observed during *in vitro* co-culture stage was not caused by the external auxin supply necessary for the root induction stage. Also, the fact that the change in number and length of roots and branches was significantly higher in the inoculated plants suggests the importance of the fungal presence. Both increased root branching and length were beneficial for acclimatization of stone pine plantlets.

Acknowledgements: This research was supported by the Portuguese Foundation for Science and Technology (FCT) through the project PTDC/AGR-CFL/71437/2006).

REFERENCES

- Alpuim M. S. H. (2000). Pinheiro manso: melhoramento para a produção de pinhão / Margarida dos Santos Hall d' Alpuim, Alexandra Neves Carneiro. Investigação Agrária, 3: 74-75.
- Béguiristain T., Lapeyrie F. (1997). Host plant stimulates hypahorine accumulation in *Pisolithus tinctorius* hyphae during ectomycorrhizal infection while excreted fungal hypaphorine controls root hair development. New Phytologist, 136: 525-532.
- Box G. E. P., Cox D. R. (1964). An analysis of transformations. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society, Series B 26: 211-252.
- Calonge F. D. (1998). Flora Mycologica Iberica Vol.
 3. Gasteromycetes, I. Lycoperdales, Nidulariales, Phallales, Sclerodermatales, Tulostomatales. J. Cramer: Berlin, Germany, 271 pp.
- Capuana M., Giannini R. (1995). *In vitro* plantlet regeneration from embryogenic explant of *Pinus pinea* L. In Vitro Cellular & Developmental Biology-Plant, 31: 202-206.
- Cameiro A. I. L. N. (2002). Avaliação da variabilidade e controlo genético de características biométricas

das pinhas e da semente da *Pinus pinea* L. Universidade Técnica de Lisboa - Instituto Superior de Agronomia, 58 pp.

- Carneros E., Celestino C., Klimaszewska K., Park Y., Toribio M., Bonga J. M. (2009). Plant regeneration in stone pine (*Pinus pinea* L.) by somatic embryogenesis. Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture, 98: 165-178.
- Chambers S. M., Cairney J. W. G. (1999). *Pisolithus*. In: Cairney J. W. G, Chambers S. M. (Eds). Ectomycorrhizal fungi. Key genera in profile. Springer, Berlin: 1-31.
- Colpaert J. V., van Assche J. A., Luijtens K. (1992). The growth of the extramatrical mycelium of ectomycorrhizal fungi and the growth response of *Pinus* sylvestris L. New Phytologist, 120: 127-135.
- Cuesta C., Ordás R. J., Fernández B., Rodríguez A. (2006). Clonal micropropagation of six selected half-sibling families of *Pinus pinea* and somaclonal variation analysis. Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture, 95: 125-130.
- Fady B., Fineschi S., Vendramin G. G. (2004). EUFOR-GEN technical guidelines for genetic conservation and use for Italian stone pine (*Pinus pinea*). International Plant Genetic Resources Institute, Rome, Italy, 6 pp.
- Fini A., Frangi P., Amoroso G., Piatti R., Faoro M., Bellasio C., Ferrini F. (2011). Effect of controlled inoculation with specific mycorrhizal fungi from the urban environment on growth and physiology of containerized shade tree species growing under different water regimes. Mycorrhiza, 21: 703-719.
- García A. N., Árias S. del P. B., Morte A., Sánchez-Blanco M. J. (2011). Effects of nursery preconditioning through mycorrhizal inoculation and drought in *Arbutus unedo* L. plants. Mycorrhiza, 21: 53-64.
- Gardes M., Bruns T. D. (1993). ITS primers with enhanced specificity for basidiomycetes-application to the identification of mycorrhizae and rusts. Molecular Ecology, 2:113-118.
- Gay G. (1990). Effect of the ectomycorrhizal fungus *Hebeloma hiemale* on adventitious root formation in de-rooted *Pinus halepensis* shoot hypocotyls. Canadian Journal of Botany, 68: 1265-1270.
- Gerhardt E., Vila J., Llimona X. (2000). Hongos de España y de Europa. Ediciones Omega, Barcelone, 957 pp.
- Grove T. S., Le Tacon F. (1993). Mycorrhiza in plantation forestry. Advances in Plant Pathology, 23: 191-227.
- Karabaghli C., Frey-Klett P., Sotta B., Bonnet M., Le Tacon F. (1998). *In vitro* effects of *Laccaria bicolor* S238 N and *Pseudomonas fluorescens* strain BBc6 on rooting of de-rooted shoot hypocotyls of Norway spruce. Tree Physiology, 18: 103-111.

- Lloyd G., McCown B. (1980). Commercially feasible micropropagation of mountain laurel, Kalmia *latifolia*, by the use of shoot tip culture. Combined Proceedings, International Plant Propagators' Society, 30: 421-427.
- Martin F., Duplessis S., Ditengou F., Lagrange H., Voiblet C., Lapeyrie F. (2001). Developmental cross talking in the ectomycorrhizal symbiosis: signals and communication genes. New Phytologist, 151: 145-154.
- Marx D. H. (1969). The influence of ectotrophic fungi on the resistance of pine roots to pathogenic infections. I. Antagonism of mycorrhizal fungi to root pathogenic fungi and soil bacteria. Phytopathology, 59: 153-163.
- Marx D. H. (1977). Tree host range and world distribution of the ectomycorrhizal fungus *Pisolithus tinctorius*. Canadian Journal Microbiology, 23: 217-223.
- Modess O. (1941). Zur kenntnis der mykorrhizabildner von kiefer und fichte. Symbolae Botanicae Upsalienses, 5: 1-147.
- Nergiz C., Dönmez I. (2004). Chemical composition and nutritive value of *Pinus pinea* L. seeds. Food Chemistry, 86: 365-368.
- Niemi K., Salonen M., Ernstsen A., Heinonen-Tanski H., Häggman H. (2000). Application of ectomycorrhizal fungi in rooting of Scots pine fascicular shoots. Canadian Journal of Forest Research, 30: 1221-1230.
- Niemi K., Scagel C., Häggman H. (2004). Application of ectomycorrhizal fungi in vegetative propagation of conifers. Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture, 78: 83-91.
- Niemi K., Julkunen-Tiitto R., Tegelberg R., Häggman H. (2005). Light sources with different spectra affect root and mycorrhiza formation in Scots pine *in vitro*. Tree Physiology, 25: 123-128.
- Normand L., Bärtschi H., Debaud J. C., Gay G. (1996). Rooting and acclimatization of micropropagated cuttings of *Pinus pinaster* and *Pinus sylvestris* are enhanced by the ectomycorrhizal fungus *Hebeloma cylindrosporum*. Physiologia Plantarum, 98: 759-766.
- Oliveira P., Barriga J., Cavaleiro C., Peixe A., Potes A. Z. (2003). Sustained *in vitro* root development obtained in *Pinus pinea* inoculated with ectomycorrhizal fungi. Forestry, 76: 579-587.
- Oort J. P. (1981). Nutritional requirements of *Lac-tarius* species and cultural characters in relation to taxonomy. North-Holland Publishing Company, Amsterdam, 76: 1-95.
- Ostonen I., Leho T., Triin S., Krista L. (2009). Does a fungal species drive ectomycorrhizal root traits in *Alnus* spp.? Canadian Journal of Forest Research, 39: 1787-1796.
- Pegler D. N., Laessoe, T., Spooner B. M. (1995).

British Puffballs, Earthstars, and Stinkhorns: An account of British Gasteroid Fungi. Royal Botanic Gardens, Kew, 270 pp.

- Peterson R. L., Massicotte H. B. (2004). Exploring structural definitions of mycorrhizas with emphasis on nutrient-exchange interfaces. Canadian Journal of Botany, 82: 1074-1088.
- Ragonezi C., Castro M. R., Klimaszewska K., Lima M., Zavattieri M. A. (2010a). Influence of light quality and intensity on adventitious root formation in microshoots of *Pinus pinea* L. Acta Horticulturae, 865: 287-291.
- Ragonezi C., Klimaszewska K., Rui Castro M., Lima M., Oliveira P., Zavattieri M. A. (2010b). Adventitious rooting of conifers: influence of physical and chemical factors. Trees, 24: 975-992.
- Read D. J. (1991). Mycorrhizas in ecosystems. Experientia, 47: 376-391.
- Read D. J., Perez-Moreno J. (2003). Mycorrhizas and nutrient cycling in ecosystems - a journey towards relevance? New Phytologist, 157: 475-492.
- Reis F. S., Ferreira I. C. F. R., Barros L., Martins A. (2011). A comparative study of tocopherols composition and antioxidant properties of *in vivo* and *in vitro* ectomycorrhizal fungi. LWT - Food Science and Technology, 44: 820-824.
- Reithmeier L. (2011). Facilitation of ectomycorrhizal colonization of *Picea mariana* by alternate host plants above treeline. Ph.D. Thesis, Dalhousie University, Halifax, NS, Canada, 116 pp.
- Rincón A., Alvarez I. F., Pera J. (1999). Ectomycor-

rhizal fungi of *Pinus pinea* L. in northern Spain. Mycorrhiza, 8: 271-276.

- Rincón A. M., Parladé J., Pera J. (2005). Effect of ectomycorrhizal inoculation and the type of substrate on mycorrhization, growth and nutrition of containerized *Pinus pinea* L. seedlings produced in a commercial nursery. Annals of Forest Science, 62: 1-6.
- Rohlf F. J. (1992). BIOM. A package of statistical programs to accompany the text Biometry. New York: Applied Biostatistics, 86 pp.
- Rosling A. (2003). Responses of ectomycorrhizal fungi to mineral substrates. Ph.D. Thesis, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Uppsala, 65 pp.
- Smith S. E., Read D. J. (1997). Mycorrhizal symbiosis. 2nd ed. Academic Press, London, 605 pp.
- Thomson B. D., Grove T. S., Malajczuk N., Hardy G. E. S. (1994). The effectiveness of ectomycorrhizal fungi in increasing the growth of *Eucalyptus* globulus Labill. in relation to root colonization and hyphal development in soil. New Phytologist, 126: 517-524.
- van der Heijden M. G. A., Wiemken A., Sanders I. R. (2003). Different arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi alter coexistence and resource distribution between co-occurring plant. New Phytologist, 157: 569-578.
- Zavattieri A., Lima M., Sobral V., Oliveira P., Costa A. (2009). Effects of carbon source, carbon concentration and culture conditions on *in vitro* rooting of *Pinus pinea* L. microshoots. Acta Horticulturae, 812: 173-180.



Chapter 7

O-coumaric Acid Ester, a Potential Signaling Molecule Detected During Early *in vitro* Co-culture Between *Pinus pinea* L. Plantlets and the Ectomycorrhizal Fungus *Pisolithus arhizus* (Scop.) Rauschert

Manuscript submitted

Ragonezi C, Teixeira D, Caldeira A, Martins MR, Santos-Silva C, Ganhão E, Klimaszewska K, Zavattieri A (2012).

O-coumaric acid ester, a potential signaling molecule detected during early *in vitro* coculture between *Pinus pinea* L. plantlets and the ectomycorrhizal fungus *Pisolithus arhizus* (Scop.) Rauschert

Carla Ragonezi^{1,3}*, Dora Teixeira ^{3,4,7}, Ana Teresa Caldeira^{4,5,7}, Maria do Rosário Martins^{3,4,7}, Celeste Santos-Silva^{2,3}, Elsa Ganhão², Krystyna Klimaszewska⁶, Amely Zavattieri^{2,3}

¹Plant Breeding and Biotechnology Laboratory, University of Évora, Largo dos Colegiais nº 2, 7002-554 Évora, Portugal *Fax: + 351 266760914, *E-mail: cazi04@yahoo.com.br
²Department of Biology, University of Évora, Largo dos Colegiais nº 2, 7002-554 Évora, PT
³ Institute of Mediterranean Agricultural and Environmental Sciences (ICAAM), University of Évora, Largo dos Colegiais nº 2, 7002-554 Évora, PT
⁴ Department of Chemistry, University of Évora, Largo dos Colegiais nº 2, 7002-554, PT
⁵CQE, University of Évora, St. Romão Ramalho nº59, 7000-671 Évora, Portugal
⁶Natural Resources Canada, Canadian Forest Service, Laurentian Forestry Centre, 1055 du P.E.P.S., P. O. Box 10380, Stn. Sainte-Foy, Québec, QC G1V 4C7, Canada
⁷Hercules Laboratory, University of Évora, Palácio do Vimioso, Largo Marquês do Marialva, 8, 7000-809 Évora, Portugal

Abstract

In ectomycorrhizal symbiosis, plant roots and fungi function together as a unit. Previously, we showed improvement in various root parameters during *in vitro* co-culture of *Pinus pinea* and *Pisolithus arhizus* before physical contact occurred, as well as increased survival rate of the inoculated plantlets during acclimatization. To better understand the positive effects on root growth parameters before the establishment of physical contact between these partners, the biochemical compounds released to the liquid phase of the co-culture medium were analysed. It is known that biochemical signals lead to the development of complex structures in both the plant and the fungus that constitute an ectomycorrhiza. The results of HPLC-UV and LC-DAD-MS analysis of the liquid phase medium samples that were collected from 1 to 10 days of *in vitro* co-culture are presented. *O*-coumaric acid ester, a phenolic compound, was identified in root exudates of stone pine from the second day and its presence was detected for up to 10 days of co-culture. This result contributes to the understanding of the role of phenolic compounds in pine/ ectomycorrhiza symbiosis establishment and also explains some of our previous results.

Keywords Adventitious roots, ectomycorrhiza, phenolics, stone pine, symbiosis

Introduction

Ectomycorrhizae (ECM) are symbiotic structures between plant roots and fungi. In the ectomycorrhizal symbiosis, the host (plant roots) and the mycobiont (ectomycorrhizal fungus) function collectively as an entity. The development of ECM in plants frequently allows them to get established in habitats that neither symbiont could occupy independently (Nehls et al. 2000).

ECM development involves a series of complex processes that occur simultaneously in symbionts. Extramatrical hyphae, the mantle and the intraradicular hyphal network are active metabolic bodies that provide essential nutrients (e.g. nitrogen, phosphate) to the host plant and carbohydrates for the fungal partner making this a mutualistic association (Allen 1991; Varma and Hock 1994; Smith and Read 1997; Martin et al. 2001).

Successful colonization of roots by mycorrhizal fungi and further development of the ectomycorrhizal structure, results from a coordinated series of events mediated by biochemical signals (Seddas et al. 2009). During ECM establishment the molecular dialog initiate developments that lead to physical steps in the association once the detection or attraction of the partner occur before physical contact (Harrison 2005). The fungus must face the host defense mechanisms and be able to initiate the mutual nutrient transfer across the root-fungus interface (Reis et al. 2011). This is achieved by an intense cell activity before and after physical contact between partners. In a recent review by Bonfante and Genre (2010) the identification of several novel nutrient transporters has revealed some cellular processes that underlie symbiosis, but the biochemical signals prior to physical contact and their functions still need to be elucidated, especially for ectomycorrhizal fungi.

Martin et al. (2001) suggested that rhizospheric signals including auxins, flavonoids, alkaloids, cytokinins, and other metabolites produced by both partners could act in a synergistic or in antagonistic way. More recently plant phenolic compounds such as *p*-coumaric acid, coumarin, naringenin and other flavonoids were also cited as potential candidates of signals during mycorrhizal formation (Lynn and Chang 1990; Mandal et al. 2010; Amalesh et al. 2011; Plett and Martin 2012; Hassan and Mathesius 2012). Phenolic compounds are ubiquitous in plants and participate in several important functions which enable them to adapt to changing biotic and abiotic environments (Boudet 2007).

Several studies have shown the benefits of using ECM fungi (*Amanita, Hebeloma, Laccaria, Lactarius, Pisolithus, Rhizopogon, Scleroderma,* and *Suillus*) in conifer micropropagation (Grange et al. 1997; Wallander 2000; Rai 2001; Wu et al. 2003; Taylor et al. 2004; Niemi et al. 2004; Adriaensen et al. 2006). Among many advantages the mycorrhized plants (either with arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) or ECM fungi) were more efficient in water and nutrient absorption through an increased area of soil colonization, had increased pathogen resistance and increased transplantation survival compared with non mycorrhized plants. In addition some ECM and ericoid fungi could breakdown phenolic compounds present in the soil that might interfere with nutrient uptake (Allen et al. 1989; Brundrett 1991; Grandmaison et al. 1993; Newsham et al. 1995; Little and Maun 1996; Bending and Read 1997; Cordier et al. 1998; Bratek et al. 2002).

Recently, we demonstrated that *in vitro* co-culture of *Pinus pinea* plantlets with *Pisolithus arhizus* helped to overcome the cessation of adventitious root growth and resulted in a root system that was better adapted to post transplantation stress. None of the inoculated plantlets died in spite of using exclusively sterile vermiculite in the early phase of acclimatization during which a vast mycorrhizal symbiosis was established. Moreover, fewer roots were lost during transplantation which was facilitated by the morphological modifications of the mycorrhized roots such as the presence of the hyphae around the roots and the internal Hartig net, which increased root thickness and contributed to a more robust root system (Ragonezi et al. 2012).

In this study the objective was to characterize the chemical nature of the mediators and the period of *in vitro* co-culture during which the signaling between *P. arhizus* and roots of *P. pinea* occurred. We present biochemical results of high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC-UV) and a liquid chromatography - diode array detector - mass spectrometry (LC-DAD-MS) analysis of the metabolites released into the liquid phase of the double layer medium during the first days of plant/fungus co-culture.

Material and methods

Reagents

Acetic acid (glacial) 100% anhydrous for analysis EMSURE[®] ACS, ISO, Reag. Ph Eur contained the SVHC above 0.1% (VWR[®] Carnaxide, Portugal) was stored at room temperature in the dark. Methanol gradient grade for liquid chromatography LiChrosolv[®] Reag. Ph Eur contained no SVHC above 0.1% was obtained from VWR[®] and stored as

above. All other chemical reagents used for preparation of solutions were reagent grade from Merck[®] (Lisbon, Portugal).

Plant material and micropropagation of P. pinea

Mature seeds of *P. pinea* were obtained in March 2009 from selected 'plus' trees (Alcácer do Sal region, Portugal) and were stored in a cold chamber at 4°C until used. For the description of shoot organogenesis see Oliveira et al. (2003). For rooting, elongated microshoots, ± 2 cm long, were transferred to a rooting medium based on Woody Plant Medium (WPM) (Lloyd and McCown 1981) with half concentration of the macronutrients, 0.65% agar (Difco Bacto-Agar[®]) and different carbon sources (see below), and adjusted to pH 5.8 before autoclaving. For root induction, the medium was supplemented with 10.7µM naphthalene acetic acid (NAA) and 0.12M glucose (WPMRI). The cultures were kept for two weeks in a growth chamber at a constant temperature of 19 °C. The first week the cultures were in darkness and the second week under a 16 h photoperiod. Root expression was obtained after transferring the microshoots to WPM consisting of half concentration of the macronutrients, without plant growth regulators and with 0.058 M glucose (WPMRE) and incubated in a growth chamber provided with 16 h photoperiod by cool-white fluorescent lamps at 80 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹ and 25°/19°C day/night temperatures. Roots appeared after 3–6 weeks.

Fungi purification and identification

Collection of fruiting bodies of *Pisolithus arhizus* (Scop.) Rauschert and molecular identification of pure isolate was described by Ragonezi et al. (2012). *P. arhizus* sequence was deposited in the GenBank (NCBI identification number: HQ896485).

Co-Culture Technique

Preparation of the Double-phase Medium

After the root induction and expression phases the plantlets were transferred to 6.6 x 5.9 cm glass culture vessels (100ml, Sigma-Aldrich[®], Sintra, Portugal) containing Double-phase Medium. All medium components: perlite (Europerl[®]), WPM with 6g/l gellan gum (Phytagel[™], Sigma-Aldrich[®]) (WPMS) and WPM without gelling agent and carbohydrate (WPML) were first sterilized. Subsequently, the Double-phase Medium (approved patent N^o 105239 of the National Institute of Industrial Property, INPI) was prepared in a horizontal laminar flow chamber as follows: 1) 15 ml of molten WPMS was poured into each vessel together with 0.9 g of perlite. After the medium cooled down and solidified the perlite remained at the top and together formed the "solid phase" medium layer which was then flipped over inside the

vessel with a sterile metal spatula, 2) 30 ml of WPML were poured into the culture vessel forcing the "solid phase" medium to float on its surface due to the perlite. In consequence, the upper part of the "solid phase" medium had no physical contact with the liquid medium (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1 - Illustration of double-phase medium preparation and plant culture; a, 1 – cover; 2 – flask; 3 and 4 - WPMS medium with perlite at the top. b and c, 3 and 4 – WPMS medium with perlite facing down, 5 - WPML, 6 - plantlet; 7 – root (Patent approved by INPI N^o 105239).

Co-culture of P. pinea plants with P. arhizus mycelia

First, *P. pinea* plantlets were placed in the double-phase medium (Fig. 2). The roots were introduced into the liquid phase of the double-phase medium by making an opening in the upper semi-solid medium using heat sterilized perforating tool. The surface of the semi-solid medium was then inoculated with fresh mycelia of *P. arhizus* and the co-culture vessels were capped and transferred to the culture chamber with a 16h photoperiod, $24^{\circ}C/19^{\circ}C$ day/night, respectively. The cultures were kept under cool white lamps (Philips Master LD36W/840) with photosynthetic photon flux density of 90 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹. The development of plants and mycelia was monitored daily.



Fig. 2 - Negative controls: pine plantlet without fungus (a) and fungal mycelium without pine plantlet (b). *In vitro* co-culture of *Pinus pinea* and *Pisolithus arhizus* mycelia in double-phase medium (c).

Negative controls

Identical double-phase medium and culture conditions were used for two negative controls; pine cultures without fungal inoculation and mycelium culture without pine plants.

Biochemical analysis

Collection of liquid medium samples

The vessels containing the co-cultures (plantlets and fungus) and those containing only pine plants or *P. arhizus* (negative controls) were transferred to the horizontal laminar flow unit in order to collect samples of the liquid phase medium for the analysis. Using a sterile spatula, the edge of the solid phase was slightly lifted and the vessel was tilted to allow the liquid medium flow into a 50 mL centrifuge tube (FalconTM). The tubes were filled up to half their volume (about 25 mL each). The sampling was done on day 1, 2, 3, 5 and 10 of culture. The tubes with liquid medium samples were immediately stored at -20°C.

Preparation of samples

Target substances - The preparation of standard solutions (SS) of target substances (IAA, Rutin and IBA) for chromatographic analysis was done as follows: 1 mg of the tested substance was dissolved in 10 mL of methanol, corresponding to a final concentration of 100 mg dm⁻³. The solutions were then diluted 1:10 (also in methanol) to provide work solutions (WS) for injections.

Samples - Samples of liquid phase medium collected at different time intervals (1st, 2nd, 3rd, 5th and 10th day) were freeze-dried in a Christ[®] Alpha 1-4 Freeze dryer (Biotech International, Germany) and subsequently lyophilized. Each lyophilized sample was resuspended in 3 mL of miliQ water:methanol (40:60 v/v) solution. The liquid was filtered through a nylon syringe filter (0.45µm, VWR[®]), into HPLC-UV/LC-DAD-MS vial (VWR[®]) and frozen at -20^oC. For injection into HPLC-UV the samples were thawed on ice in the dark.

Doped substances - Sample doping was performed using SS of the target substances. SS was diluted in the liquid phase of the sample: 1 mL of SS and 9 mL of sample. The mixture was filtered through a nylon syringe filter (0.45µm) into HPLC-UV/LC-DAD-MS vial and frozen at -20°C. For injection into HPLC-UV the samples were thawed on ice in the dark.

Analysis of samples by HPLC-UV

All samples were analyzed in an HPLC-UV system ELITE LaChrom VWR HITACHI equipped with a VWR HITACHI L-2100 pump, a Rheodyne injector and a VWR HITACHI L-2400 UV detector. The reversed phase analytical column was a Supersher 100 Merck RP-18 (250 x

4.6 mm, 5µm) with a pre column LiChrospher 100 RP-18. The data acquisition and automatic processing were performed using an EzChom Elite Software.

The separation was achieved in isocratic mode, and the mobile phase was composed of 60% methanol, 1% acetic acid and 39% miliQ water, for 45 minutes, at a flow rate of 0.7 mL min ⁻¹. All analyses were performed at room temperature, the injection volume was 20 μ L and the chromatographic profile was recorded at 210 nm.

Analysis of samples by LC-DAD-MS

LC-DAD-MS (Liquid chromatography - Diode array detector - Mass spectrometry) analyses were carried out in a LCQ Advantage Thermo Finnigan mass spectrometer equipped with an electrospray ionization source and using an ion trap mass analyzer. The conditions of analysis were: capillary temperature 300° C; source voltage 4.5 kV, source current 100μ A, and capillary voltage -45 V in negative ion mode. The mass spectrometer equipment was coupled to an HPLC system with autosampler (Surveyor Thermo Finnigan) and diode array detector (DAD). The analytical column was a reversed phase Zorbax Eclipse XDB (C₁₈, particle size 3.0μ m, 150 mm x 2.1 mm). The chromatographic separation was performed with mobile phase at a flow rate of 0.2 mL min^{-1} , by injecting 20μ L of each sample and the elution program was similar to the one used in the HPLC-UV analysis. The DAD detector was scanned from 200 to 500 nm and the chromatographic profile was recorded at 210 nm.

Results

HPLC-UV analysis

In order to identify potential signalling compounds, samples of the liquid phase medium collected after the 1st, 2nd, 3rd, 5th and 10th day of *P. pinea* and *P. arhizus* co-culture were analysed by HPLC-UV. With the exception of the 1st day sample, in all other samples a clear peak was recognized. For example, the chromatograms of the 2nd day samples showed a peak at retention time (RT) 11.50 min (Fig. 3A), but there was no corresponding peak in the negative control (plant culture without fungus) (Fig. 3B).

To determine the identity of the unknown compound (UC), standard solutions of target substances, which have been previously identified in ectomycorrhizal symbiosis such as IAA, Rutin and IBA were analyzed with the same method and at the same conditions as the samples. When the 2nd day sample was doped with these target compounds the RT of UC did not correspond to any RT of the target substances (Fig. 4 A, B and C).



Fig. 3 - HPLC-UV chromatograms of the medium sample collected from co-culture of *P. pinea* plantlet and *P. arhizus* on the 2^{nd} day (a) and *P. pinea* microshoot without fungal inoculation collected on the 2nd day (b). Peak at RT 11.50 min corresponds to the unknown compound (UC).



Fig. 4 - HPLC-UV chromatograms of samples from the co-culture of *P. pinea* plantlet and *P. arhizus* collected on the 2^{nd} day and doped with IAA (a), Rutin (b) and IBA (c). Peaks at RT 11.84, 11.44 and 11.58 min correspond to the unknown compound (UC).

LC-DAD-MS analysis

Samples of the liquid phase medium collected after the 1st, 2nd, 3rd, 5th and 10th day of coculture were also examined by LC-DAD-MS. The results were consistent with those obtained by HPLC-UV. Only in the 1st day medium sample from plant/fungus co-culture the peak for the UC did not appear. In all other co-culture samples the presence of the metabolite was confirmed. When peak areas were compared among the samples, there was a slight trend toward increased amounts with longer co-culture time.

The chromatograms of all collected samples revealed several peaks which likely corresponded to other compounds present in the culture medium (Fig. 5). The 2nd day sample was used as reference for the identification of the UC by LC-DAD-MS. Fig. 5c shows the DAD total scan and Fig. 5d the total ion current chromatograms with RT of 7.85 and 8.04 min, respectively. The UV spectrum of this compound, obtained on-line by the DAD detector, showed two wavelength maxima at 222 and 276 nm (Fig. 6a). The full MS spectra showed an ion signal at m/z 231 with abundance of 100% corresponding to the molecular [M-H] parent ion, and at m/z 145, the peak corresponding to benzoyl fragment characteristic of benzoic acids due to the loss of OH or OR groups (Fig. 6b).





Fig. 5 - DAD total scan (a, c, e, g, i) and total ion current (b, d, f, h, j) chromatograms of the *P. pinea/P. arhizus* co-culture medium samples collected at different time intervals. Letters a and b correspond to the 1^{st} day, c and d to the 2^{nd} day, e and f to the 3^{rd} day, g and h to the 5^{th} day, and I and j to the 10^{th} day.



Fig. 6 - UV (a) and mass spectra (b) of the unknown compound (UC) in the *P. pinea/P. arhizus* co-culture sample collected on the 2^{nd} day.

The UC was identified as an ester of *o*-coumaric acid (also known as 2-Coumaric acid; trans-2-Hydroxycinnamic acid; (2E)-3-(2-hydroxyphenyl) acrylic acid; O-hydroxycinnamic acid; 2-Propenoic acid, 3-(2-hydroxyphenyl)-(E)-) and *o*-hydroxyphenylacetic acid). The chemical structure of this compound and its identification was based on the fragmentation pattern and UV spectra that were similar to those reported by Atoui et al. (2005) (Fig. 7).



Fig. 7 - Chemical structure of o-coumaric acid.

LC-DAD-MS analysis also confirmed the results obtained by HPLC-UV in negative controls (*P. arhizus* mycelium and *P. pinea* microshoots cultured separately) in which no ester of *o*-coumaric acid was identified (Fig. 8).





Fig. 8 - DAD total scan (a, c) and total ion current (b, d) chromatograms of liquid medium phase samples of the two negative controls. Letters a and b corresponds to the culture of *P. arhizus* mycelia, c and d to the culture of *P. pinea* plantlets.

Discussion

Signalling compounds in the ECM symbiosis are less known than those in the arbuscular associations. In AM symbioses flavonones, flavones and isoflavones are capable of stimulating spore germination, hyphal elongation and hyphal branching (Siqueira et al. 1991b; Graham 1991; Tsai and Phillip 1991; Harrison and Dixon 1993; Scervino et al. 2005a). In the case of legumerhizobia symbiosis other phenolic acids like hydroxybenzoic and hydroxycinnamic acids that are derived from the general phenylpropanoid pathway act as signalling molecules in the initiation of the symbioses, and as agents in the plant defense (Mandal et al. 2010). In ECM associations indole auxins, phenolic compounds and flavonoids were implicated as signaling molecules. It is well known that Pisolithus spp. secret hypahorine, IAA and other growth regulators that trigger morphological changes in the root system of host plants (Niemi et al. 2000; Martin et al. 2001). The involvement of P. arhizus in promoting branching to form second and third-order lateral roots in both conifer and angiosperm hosts were previously reported by Chambers and Carney (1999). In earlier study we demonstrated that the presence of P. arhizus during in vitro co-culture with P. pinea plantlets enhanced the adventitious root growth, before the physical contact occurred, and later after mycorrhization improved the survival rate of plants during acclimatization (Ragonezi et al. 2012).

In the present study, we identified a putative signalling compound that was present in the liquid phase of the double phase medium in the co-cultured *P. pinea* plantlets *with P. arhizus*. LC-DAD-MS analysis identified the substance as an ester of *o*-coumaric acid, which is a phenolic acid produced by plants and other organisms as secondary metabolite and a common chemical constituent in the plant kingdom (Abdul-Raman and Habib 1989; Vega et al. 2008; Ngoc et al. 2009; Sellami et al. 2009; Canuto et al. 2012). Among many effects

phenolic acids exert allelopathy and are implicated in the development of ecological interactions with the adjoining plant and with some rhizospheric organisms (Kefeli et al. 2003). For example, *o*-coumaric acid abundantly produced by *Euapatorium adenophorum* (a notorious weed worldwide) had a selective allelopathic effect that was toxic for *Arabidopsis thaliana* seed germination and plant growth but not for its own seed germination (Zheng et al. 2012). This result suggests that *o*-coumaric acid might render *E. adenophorum* a competitive advantage over neighbouring plants during its invasion and establishment. Whether *P. pinea o*-coumaric acid has an allelopathic effect requires further elucidation.

Our results demonstrated that *o*-coumaric acid ester was produced in the first two days of the co-culture and that its concentration tended to increase during the first 10 days. No *o*-coumaric acid ester was identified in the negative controls suggesting that pine roots might have secreted this compound in response to the presence of fungal mycelium. It is therefore plausible that *o*-coumaric acid ester played a signalling role in establishing the relationship with ECM associations before the physical contact.

Metabolites such as butanoic acid, cinnamic acid, *o*- and *p*-coumaric acid, vanillic acid or phydroxybenzamide occurred in the rhizosphere of *Arabidopsis* when challenged with the Gram-negative bacterial pathogen *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. tomato (Bais et al. 2005). The authors reported that bacteria could effectively modify the antimicrobial plant response, because the strains which were partly resistant to these compounds were able to block the exudation of antimicrobials using a mechanism based on the type III secretory system (Bais et al. 2005).

In this study *P. arhizus* mycelium grew continuously in co-cultures and this could be attributed to a similar ability possessed by *Pseudomonas* strains to modify and/or use *o*-coumaric acid for its benefit. Similar results were obtained by Zeng and Mallik, (2006) who studied the detoxifying effect of ECM fungi (*Laccaria laccata, L. bicolour* and *Paxilus involutus*) of black spruce (*Picea mariana*) phenolic compounds produced by the understory plant *Kalmia angustifolia*. Ferulic acid and *o*-coumaric acid were degraded within 10 days and the degraded amount depended on the fungus species. The authors concluded that certain ECM fungi not only offered protection to the host plants against phenolic allelochemicals released from neighbouring plants, but could also use them as carbon source. This is one of the mechanisms that ECM fungi use to control species interactions in higher plants by changing the rhizosphere chemistry. In our study on day 10 of co-culture the compound was either not degraded yet or the degradation by the fungus (or utilization for growth) was substituted by the plant secreting new *o*-coumaric acid ester. In another study

by Münzenberger et al. (2003) detoxification of ferulic acid by ECM fungi *Laccaria amethystina* and *Lactarius deterrimus* grown in liquid culture showed different detoxification pattern. Both studies confirmed the ability of the symbiont to degrade and detoxify phenolic compounds and that this ability was not only species-specific, but also specific to different strains of the same fungus species.

To our knowledge, this is the first time that an *o*-coumaric acid derivative was identified in the mutualistic interaction between pine species and *P. arhizus* and that this compound possibly participated in the initial cross-talk between the partners and also that *P. arhizus* could live and grow in the presence of *o*-coumaric acid ester.

Acknowledgments

This research was supported by the Portuguese Foundation for Science and Technology (FCT) through the project PTDC/AGR-CFL/71437/2006).

References

- Abdul-Raman AA, Habib SA (1989) Allelopathic effects of alfalfa (*Medicago sativa*) on bladygrass (*Imperata cylindrica*). J. Chem. Ecol. 15:2289–2300. Doi: 10.1007/BF01012082
- Adriaensen K, Vangronsveld J, Colpaert JV (2006) Zinc-tolerant *Suillus bovinus* improves growth of Zn-exposed Pinus sylvestris seedlings. Mycorrhiza 16:553–558
- Allen MF, Allen BE, Friese CF (1989) Responses of the non-mycotropic plant Salsola kali to invasion by vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. Nem Phyto. 111:45-49
- Allen MF (1991) The Ecology of Mycorrhizae. Cambridge University Press, New York, USA
- Amalesh S, Gouranga D, Sanjoy KD (2011) Roles of flavonoids in plants. Int. J. Pharm. Sci. Tech. 6 (1): 12-35
- Atoui A K, Mansouri A, Boskou G, Kefalas P (2005) Tea and herbal infusions: Their antioxidant activity and phenolic profile. Food Chem. 89, 27–36.
- Bais HP, Prithiviraj B, Jha AK, Ausubel FM, Vivanco JM (2005) Mediation of pathogen resistance by exudation of antimicrobials from roots. Nat. 434:217-21
- Bending GD, Read DJ (1997) Lignin and soluble phenolic degradation by ectomycorrhizal and ericoid mycorrhizal fungi. Mycol. Res. 101: 1348-1354.
- Bonfante P, Genre A (2010) Nature Communications. 1, 1doi: 10.1038/ncomms1046.
- Bratek Z, Vörös I, Takács T, Parádi I, Rudnóy S, Halász K (2002) Advantages of application of mycorrhizated plants in environment-friendly agriculture and forestations. Acta Biologica Szegediensis Vol. 46(3-4)187-188.

- Brundett MC (1991) Mycorrhizas in natural ecosystems. In: Macfayden A, Begon M, Fitter AH (eds) Advances in Ecological Research, Vol. 21 Academic Press, London, pp. 171-313
- Boudet AM (2007) Evolution and current status of research in phenolic compounds. Phytochem. 68(22-24): 2722-35
- Canuto KM, Lima MA, Silveira ER (2010) Amburosides C-H and 6-o-protocatechuoyl coumarin from *Amburana cearensis*. J. Braz. Chem. Soc. 21:1746–1753.
- Chambers SM, Cairney JWG (1999) *Pisolithus*. In: Cairney JWG, Chambers SM, eds. Ectomycorrhizal fungi. Key genera in profile. Springer, Berlin, pp 1–31.
- Cordier C, Pozo MJ, Barea JM, Gianinazzi-Pearson V (1998) Cell defence responses associated with localized and systematic resistance to *Phytophthora parasitica* induced by an arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus. Mol Plant-Microbe Interact 11: 1017-1028.
- Grange O, Bärtschi H, Gay G (1997) Effect of the ectomycorrhizal fungi *Hebeloma cylindrosporum* on *in vitro* rooting of micropropagated cuttings of arbuscular mycorrhiza-forming *Prunus avium* and *Prunus cerasus*. Trees Struct Funct 12(1): 49-56 Springer Berlin/Heidelberg.
- Graham TL (1991) A rapid, high resolution high performance liquid chromatography profiling procedure for plant and microbial aromatic secondary metabolites. Plant Physiol 95:584-593.
- Grandmaison J, Olah GM, van Calsteren MR, Furlan V (1993) Characterisation and localization of plant phenolics likely involved in the pathogen resistance expressed by endomycorrhizal root. Mycorrhiza 3: 155-164
- Harrison MJ (2005) Signaling in the arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis. Annu Rev Microbiol 59:19–42
- Harrison MJ, Dixon RA (1993) Isoflavonoid accumulation and expression of defense gene transcripts during the establishment of vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal associations in roots of *Medicago truncatula*. Mol Plant-Microbe Interact 6:643–54
- Hassan S, Mathesius U (2012) The role of flavonoids in root-rhizosphere signalling opportunities and challenges for improving plant–microbe interactions. J. Exp. Bot 1-16 doi:10.1093/jxb/err430.
- Kefeli VI, Kalevitch MV, Borsari B (2003) Phenolic cycle in plants and environment. J Cell Mol Biol 2: 13-18.
- Lloyd G, McCown, B (1981) Commercially feasible micropropagation of mountain laurel, Kalmia latifolia, by the use of shoot tip culture. Proc Plant Prop Soc 30:421-427.
- Little LR, Maun MA (1996) The 'Ammophila problem' revisited: a role for mycorrhizal fungi. J of Ecol 84: 1-7.

- Lynn DG, Chang M (1990) Phenolic signals in combination: implications for plant development. Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology. 41:497-526.
- Mandal SM, Chakraborty D, Dey S (2010) Phenolic acids act as signaling molecules in plant–microbe symbioses. Plant Signal Behav 5: 359-368.
- Martin F, Duplessis S, Ditengou F, Lagrange H, Voiblet C, Lapeyrie F (2001) Developmental cross talking in the ectomycorrhizal symbiosis: signals and communication genes. New Phytol 151:145–154,
- Muzenberger B, Hammer E, Wray V, Schauer F, Schmidt J, Strack D (2003) Detoxification of ferulic acid by ectomycorrhizal fungi. Mycorrhiza, v. 13, n. 2, p.117-121.
- Nehls U, Wiese J, Hampp R (2000) External super concentration as a signal controlling gene expression, pp. 19–26, in G. K. Podila and D. D. Douds Jr. (eds.). Current Advances in Mycorrhizae Research. American Phytopathological Society, St. Paul, MN.
- Newsham KK, Fitter AH, Watkinson AR (1995) Arbuscular mycorrhiza protect an annual grass from root pathogenic fungi in the field. J of Ecol 83 991-1000.
- Niemi K, Salonen M, Ernstsen A, Heinonen-Tanski H, Häggman H (2000) Application of ectomycorrhizal fungi in rooting of Scots pine fascicular shoots. Can J For Res 30:1221-1230
- Niemi K, Scagel C, Häggman H (2004) Application of ectomycorrhizal fungi in vegetative propagation of conifers. Plant Cell Tiss Org Cult 78:83–91.
- Ngoc TM, Lee I, Ha DT, Kim HJ, Min BS, Bae K (2009) Tyrosinaseinhibitory constituents from the twigs of Cinnamomum cassia. J Nat Prod 72:1205–1208
- Oliveira P, Barriga J, Cavaleiro C, Peixe A, Potes AZ (2003) Sustained *in vitro* root development obtained in *Pinus pinea* inoculated with ectomycorrhizal fungi. For. 76:579-587.
- Patent Method for extraction of metabolic root exudates from *in vitro* plant cultures of *Pinus pinea* L nº 105239. Submitted at the National Institute of Industrial Property Portugal (INPI).
- Plett JM, Martin F (2012) Poplar Root Exudates Contain Compounds that Induce the Expression of MiSSP7 in Laccaria bicolor. Plant Signal Behav. 1;7(1):12-5.
- Rai MK, Shekhawat NS, Harish, Gupta AK, Phulwaria M, Ram K, Jaiswal U (2011) The role of abscisic acid in plant tissue: a review of recent progress. Plant Cell Tiss Organ Cult 106:179–190.
- Ragonezi C, Caldeira AT, Martins MR, Dias LS, Santos-silva C, Ganhão E, Miralto O, Pereira I, Louro R, Klimaszewska K, Zavattieri MA (2012) *Pisolithus arhizus* (Scop.)

Rauschert improves growth of adventitious roots and acclimatization on *in vitro* regenerated plantlets of *Pinus pinea*. Propag. Ornam. Plants 12:139-147.

- Reis FS, Ferreira ICFR, Barros L, Martins A (2011) A comparative study of tocopherols composition and antioxidant properties of in vivo and *in vitro* ectomycorrhizal fungi, LWT - Food Science and Technology, Volume 44, Issue 4, Pages 820-824.
- Scervino J, Ponce M, Erra-Balsells R, Vierheilig H, Ocampo JA, Godeas A (2005a) Flavonoids exhibit fungal species and genus specific effects on the presymbiotic growth of *Gigaspora* and *Glomus*. Mycol Res 109: 789–794.
- Seddas P, Gianinazzi-Pearson V, Schoefs B, Küster H, Wipf, D, Balu F (2009) Communication and Signaling in the Plant–FungiSymbiosis: The Mycorrhiza. in Plant-Environment Interactions. Signaling and Communication in Plants. Springer Berlin Heidelberg. pp 45-71
- Sellami IH, Maamouri E, Chahed T, Wannes WA, Kchouk ME, Marzouk B (2009) Effect of growth stage on the content and composition of the essential oil and phenolic fraction of sweet marjoram (*Origanum majorana* L.). Ind Crop Prod. 30:395.
- Siqueira JO, Safir GR, Nair MG (1991b) Stimulation of vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizae formation by flavonoid compounds. New Phytol. 118:87-93.
- Smith SE, Read DJ (1997) Mycorrhizal symbiosis. 2nd ed. London: Academic Press.
- Taylor AFS, Gebauer G, Read DJ (2004) Uptake of nitrogen and carbon from doubleabelled (15 N and 13 C) glycine by mycorrhizal pine seedlings. New Phytol. 164: 383– 388
- Tsai SM, Phillips DA (1991) Flavonoids releasaed naturally from alfalfa promote development of symbiotic *Glomus* spores *in vitro*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 57, 1485–1488.
- Varma A, Hock B (1998) Mycorrhiza: structure, function, molecular biology and biotechnology. (eds) Springer, Berlin Heidelberg New York
- Vega M, De Carvalho M, Vieira I, Braz-filho R (2008) Chemical constituents from the Paraguayan medicinal plant, *Eupatorium macrocephalum* Less. J Nat Med. 62:122–123.
- Wallander H (2000) Uptake of P from apatite by *Pinus sylvestris* seedlings colonised by different ectomycorrhizal fungi. Plant Soil 218: 249–256.
- Wu T, Sharda JN, Koide RT (2003) Exploring interactions between saprotrophic microbes and ectomycorrhizal fungi using a protein–tannin complex as an N source by red pine (*Pinus resinosa*). New Phytol. 159: 131–139.
- Zeng R, Mallik A (2006) Selected ectomycorrhizal fungi of black spruce (Picea mariana) can detoxify phenolic 484 compounds of Kalmia angustifolia. J Chem Ecol 32:1473-1489.

Zheng G, Jia Y, Zhao X, Zhang F, Luo S, Li S, Li W (2012) *o*-Coumaric acid from invasive *Eupatorium adenophorum* is a potent phytotoxin. Chemoecology 22:131-138.
Chapter 8

Patent - System and Method for *in vitro* Culture of Plants for Analysis of Metabolites Released by the Root System N^o 105239

Patent approved by the National Institute of Industrial Property Portugal (INPI) Castro MR, Ragonezi C, Oliveira P, Zavattieri, A. Patent INPI Nº 105239

Patent - System and method for *in vitro* culture of plants for analysis of metabolites released by the root system N⁰ 105239

Abstract

This invention is about the system development and *in vitro* culture method made up by two phases, solid and a liquid, the first to the plant support and the second to allow the analysis of the surrounding medium of the roots. This system is designed to allow an easy extraction of the metabolic compounds released/disseminated in the liquid phase during the root growth, in order to facilitate further processing and biochemical characterization. Considering that a proper root growth is a key factor for further strengthening and establishment of the plants in the field, the determination of the biochemical substances responsible for a better plant performance may lead to his artificial synthesis and implementation as an additive for organic fertilizers. Since is a closed system with known variables, this method could be applied in tests with pesticides, herbicides and other similar products.



Fig. 1 - A - Illustrative scheme of the final appearance of the solid phase system preparation in a culture flask of *in vitro* plants. B: Schematic illustration of the final aspect of the method with inclusion of rooted plants. Figures numbers legend: 1 - cover; 2 - flask; 3 - solid phase; 4 - floating substrate; 5 - gelled culture medium; 6 - liquid phase; 7 - shoot; 8 - stem; 9 – roots

Claims (based on Figure 1)

1. Culture system for *in vitro* plants analysis of metabolites released by the root system characterized to contain a nutritive liquid medium (6) which supports a floating inert substrate (4) and a solid nutrient medium (5).

2. System according to claim 1 characterized by containing partners of biotization on the gelified surface (5).

3. Method of preparing the *in vitro* culture system described in claims n^os 1 and 2, characterized by the following sequence of steps:

a. Preparation of nutrient media use in the solid phase (3) and in the liquid (6);

b. Addition of the gelling agent to the nutrient medium from the solid phase, dissolving by heat, and distribution for the *in vitro* plant culture flasks already containing the floating substrate, before they reach the gelification temperature;

c. Solid phase inversion to guide the floating layer (4) under the gelling medium (5);

d. Pour the nutritive liquid phase in the already prepared flasks with the solid phase with the floating layer facing downward, resulting in the liquid phase (6);

e. Perforation of the solid phase (3) for insertion of the root system (9) and the stem (8) of the plant;

f. Plant culture, optionally incorporating other organisms on the gelling medium of the solid phase;

g. Extraction of the liquid phase (6) for further analysis.

4. Method according to claim 3, characterized by recycling of the solid phase (3) of the same plant (7, 8 and 9) by introducing a new liquid phase (6) for studies and analyzes with temporal component.

5. Method according to claim 3, characterized by recycling of the solid phase (3), by introducing a new liquid phase (6) and a new plant (7, 8 and 9).

Chapter 9 Final considerations and Future perspectives

Since each of the research issues addressed by this thesis and the respective outcomes have already been extensively reported in the different publications, only a summary of the main findings and a brief critical review are provided here. For more detailed information, the reader is referred to specific chapters.

The vegetative propagation of most conifer species through the rooting of cuttings is often limited by poor rooting ability. Micropropagation is also plagued by difficulties during the rooting phases of microshoots. An exhaustive review of conifer rooting was carried out and the findings published (Adventitious rooting of conifers: influence of physical and chemical factors, Chapter 2) to amass the available information on this specific topic. Based on the information compiled, various physical and chemical factors were adjusted in order to improve the rate and quality of *in vitro* rooting of up to 70% in most clones was achieved; these results far surpassed the rooting success obtained by other researchers. A protocol was finally defined for a combination of suitable auxin and carbon source concentration in half strength WPM macronutrients; light source and light intensity were also adjusted during root induction and expression phases. These results were presented at an international meeting (see Annexes) and published (Influence of light quality and intensity on adventitious root formation in microshoots of *Pinus pinea* L., Chapter 3).

Although great advances have been made in rooting percentages, the roots obtained stopped growing which prevented the acclimatization of the pine plants in substrate. A new strategy was developed based on the co-culture of *P. pinea* and different ectomycorrhizal fungi. The reasons for this new approach were based on previous findings showing positive results in root system growth in the presence of various fungi tested during the expression phase of stone pine rooted microshoots (see Oliveira et al. 2003). This association produced positive results, since it effectively helped to overcome one of the most common problems associated with *in vitro* rooting: the cessation of adventitious root growth under the culture conditions, as well as the improvement of various rooting parameters. Additionally, it helped to mitigate the stressful transition from the *in vitro* to *ex vitro* phase since the association was extremely beneficial for the acclimatization of stone pine plantlets (*Pisolithus arhizus* (Scop.) Rauschert improves growth of adventitious roots and acclimatization on *in vitro* regenerated plantlets of *Pinus pinea* L., Chapter 6).

As explored above as part of this thesis, in mycorrhizae symbiosis, plant roots and fungi function together as a unit. In some cases, adventitious roots regenerated by microshoots can develop mycorrhizal-like structures (dichotomous) without fungal presence which closely resembles inoculated roots. The results, presented in Mycorrhiza-like structures in rooted microshoots of *Pinus pinea* L (Chapter 4) demonstrated the appearance of mycorrhiza-like structures in both rooted microshoots

and axenic embryo root cultures of *P. pinea*. Many environmental or cultural conditions influenced the capacity of this species to produce mycorrhizal-like structures; also the use of PGRs can induce similar root morphologies in the absence of fungi. In this regard, it is also important to emphasize that the use of histological and anatomical techniques was essential for differentiating mycorrhized from non-mycorrhized roots.

The identification of ectomycorrhizal collecting fungi species in pine stands was carried out in the field by means of morphological characterization and then the isolates confirmed by means of molecular techniques. Using a suitable molecular method, in this case the M13-PCR technique, it was possible to separate the different groups that can be found in pine stands. In addition, sequence analysis of ITS regions was employed to identify and confirm the identity of fungi during mycorrhization stages (if the species used at the beginning of trials is the same in the final stage). These results are presented in the article entitled Molecular approach to characterize ectomycorrhizae fungi from Mediterranean pine stands in Portugal (Chapter 5).

The nature of the signals released by the ECM symbionts, and how these signals behave within the partners, and whether these molecules may in the future be used in axenic cultures to mimic fungi in order to improve the rooting system and acclimatization, provide a stimulus for the chemical analysis of the signalling compounds present in ECM/pine plant co-cultures. In the analysis of the co-culture medium, the identified signaling compound o-coumaric acid ester appeared in the first hours of indirect contact between *P. pinea* and *P. arhizus* mycelium. The biochemical signalling compound found in this study also contributes towards an understanding of the role of phenolic compounds for pine/ECM symbiosis establishment and could also explain our previous results which showed an increase in various root parameters during co-culture before physical contact (*O*-coumaric acid ester, a potential signaling molecule detected during early *in vitro* co-culture between *Pinus pinea* L. plantlets and the ectomycorrhizal fungus *Pisolithus arhizus* (Scop.) Rauschert, Chapter 7).

The co-culture between pine plants and *P. arhizus* mycelium was developed in a culture medium that had two layers of semi-solid medium. During the first attempts to identify the signalling compounds it became evident that the use of gelling agents such as gellan gum (Phytagel) or agar (Agar-Agar) posed an obstacle to the extraction of the target compounds from the media, especially at low concentrations. For this reason, a novel system composed of semi-solid-liquid culture media was developed that allowed the analysis of the metabolites released by the roots (approved Portuguese Patent - System and method for *in vitro* culture of plants for analysis of metabolites released by

the root system, Chapter 8). In order to determine the chemical composition of the medium surrounding the roots, several studies were required to ascertain whether a compound could be detected in a minute concentration. The exclusive use of liquid culture medium without support for the plant was a non-viable solution because the plant tended to sink. Using a filter paper platform to support the plant seemed to provide the best way of dealing with this issue in the short term; however, after full imbibition the plantlets showed hydric stress and produced morphological abnormalities due to hyperhydricity. In our trials, we replaced the filter paper with a different support platform which maintained the plantlet above surface of the liquid medium, the roots in the medium and simultaneously eased the root metabolic exudates extraction. In this way, such difficulties were overcome.

As a final point, it should be emphasized that during this thesis a large number of different techniques had to be learned and subsequently applied for the successful accomplishment of tasks. Complexities presented in the thesis range from micropropagation protocols to histological, molecular and analytical techniques, and the process of mycorrhization *in vitro*. The living organisms presented here belong to different kingdoms with completely different characteristics and were able to interact in a positive way when conditions were ideal. A large number of papers have explored mycorrhization *ex vitro* or *in vitro* mycorrhization in petri dishes using pine seeds. For this paper, we had to acquire a great deal of knowledge in the field and experiment with innovatory techniques. Lastly, we are pleased to report that all the thesis aims were achieved on time.

Future perspectives

Further studies should focus on increasing our knowledge of the symbiotic association between plant species and microbial inoculants in biotization procedures. In the field of signalling, additional work is required to elucidate how the interaction starts because the beginning of the association is crucial and it determines the success of the relationship. It is also important to experiment with different types of ECM fungi in associations with the purpose of determining the most efficient ones for the restoration of root growth, acclimatization and transfer to soil.

The findings of this thesis should be interpreted in accordance with the explicit characteristics of each species and the specificity of both partners is a crucial feature for the establishment of association.

This thesis has provided new and relevant information about the symbiotic association between *Pinus pinea* and *Pisolithus arhizus*, which may also be applied to different types of conifer/ECM associations or any other plant species or microbial inoculants, as long as the association promotes positive effects.

Finally, it should be stressed that this thesis opens the way for new avenues of research to be explored. For instance, ectomycorrhiza-like structures need further investigation as regards the genes involved and the stressful situations that activate them. In the case of signalling mediators, each phase of the effective establishment of symbiosis between *P. arhizus*, as well as other ECM fungi associated with stone pine could be chemically analyzed. In addition, it would be interesting to carry out metabolic tests by adding the *o*-coumaric acid in to the plants growth medium. Furthermore, complementary research should be carried out on the survival of *in vitro* inoculated fungi in the nursery and under field conditions after outplanting. This could be done by using different techniques to study the competence of the ECM fungi introduced artificially versus the naturally-occurring fungi.

Other publications (poster/oral presentations and published sequences)

Other vegetative propagation techniques including rooted cuttings, micropropagation by organogenesis, etc.

S2-6

Micropropagation of recalcitrant pine (*Pinus pinea* L.) – An overview of the effects of ectomycorrhizal inoculation

C. RAGONEZI^{1,4}, A. T. CALDEIRA^{2,3}, M. DO ROSÁRIO MARTINS^{2,4}, D. TEIXEIRA^{2,4}, L. S. DIAS⁵, O. MIRALTO^{4, 5}, E. GANHÃO⁵, K. KLIMASZEWSKA⁶ & A. ZAVATTIERI^{4, 5}

¹Plant Breeding and Biotechnology Laboratory, University of Évora, Ap. 94, 7002-554 Évora, Portugal, ²Department of Chemistry, University of Évora, Portugal, ²CQE, University of Évora, Portugal, ⁴ICAAM, University of Évora, Portugal, ⁵Department of Biology, University of Évora, Portugal, ⁶Natural Resources, Canadian Forest Service, Canada *cazi04@yahoo.com.br*

S TONE PINE (*Pinus pinea* L.) is an economically important forest species in some regions of Iberian Peninsula. Portugal and Spain have nearly 500,000 ha of stone pine stands, representing 85% of worldwide distribution. The main use of this species is for the production of seeds (pinion) for food industry. In addition to its enormous profitability as a producer of seeds, it has beneficial impact on soil protection, dunes fixation and is a pioneer species particularly for cork and holm oaks degraded ecosystems. Stone pine plantations are today a major source of income for forestry holdings. Investments have targeted breeding, reforestation, forest management and harvesting. The maternal inheritance of desirable characteristics such as cone weight, number of seeds per cone and seed length is considerably high in this species thus encouraging the selection of seeds from "plus" trees. The selected trees have been propagated by grafting and micropropagation. However, grafting generates high variability due to scion-rootstock interaction that varies production levels. The production of clonal plants from selected seeds by micropropagation techniques has advanced very slowly due to the recalcitrance of this species in tissue culture and particularly to adventitious rooting of microshoots. Due to the tremendous importance of developing a reproducible tissue culture method for clonal propagation, a study has been carried out for over a decade to enhance rooting and acclimation. During this period of time, continuous increments in the multiplication rate and rooting frequency were achieved by introducing variations in culture media composition and conditions. Auxins, carbohydrates, light quality and duration, temperature at different concentrations and levels as well as compounds such as coumarin; salicylic acid, polyamines, etc. were tested for induction and expression phases of adventitious rooting. Despite these efforts, microshoots regenerated through organogenesis from mature embryo cotyledons failed to root or to have sustained root growth. At this point, an in vitro co-culture technique of stone pine microshoots with ectomycorrhizal-fungi was introduced to overcome the adventitious root growth cessation in vitro and improve root development during acclimation phase. An overview of the results showing the positive effect of fungal inoculation in promoting root growth in vitro and on plantlet survival during acclimation will be presented. Preliminary results of biochemical signals between Pinus pinea/Pisolithus arhizus during early steps of in vitro culture detected by liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry that might be responsible for the positive effect on root growth will be also presented.

Keywords: acclimation, co-culture, ectomycorrhiza, in vitro adventitious rooting, micropropagation, stone pine.

2rd International Conference of the IUFRO WORKING PARTY 2.09.02

June 25–28, 2012 · Brno, Czech Republic





Pg. S46 doi:10.1016/j.copbio.2011.05.118

OP47

Biotization of the mediterranean stone pine (*Pinus pinea* L.)

Carla Ragonezi¹, Ana Teresa Caldeira³, Rosário Martíns³, Krystyna Klimaszewska², Celeste Santos Silva⁴, Augusto Peixe¹, Luís Dias⁴, Elsa Ganhão⁴, Otília Miralto⁴, Rogério Louro⁴, Amely Zavattieri¹

¹ Laboratory of Breeding and Plant Biotechnology, ICAAM, University of Évora, Évora, Portugal

² Natural Resources Canada, Canadian Forest Service, Laurentian Forestry Centre, Québec, Canada

³ Department of Chemistry, University of Évora, Évora, Portugal
⁴ Department of Biology, University of Évora, Évora, Portugal

E-mail address: cazi04@yahoo.com.br (C. Ragonezi)

In vitro mycorrhization of micropropagated plants can be used to resume the growth of the root system and to improve the acclimation phase by enhancing root functionality and improving the mineral and water status of the plants. To obtain these benefits an extensive characterization and identification of field ectomycorrhizas (ECM) that are associated with the target plant species is crucial. Not all fungi can promote in vitro rooting or other beneficial effects, hence it is necessary to test in co-culture each fungus-host plant-clone combination. To select effective clone-fungus interaction, the signals released by mycorrhizal symbionts, and how they influence the behavior of the partners have to be studied. In this context, we present the results of our four year-work on in vitro mycorrhization of Pinus pinea L. The effectiveness of inoculation of rooted plantlets, their survival rate as well as morpho-histological and physiological characterization are described in comparison with non inoculated plants during acclimation phase. doi:10.1016/j.copbio.2011.05.118



MYCORRHIZA-LIKE STRUCTURES DURING *IN VITRO* CULTURE OF STONE PINE (*PINUS PINEA* L.). A MATTER OF STRESS?

A. Zavattieri, M.O. Miralto, C. Ragonezi, K. Klimaszewska, L.S. Dias, I. Pereira

Laboratory of Plant Breeding and Biotechnology, ICAAM Institute, University of Évora, Ap. 94; 7002-554 Évora, Portugal E-mail: mosi@uevora.pt

Keywords: fungus-plant interactions, mycorrhizal systems, genotype, micropropagation, *Pinus pinea*, osmotic potential

Pinus pinea is one of the most important species grown in the Iberian Peninsula and it is Portugal's largest edible seeds producer. The induction and improvement of in vitro rhizogenesis of microshoots of Pinus pinea L. was developed in our laboratory using in vitro co-culture system of pine micro-shoots with ECM fungi. Unexpectedly, extensive dichotomous and coralloid branching of lateral roots occurred during in vitro rooting at the expression phase in our control plants. On the other hand, non inoculated plants that remained in the culture medium for longer than a month, in increasingly dry medium, developed more numerous mycorrhizal-like structures. This would suggest a correlation between osmotic and/or nutritional stress and the abundance of these mimicing structures. Results of changes in the osmotic potential of the culture medium (water content) and their influence on the number of dichotomous branching as well as the genotype dependence on the production of such structures will be presented. Analysis of dichotomous and coralloid roots (derived from in vitro cocultures) with and without fungus inoculation, were analyzed during the acclimation phase through histological observation. The cryostat sections revealed anatomical differences, both internal and external. The dichotomous branching of short lateral roots and the formation of coralloid organs are diagnostic of ectomycorrhizas in many pine species, but the micorrhyzae-like structures found in the control plants show a striking similarity to those of ectomycorrhizas. This phenomenon has been observed previously in other pine species and might be indicative of the long coevolution of these two kingdoms for millions of years. Therefore, it is possible that in the past mycorrhiza-like structures might have been erroneously assumed as plant-fungi associations.



THE USE OF ECTOMYCORRHIZAL FUNGI TO RESTORE ROOT GROWTH DURING *IN VITRO* ROOTING AND MINIMIZE LOSSES DURING THE ACCLIMATION OF STONE PINE (*PINUS PINEA* L.)

C. Ragonezi, K. Klimaszewska, L.S. Dias, A.T. Caldeira, M.R. Martíns, C. Santos-Silva, R. Louro, M.O. Miralto, E. Ganhão A. Zavattieri

Laboratory of Plant Breeding and Biotechnology ICAAM Institute, University of Évora, Ap. 94; 7002-554 Évora, Portugal E-mail: zavattieri@uevora.pt

Keywords: fungus-plant interactions, *in vitro* mycorrhization, *Pisolithus arhizus,* rooting, acclimation

The ICAAM Institute aims to study Mediterranean forest ecosystems in all aspects. Our Plant Breeding and Biotechnology Laboratory of ICAAM has always been involved in biotechnology of Mediterranean woody species, and has developed various in vitro techniques for vegetative propagation of Quercus and Pinus (Ragonezi et al. 2010, Zavattieri et al. 2009). The power of clonal propagation for the improvement of these woody species is indisputable. However, despite the fact that a lot of improvement in micropropagation has been made, we have always faced problems in the rooting phase (lack or reduced root growth), acclimation (water stress, loss of plants) and transfer to the field (low adaptability, low plant establishment). In this context, a few years ago we found an adequate "natural solution" for the in vitro mycorrhization. Different ECM fungi from pure and mixed stands of Pinus pinea were tested for their ability to enhance root formation and root sustainability, acclimation performance and survival of plants. Results of growth and physiological parameters during the in vitro and ex vitro acclimation phases of microplants inoculated with Pisolithus arhizus growing in different substrates and different conditions during ex vitro development and colonization will be presented.

Literature

Ragonezi, C., Castro, M.R., Klimaszewska, K., Lima, M., Zavattieri, M.A. 2010: Influence of light quality and intensity on adventitious root formation in microshoots of *Pinus pinea* L. *Acta Hort.*, (ISHS) 865:287-291.

Zavattieri, A., Lima, M., Sobral, V., Oliveira, P., Costa, A. 2009: Effects of carbon source carbon concentration and culture conditions on *in vitro* rooting of *Pinus pinea* L. microshoots. *Acta Hort.*, (ISHS) 812:173-180.



6" INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE ON MYCORRHIZA "BEYOND THE ROOTS" 9 to 14 August 2009

Belo Horizonte Brazil

P8.2 – Misleading Mycorrhiza?
Author: Carla Ragonezi
Co-authors: Castro, M.R.; Santos-Silva,C.; Lima, M.; Klimaszewska, K; Vaz, M;
Zavattieri, M^a.A.
Pg. 82

Pinus pinea L. is an important Mediterranean forest species, mostly due to its edible seeds. Those seeds constitute a relevant resource for the Portuguese economy. To enhance in vitro rhizogenesis of P. pinea microshoots a co-culture system with ectomycorrhiza-derived fungi was developed. Plant and fungi were grown in doublelayer WPM medium (with 1/2 the macronutrients and 0.2% of sucrose). Acclimation was made in pots containing mixed substrates, or in peat rhizotrons. Furthermore, axenic root cultures were prepared with roots excised from microshoots previously induced with auxin treatment. Observations were made monthly and root samples were taken from co-culture system and axenic cultures for further histological analysis. Structures similar to pine ectomycorrhiza (fine dichotomous and coralloid branching) occurred not only in co-cultures but in uninoculated controls, continuing to develop in the acclimation phase even in the absence of any symbiosis, and also in the axenic root cultures. The latter observation shows that axenic cultures may mimic the signaling from ectomycorrhizal fungi that is believed to induce the characteristic branching. This can be exploited in order to understand how plants perceive their mutualistic partners. Other anatomical and histological differences were found between mycorrhiza-like and fungal-induced structures.

2009 IUFRO Tree Biotechnology Conference Whistler, BC, Canada June 28 – July 2, 2009 Pg. 58



P-114

Analysis and mastering of root growth signalling by ectomycorrhizal fungi in *Pinus pinea* L. microshoot cultures

Zavattieri, M. A.², Lima, M.², Castro, M. R.², Ragonezi, C.², de Oliveira, P.³, Klimaszewska, K.¹

¹ Natural Resources Canada, Canadian Forest Service, Laurentian Forestry Centre, Québec, Canada.

²Laboratory of Breeding and Plant Biotechnology, ICAAM, University of Évora, PT ³Laboratory of Microbiology, ICAAM, University of Évora, PT

Stone pine (Pinus pinea L.) is one of the most characteristic conifers in the Mediterranean basin. This species is of great economic importance because of its edible seeds (pine nuts). In order to ensure that Portugal remains one of the main world producers of pine nuts it is necessary to propagate superior individuals characterized by high seed yield and quality. Attempts have been made to develop a tissue culture method for clonal propagation using cotyledon explants (Oliveira et al., 2003) but poor rooting of microshoots and genotype dependence limited the use of this technique. Subsequently, our research effort was focused on rooting improvement by changing the medium carbon source and physical conditions (light and temperature) during rooting induction. In parallel experiments we also demonstrated that microshoot coculture with ectomycorrhizal fungi could rescue halted root growth and also help with successful acclimatization and outplanting. Of a random sample of 12 fungi derived from *P. pinea* ectomycorrhizas, at least six had consistently the same effect. Thus, our objectives are to ameliorate mass propagation of selected pine genotypes using ectomycorrhizal fungi for in vitro rooting, and to characterize biochemically the interactions between fungi and microshoots. Two hypotheses are being tested: 1) that the fungi promote rooting with diffusible mediators; 2) once these mediators are identified, that this action can be reproduced in axenic cultures. Results of the first year co-cultures, as well as anatomical and morphological characterization of the root systems derived from co-cultures and their comparison with axenic cultures will be presented.



Mycorrhiza-like structures in rooted microshoots of *Pinus pinea* L. Latest developments of a new insight.

Mário Rui Castro¹*, Carla Ragonezi¹, Krystyna Klimaszewska², Mónica Lima¹, Paulo de Oliveira¹, Maria Amely Zavattieri¹

 Laboratory of Plant Breeding and Biotechnology, ICAM, University of Évora; Apart. 94; 7002-554 Évora, Portugal. (**E-mail: marinho_dorito@yahoo.com*)
 Natural Resources Canada; Canadian Forest Service, Laurentian Forestry Centre, 1055 du P.E.P.S. PO Box 10380, Québec, G1V 4C7, Canada

Pinus pinea L. (stone pine) is one of the major plantation species in Iberian Peninsula, being Portugal the largest edible seed producer in the world. The induction and improvement of in vitro rhizogenesis of microshoots of Pinus pinea was developed in our laboratory using a co-culture system with ECM fungi. In the acclimation phase in mixed substrates, or in rhizotrons, anatomical and morphological studies were done to observe the evolution of the root system in microshoots from the co-culture system vs. control plants. Surprisingly, extensive dichotomous and coralloid branching of lateral roots was seen to occur spontaneously in inoculated, as well in control and, moreover, similar branching occurred in liquid culture of excised seedling roots without the presence of ECM fungi, both with, and without hormone induction. The striking similarity of these organs with pine ectomycorrhizas prompted their anatomical analysis since dichotomous branching of short lateral roots and the formation of coralloid organs are diagnostic of ectomycorrhizas. This fact was observed before in other pines and proves the long co-evolution of these two kingdoms for millions of years. Therefore, natural structures may be erroneously assumed as plant-fungi associations. Plant and fungal symbiont where cultured in double-layer WPM medium with half the macronutrients and 1% of sucrose. Using rhizotrons and histological cuts it was possible to identify between natural (or chemical induced) and fungal-induced structures. Observations were made every month and showed the formation of small mycelia in several inoculated clones and appearing of Micorrhyzae-like structures, both dichotomous and coralloid in symbiotic and control plants. Further analysis showed anatomical differences between the fungal induced and control plants formations. Root samples were taken to perform the histological sections, both fresh hand-sectioned or fixed. After histological cutting, other anatomical differences were found, at a much smaller scale, both internal and external. However, the presence of Hartig net was not confirmed. These results suggested that the development of ECM-like structures might have occurred spontaneously. This new approach pursues the understanding of the physiological mechanisms related with the production of these interesting structures, as a survival mechanism for pine trees and as a launching pad for fungi colonization of the root systems.

5th INTERNATIONAL SYMPOSIUM ON ADVENTITIOUS ROOT FORMATION: From cell fate flexibility to root meristem

determination and biomass formation June 16th - 20th, 2008. Alcalá de Henares, Madrid. Spain. Pg. 141.

P-14

Achieving in vitro rooting in recalcitrant pine

Ragonezi, C.; Castro, M.R.; Zavattieri1, M.A.; Lima, M.

Laboratory of Plant Breeding and Biotechnology, ICAM, University of Évora; Ap. 94; 7002-554 Évora Codex. (e-mail: cazi04@hotmail.com)

Stone pine (Pinus pinea L.) is one of the most characteristic species in the Mediterranean basin, being Portugal one of the main world producers. Its economic importance is based on its edible seeds. Stone pine planting stocks are largely derived from seeds collected from natural stands, and the conventional method of propagation is by planting nursery-grown seedlings. However, with this propagation procedure, the quality of the resulting material is unknown. Modern techniques for clonal propagation include grafting and cuttings of desirable genotypes. Such methods are labour-intensive, and therefore not ideal for large-scale multiplication of elite trees. Due to the tremendous importance of developing a reproducible tissue culture method for clonal propagation, an intensive study has been carried out in our group for over a decade to overcome the recalcitrance of this species to root in vitro. During this period of time, slow but continuous increments of the rooting percentage of this species was achieved. Studies were carried out introducing variations in media composition. Auxins and carbohydrates were tested at different concentrations, light, and temperature were used at different levels and many other different compounds (coumarine; salicylic acid, polyamines, etc) were also tested, for both the induction and expression phases of the rhizogenic process. Changes in the methods of applying auxins were also studied (quick-deep vs. pulse treatment). Before 2008, the highest rooting percentage obtained was 41,37% (Zavattieri et al., 2007). As a result of successive observations that most of the clones rooted approximately ten days after their transference to the expression medium (response to hormone treatment), but others took approximately one month, a new experiment was conducted to evaluate the effect of media dilution in promoting root induction and development. The only change introduced in the above protocol consisted in a reduction of macronutrients in the basal media. This simple modification of the previous established protocol significantly increased the total rooting percentage in all clones tested. The rooting percentages per clone ranged from 34% to 90%. Thus, in 140 microshoots of Pinus pinea, 88 rooted, giving an overall percentage of 62,85% which represents an increase of 20% comparatively with media with full strength macronutrients.

Key words: Pinus pinea, Stone pine, rhizogenesis, adventitious root formation.

Zavattieri et al., 2007 Acta of the 3rd International Symposium on Acclimatization and Establishment of Micropropagated Plants; aemp 2007

NCBI Sequences

<u>Ragonezi,</u> C, Klimaszewska K, Santos-Silva C, Martins MR, Caldeira AT, Zavattieri A 2011 *Pisolithus* sp. P1001 18S ribosomal RNA gene, partial sequence, internal transcribed spacer 1, 5.8S ribosomal RNA gene, and internal transcribed spacer 2, complete sequence, and 28S ribosomal RNA gene, partial sequence. GenBank: HQ896485.1 National Center for Biotechnology Information, GENBANK, USA

Pisolithus sp. P1001 18S ribosomal RNA gene, partial sequence; internal transcribed spacer 1, 5.8S ribosomal RNA gene, and internal transcribed spacer 2, complete sequence; and 28S ribosomal RNA gene, partial sequence

GenBank: HQ896485.1

LOCUS HQ896485 645 bp DNA linear PLN 25-JUL-2011

ACCESSION HQ896485

VERSION HQ896485.1 GI:340561862

ORGANISM Pisolithus sp. P1001

Eukaryota; Fungi; Dikarya; Basidiomycota; Agaricomycotina; Agaricomycetes; Agaricomycetidae; Boletales; Sclerodermatineae; Pisolithaceae; Pisolithus.

AUTHORS Ragonezi,C., Klimaszewska,K., Santos-Silva,C., Martins,M.R., Caldeira,A.T. and Zavattieri,A.

TITLE Direct Submission

JOURNAL Submitted (10-JAN-2011) Chemistry Department, University of Evora, Rua Romao Ramalho, 59, Evora 7000 671, Portugal

ORIGIN

1 cgtaacaagg tttccgtagg tgaacctgcg gaaggatcat tagcgaaact cgaaaggtgc

- 61 ggagggggga cctttgccgg tccttcgaag ccctttttac tttgtccaca cctctgtgca
- 121 cccccgttcg cgcgaggttc ttcggaaccc tgtgcgatgc ttatctcgaa ctcgtatgtc
- 181 tacagaatgt aacctagtgt gttggaaatg gaaatacaac tttcagcaac ggatctcttg
- 241 gctctcgcat cgatgaagga cgcagcgaat cgcgataagt aatgtgaatt gcagattttc
- 301 cgtgaatcat cgaatctttg aacgcacctt gcgctccttg gtattccgag gagcatgcct
- 361 gtttgagtgt cattgaaaat ctcaagccga gctgttttga ctttggttga aaaagcccgg
- 421 attttggagt gttgggaggt ctgcaggcag tcctgatctt ttgggactgc cagctctcct
- 481 gaaatgcatt agtgggatgg gcgtgtgacc agcctcttcg acgtcgtaat gcgatcgtcg
- 541 tggactgtga gctttttccc ccccttgact ttgctattgt gtgaaggctt gacctcaaat
- 601 caggtaggac tacccgctga acttaagcat atcaataagc ggagg

<u>Ragonezi</u> C, Caldeira AT, Martins MR, Santos-Silva C, Klimaszewska K, Louro R, Ganhao E, Zavattieri A 2012 *Lactarius deliciosus* isolate UEZB1 internal transcribed spacer 1, partial sequence, 5.8S ribosomal RNA gene and internal transcribed spacer 2, complete sequence, and 28S ribosomal RNA gene, partial sequence. GenBank: JQ066791.1 National Center for Biotechnology Information, GENBANK, USA

Lactarius deliciosus isolate UEZB1 internal transcribed spacer 1, partial sequence; 5.8S ribosomal RNA gene and internal transcribed spacer 2, complete sequence; and 28S ribosomal RNA gene, partial sequence

GenBank: JQ066791.1

LOCUS JQ066791 439 bp DNA linear PLN 20-MAR-2012

ACCESSION JQ066791

VERSION JQ066791.1 GI:380467948

ORGANISM Lactarius deliciosus

Eukaryota; Fungi; Dikarya; Basidiomycota; Agaricomycotina;

Agaricomycetes; Russulales; Russulaceae; Lactarius.

AUTHORS Ragonezi, C., Caldeira, A.T., Martins, M.R., Santos-Silva, C.,

Klimaszewska, K., Louro, R., Ganhao, E. and Zavattieri, A.

TITLE Direct Submission

JOURNAL Submitted (23-NOV-2011) Chemistry Department, University of Evora, Rua Romao Ramalho, 59, Evora 7000 671, Portugal

ORIGIN

1 acgcgcaatc aatacaactt tcaacaacgg atctcttggc tctcgcatcg atgaagaacg

- 61 cagcgaaatg cgatacgtaa tgtgaattgc agaattcagt gaatcatcga atctttgaac
- 121 gcaccttgcg ccccttggta ttccgagggg cacacccgtt tgagtgtcgt gaaattctca
- 181 accttctcgg ttttcttctg gacaccgaag gaggcttgga cattggaggc ctttgctggc
- 241 gtctcttaga cccagctcct cttaaatgaa ttagcggggt cctctttgcc gatccttgac
- 301 atgtgataag atgtttccat gacttggttt ctggctctgt tgcatttggg acccgcttct
- 361 aaccgtctcg acgagacaac gtttgggcgt gtctcccttc tcgggagact ctctcaaccc

421 ccacgaaccc ttgacctca